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Mace’ Limited

Strateglc report
" Year ended 31 December 2022

The Mace Group is an interpational developmen: consullancy, conslruction, and facifiiies management Company founded on
exceptional people, a commltment to seivice excellence and an entrepreneunal spirit. The Mace Gruup comprrses Mace Limited
and ils subsidiaries.

Overview headlines .
The Mace Group has reported profit before taxation of £50.9m (2 5% decrease on 2021). Revenues at The Mace Group were
£1.936bn (2021: £1 933hn)

Alongsnde tmprovements in produclwny and cost efficiency across the - Mace Group, there was significant growth in lhe .
’ consurtancy business’ revenues in 2022 ’

Key hlghhghts and tha resulls of Mace Limited ("the Company }) and its subsidiaries {"lhe Group") are:

« - Group revenue of £1.936bn (2021, £1.933bn),

. Profit before taxation of £60.9m (2021: £53.8m).

» Consultancy revenue incressed by 36% to £500m (2021: E366m).

. By the end of 2022, employee headcount of lhe Mace Group had mcreased to 6, 71 0 (2021 6, 054) This increase also
supported Consult's growlh in revenue.

. International activities cantributed £516m (2021 £485m) to Group revenue

. Canstruction contributed £1 4bn (71%) of.revenue (2021: £1.5bn (76%)). .

. £214m (2021: £382m) of construclion work was undertaken by third parties on schemes whare Mace |s employed
under a construction management gonlract. Mace has no contractuzl arrangement with the supply chain on these
schemes and.the value of these warks is notincluded in Groyp revenue:

. Net cash posilicn of £115m (2021: £122m). The net cash position is calculaled as gross tash (excludmg restricted
cash) less overdrafis and bank loans.

. Cash balances nét of overdrafis totaltled £144m at the 'year-end (2021 £125m)

. Expenditure on research and development amounted.to £57m (2021: E48m).

. 77% of the Group's budgeted 2023 revenues were secuied by the end of 2022,

. The Mace Group made donations to the Mace Foundation of £¢.44m {2021: £0.28m). The Mace Foundahon is a UK
reg|stered charity (chartily number 1160134) and is a separale Iegal entity to the Mace Group.

+ N¢ danations-were mada ia poiitical pariles (2021: £ni)). K .

«  The overall tax charge for 2022 was £16.0m (2021: £11.0m), which was an effective lax rate o 31% (2021 21 %) of
profit on ordinary activities.

»  Atthe end of the year; the average time taken for Mace Limited to pay invoices was 28 days (2021: 29 days) 95% of
invoices, including those in dispute, were paid within 60 days (2021: 94%.). -

2022was the second yearin lhe delivery of the Group's 2026 Qusiness Siralegy, which set out Mace's purpose — ‘lo redefing the
boundaries of ambition' — and three strategic priorities: grow together, pursue a sustainable world, and deliver distinctive value.




_ Mace Limited

Strategic report [continued)
Year erided 31 December 2022

Key-' Performance Indlcah.)rs

The Group has estabhshed targets for the 2026 Strategy 2022 is the second year in wmch performance has been measured
against these targats.

Pursue a sustainable world : " 2026 Target .- Tmez2 | 2021
< ) 10% annually | _ 7% ‘ 11.6%

Corparate carban reduction 7379 tonnes GOze | -+ 11,429 tonnes COe [ 12,276 tonnes COge

Client carbon reduclio.n 10 million tonnes COse 1,135,467 tonnes COze 655,416 tonnes COz8

(Secured Pipeline of Savings) 2 PR i ! "

Biodiversity gain . ’ 500 hectares . 54,3 heclares T . 14 hectares

Despite increased emissions _associaled with business trave!, fuel use on construction sites and increased electricity
consumption, the Group has achieved a 7% reduction in carbon emissions coempared 1¢ 2021. This corresponds to a total
reduction of 57% compared to 2019. Measures to reduce business lravel emissions and increase the use of low emissions fuels
an gonstruclion sites will be required ta further reduce emisslons.

Carbon targets will be reviewed lo align with the Science Based Targeis Initiative Guidance: for Building when it is released in
‘mid-2023. .

n 2022, the' Group entified a secured pspellhe of client carbon savings from across its global projects and programmes of more R
than 1 million tonnes. As a result, the 2026 Strategy targel has been increased from 1 million te 10 mlllmn tonnes, and the Group
has moved I’rorn tracking actual savings, to now reporting the metric of p|pellna savmgs :

Biadiversity Gain i§ presented as cumulative measure: 14 hectares were achieved in 2021 and 40.3 hectares were achieved in
2022, The Group is on track Lo achieve the Biodiversily Gain target for 2026. Since 2021, lhe Group has parinered with UK
Wildiife Trusls to provide langer term biodiversity support through funding and volunteering. Through this, the Group has secured
a pipeline of circa 190 heclares Additional Bmdrversily Gain prolec!s and employee volunteering have further supported progress
towards this targei,

Grow together - o 2026 Target 2022 | T 202

Accident frequency rate : : . - ‘
{Par 100,000 Hours Worked)} 0.04 - . 0'.0? . 0.06

277% ' "31.2%

Reduce gender pay gap . ‘O%Va“““a"y (6 .Apa! 2021 to 5 Apnl 2022) | (8 April 2020 fo 5 April 2021)
B ’ . : o . .
Reduce ethnicity pay gap 10% annually -25.3% 24.2%

© (5 Apiit 2021 o 5 Apii2022) | (6 April 2020 to 5 April 2021)

In 2022 the Mace Group RIDDOR repartable accident frequency rate improved significantly to 0.03 (2021: 0.06). The reduclmn
in injury rates emanated from a combination of factors as our recorded audits and inspeclions continue to improve. There were .
8 reportable Incidents (2021: 25). Lost time to injurles per 100,000 hours worked also significantly reduced o 0.12 (2021: 0.20).

The Mace Group Continues to seek cantinuous Improvement in lis health and safety controls and practice. -

The Mace Grot.ip Gender Pay Gab statistics were affecled by several factors — including the proportion of women relative ta men -
" who are promoted or tecruited, internal restructuring {employees moving between the Mace Group entities) and pay reviews
through which salaries have been increased to reduce any pay gap. ’

Through Macde Emerging Ta!ent Recrultmenl pollcles the Mace Group seeks to gnsure diverse representahon in development
pragrammes: Devealoping Success, Developing our Fulure and Talent Patfiways. The Mace Group reviews thé plpefing of ethnic -
minorily senfor managers and above for succession plans. The Mace Group Is also signed up to the Race al Work Charder, wh]ch
makes the Mace Group accountable for its prog ress.

uy




Mace Limited

Strategic report (conti.nued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

Grow together : " 2026 Target |. 2022 T zon
Employee engagement score ' ’ ‘85% B4% " BE%
Value to saciely (Annual) . " . E700m .- - £682.4m . " £535.8m

Despite a.slight reduction in employee engagement score fram 86% {2021) to 84% (2022) the score remains high. The slight'
decline was caused by economic circumstances. Actions have focused on unprovements in the work enwronment to enhance
wellbeing and engagement. .

The Mace Group evaluates ils impact on local communities using an indépendént 'Value2Saciety’ calculation which takes into

account a wide range of sacio-economic factors including how Mace affects natural, social, inteilectual, manufactured, human -
and financial structures in socle!y In this way, the Mace Group is able 10 quantify the social value generated by ils work and then-
demonsirate the tangible benefits that are created for the environment and local cemmunities. The directors engage the

organisation Route2 1o measure Value to Society (using a Tolal Capital Impact caleutation). The Mace Group contnhuhon to

socnety was quaniified as £682.4m in 2022, an increase of 27.4% on £535.8m in 2021,

Deliver Dislinc.tive Value ‘ . ZIOZSATar.gel ) . i 2022 i 2621
. i

ook w0 el e~
Client sa‘tisfaction';c_ore _ ' . ) 85?’4 56% I 88%
g::::;inind devempm ent . -3.5% of revenue : 3.0% 2.5%

) "“Goud days at work” is a measure of responses lo questions on a five-peint Likert scala The-questions cover percepllons of
expenencmg positive emotions, feeling coninected, achtevmg tasks, and perfarming meamngrul worik.

Mace undenakes customer saljslacnon surveys with clienls. Quesllons are demgned te elicit honest and open feedback The
client pravides a scored response to €ach queslian between 0 and 5. A percentage score is calculated for each cluster of
questions and for the survey overall. This is the Client satisfaction score. 16 standard questions are asked, with additional
qusstions depending on the service being provided. The standard questions relate lo overall semvice provided; time taken, cost
to clientivalue for money, people interaction, communication, customer focus, reporting and overall performance. Depending on
the service provided, additionaf questions are also asked about construction derwery, cosi consutlancy. facﬂ‘lt:es management,
programme, and project management. . -

Despite a slighi redu>clion in'Client Salisfaction Score from 88% (2021) to 86% (2022), the score femains high. The Group is on
track to achieve its target for 2025,
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Strategic report (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022.

For the third year in a row, the Mace Group was carbon neulral, reducing its emissions by 7% and offselling 11, 430 tonnes with )
gold standard offsels. Four years ahead of target, the Group |denh!|ed mere than a million lonnes of caibon io save on behalf of
its clients. :

Supporting the delivery of distinctive valye, the Groupt announced tha lainch of the Innovation Fund — a fund designed lo support
new ideas and approaches within the Group; allawing colleagues across the business to benefit personaily from the innovations
they suggest.

investment in new lect_mdlogy enabled us la drive prudui:tivity improvemnents, create new service offerings for clients and enable
safer working — including at Haathrow Airport where we are testing the next generation of construction delivery threugh robotics.

The: Mace Gioup continuea to snvast in its most important asset: its people. As the Group grew together with colleagues across
the globe, the number of graduates and apprentices il employed increased In 2022,

The Mace Group also achieved its best-ever heallh and safety performance on record, reporling a 0.03 AFR; helping to meet the -
goal that everyone who works for Mace o7 in one of our workplaces can go home safe and well, every day.

Reflecting the Mace Group commilment to being a responsible business, in 2022, the Mace Group was one of the first built
environment businesses in the UK to be offered ESG-finked finance facilities. in January 2022, £60m was secured in liquidity
financing facilities; linked to measures around carbon, renewable energy and health and safety.

The progress made in the year regardirtg the target KPIs is explored in more detail in the business réview below.

Business Review

Mace Limited’'s consolidated pruht before lax on ordmary aclivities in 2022 was £50.9m (2021: £53.8m). Since it was founded in
1990, the Group-has made 2 profil in every year, 2022 being the 32nd consecuiwe year of maklng a prafit, Group revenue was
£1,94bn (2021: £1.93bn}.

The Group comprises, four operating divisions, called Engines for Growth. These are: Develop, Consult, Construct and Operate.
These'uperatlng divisions are supported by Group Services, which provides Corporate Governance, Risk and Assurance, Legal
& Commercial Services, Finance, (nformation Technology, Marketing & Commumcatuone Procurement and Human Resource
expertise.

Develop
The Develop business manages and delivers regeneration and development projects. During the year, aclive development

management projects and pipeline were transferred from the Develop engine to Consult to ensure greater alignment of the nature
of services being provided by the engines. Several schemes have been delivered over the past tan years, the more significant
anes that conlinued through 2022 were as follows: .

Botley/Oxford: Mace holds a 50% .V interest in this mixed-use development project in West Oxford, The development comprises
two phases. Phase 1 reached Practical Completion in 2020 and is now opeérational. This phase comprises 261 student rooms,
‘20 build to rent (8TR') apartments, a 123-bed hotel let lo Premier Inn and 15 commercial retail unils. Phase 1 alse deliverad a
new Jocal community facility that includes a library. Whilst the JV continuves to hold and operate this assel, the intenlion is to sell
Phase 1 assels as a corporate sdle in the next 12-18 months. Phase 2 will comprise 150 residential BTR apartments and 7
commercial retail units. In. September 2022, this phase was forward funded wilh Grainger, whlch enabled development of this
site to commence in Movember 2022.° i

The Botley development is financed by £69m of external development debt, which Is non-recourse to the Mace Group, and an
£82 9m (2021: £85.8m) shareholder loan from Mace. At the year and, following the partial effers received and a RICS "red baok”

valuation of the development project, to reflect the devatuation of the asset over the course of 2022, the directors provided a | ’

further £13m (2021: £10m provision) against the shareholder loan and agcrued interest.  This is accounted for an exceptional
item in lhe year.

- 8G1: $G1 is a development agreement between the Develop busmess and Slevenage Borough Gouncil for the regeneratlon of
the town centre.- Outline planning was secured in 2020 on the enlize scheme which willhave a £500 million GDV, providing 1,860
new homes, shops, restauranis, a health centre, library, primary ‘schodl, spert, leisure, and cultural facilities. The development
will be progressed in phases, with Phase 1 achieving detailed planning consenl in 2020. At the end_of 2022, no external debt was
raised or secured on this developmant. After receiving. full planaing approval in May 2023, the mlentlon is to .commence
deveiopment towards the end of 2023.

Greenwich Square: During 2022 lhis development sold its rematnlng residential units. In total, Greenwich Square delwered 686
new residential homes, new communily bulldings and retailfeisure amenities over two phases. Phase 1 completed in 2016 and
Phase 2 compieted tn 2020 Phase 2 comprised 325 residential units, of which 239 were private apartments and 86 were '
affordable homes which have been sold to 1 £Q.
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Consult - i ]

Mace Consull's {"Consult’) pnmary sefvices :nclude project, programime, and conslruction management, programme
managsment office (PMO) services, ptanning, cost consultancy and commercial management and a range of business advisory
and transformation services, covenng slralegy, sustainability, net zero carbon solutions and digital activitfes. Our approach draws
on delivery-focused Gonsultancy services, hands-on experience, and a global track record across the public and private seclor.

2022 was another strong year for the Consylt business, There has been significant and sustamed growlh over past three years.
n 2022, Consult generated revenues of £500m. This represented a 36% increase year-on-year, with 42% of Consult’s incore
coming from oulside the UK. In 2022, Consult generated profit before tax and pefore recharges of £56,98M (2021 £54.15m).

" Rising global infrastructure investrment; major programmé appointments and movement into new sectars (such as hospitality and
resorts) drove success in the Ameticas, the Middle East, and Asia Pacific. There were strong eammgs thraugh sigmrcant
pmgramme wins in Saudi Arabia, Canada, Latin America and in Asia Pacilic msrkets -

As Consult project work has grown, there was a 27% increase in headcount during ihe year. Consull's globai workfarce compnsed
4,434 paople at the end of 2022 (2021: 3,486). The Mace Group remain committed ta investing in talenl globally and the business
has continued to inves! in slrategic hires to suppont sustainable growth and enhance client service offerings:

Projecled growth in 2023 and the pipeline of work remain strong.

In the UK, Consuli is conlinuing to build on its track record in the UK defence sector, providing critical management sarvices to
shape some of the country’s mast impaortant defence projects and proegrammes. Paragon, a icint eperation led by Mace and
Tumer 8 Townsend, secured a threg-year contract extension on existing work as the Commercial Delivery Partner for the Mmslry
. of Defence's Defence Equipment & Support (DE&S) arganisation.

Consult led a construction team that is working lo complate the mnovatwe HMP Five Wells prison in callabaration with the Mnmslry
of Justice [Mod). The ModJ's investment will create 18,000 new prison places across England, including new buildings, Bxpansions,

. and refurbishments. Using a Design for Manufacturing and Assembly {OfMA) approach, Mace adopted offsite manufacturing on
the project. The digital standards set for the pragrammes are considered o be internatianally ground-breaking, putting the UK
and MeJ at the forefront of modern Construction project delivery. .

1a yeérs since the Landon 2012 Glympics at the Queen Elizabeth OlympicPark, working in partnership with cifents and parnners

lo recognise the iegacy transformation and impact thal has shaped people and business, Consull also saw the completion of the.
landmark Commonwealth Games and extended commissions op goevernment frameworks including with the Dapanmenl of Waork

and Pensions. .

Consult secured 2 five-year contract to deliver commercial services on two of National Highways’ majar pro]ecls through its

Complex Infrastruclure Programme (CIP), Acting as agile partners for National Highways, the overriding objective is lo create

better autcomes for clients and the wide range of stakeholders involved and affeclad by these sighificant projects.

Consult’s CEO continued to play an acuve role in prornotlng the UK’s canslruction and infrastructuré delivery capabnmy ﬂrnngslde
government and indusiry peers. He promoted opportunites to capilalise on the UK's world-teading infrastructure delivery record
to increase exposls and improve the way in which infeastructure is commnssnuned and built within lhe UK to improve connectivity
and bowost economic growth. .

Consult has continued to bulld its global capability and tmpmve its dlvers:ﬁcat:an and resilience in hne with its 2026 stralegy by
broadening ils geographical foolprint.outside of the UK. -

Consult naw operales through tour gicbal hubs — Americas, Middle East and Africa, Asia Pacific, and Europe. [t works In seclors
ranging. from health and fife sclences lo transport Infrastructure (including rall, highways, and aviation), energy and utililies,
defence, corporate veal estate, integrated resonts, sports and regeneration.

in Savdi Arabla, Coensult Is working directy with the government and with guasi-government bodigs lo help create the cities of
the future, helping to lead the way o a more connected, resilient, and sustainable world. The Consult offering resonates strangly
". with clients in this region who are familiar with construction management delivery models and value the Group's sirong emphasis
on delivery. . .

Consult has been operating successfully across the Middie East-and within Saudi Arabia itself for more than 20 years Il"\rougn
commissions acrass the property and infrastructure sectors that are multi-year, multi-disciplinary, complex and delivery focused.

Tn 2022, working with partners Comtech and SYSTRA, Consuit was awarded the Program Delivery Partner conlract for the largest
transit infrastructure program in Canadian history: Metrolinx's GO Expansion progsam. This 10-year rall infrastruclure programmsg
is the largest and most ambiticus investment in Metrolink’s history and wifl significantly expand the GO Transit rail service. This
complex program of warks includes new stations, the electrification of existing lines, the installation of new raii knes, upgrading
of existing stations, new signalling, and more, The Pragram Delivery medel brings skilled external partners into the Metrolinx
team, to collaborate in managingihe inlegralioh and defivery of all the major projects that make up the program. With a long-term
visiofi of providing two-way, ali-day service, every 15 mmutes ar Eess an ¢ore segments ofits rail metwark, Metmﬁnx will i Amprove

. gonnections belween communlhes

Alse in the Americas, Consult was appointed by Allanza Lima te deliver a new Infrastructure improvement Plan for Alianza Uima.
ane of Peru's most Important football clubs, and to deliver posilive social outcomes for communities acrass the region.
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Cnnsull formed a pantnership wnlh the leadlng Southeast Asian project management pravider Tenman Tpm in August 2021 and
are seeing rapidly-expanding foolprint In regions such as the Philippines, drawing on Mace's global hest practice and Tenman
Tpm's Assaciation of Sdutheast Asian Nations (ASEAN) markets expertise. Leading telecom provider, ePDLT, awaided Mace a
cantract to support the delivery of the first and largest hyperscaler in the couniry, ePDLY, a fully awned subsididry of PLDT, is
the nation's largest ICT service provider and will build its 11th operational data centre by 2023. .

: Consu[l won four awdrds at the Pro;ecl Control Expo Awards 2022 recognlsmg the business focus on driving best praclsce Bcross:
ils programmes: UK Projoct Contrals Social Impact of the Year- The. Resalind Franklin's Labbraiory; Global Project Controls

* Transformation Project of the Year - ARCC Government to Government Recanstruclion with Changes; Global Project Contrals -

Megaprojecl of the Year — East Bank Project in London's Queen Elizabeth Olympls Park; and Global Project Contrals innovation

. ofthe Year - Melbourne Metro Tunnal - RSA Command Centre. .

Consult's focus tor 2023 is fo grow across alt the geugraphmal hubs by leveraging globai besl practice, adepting a holistic, global
market-driven approach covering = broad range of seclors and centinuing to invest in building and nururing high performmg
leams {o drive exceptional oulcomes for clients, colleagues and the communities in which the business works .

Construct

Construct provides a range of services, including fixed-price contracting, construction management fit-out and speciafist services. -
In 2022, Construct remained focused on driving stable, sustained and profilable growth by working with long-term clients in &
range of markets, sectyrs, and geographles. Economic issues delayed some project stars, and reduced revenues. Marglns
remained consistent. In 2022, Canstruct generated prot'l before Lax and before recharges of £81.95m (2021: £74, 76m)

The Construct Englne is divided into six core business unils: Major Projests, Offices, lntenors Public Sector & Llfe Sciences,
Technology & Manufacturing, and Aviation. Alongside lhis, it operates lwo specialist funclions, Mace MEP and Mace Logistics: It

- operzles primarily in London but has a growing presence in Oxford and Cambridge, as well as a presence in Ireland . and in the
Netherands. . . .

Construct geﬁerated revenues of £1 _aabr{ in 2022 (2021: £1.47bn), which was 71% (2021: 76%) of the Graup's turnover, Revenue
included fee income from several major Construction Management projects, includirig Phase 2 of the Batlersea Power Station-
Redevelopment, AstraZeneca's global headquarters in Cambridge, Shard Place and The Forge.

The most significant milestone in 2022 was the Practical Cémpletion of Phase’2 of lha-Batlersea Power Station Redevelopment,
This is one of the largest and mosl.complex projecis Mace have ever completed. Over a five-year period, Construct transformed
the Grade f1* Listed power station, which had been decummlss:oned 40 years ago, restoring it to the highest medern standards

A$ companies looked lo attract staff back Into its ofﬂces the Ofr ices division grew in 2022, 1t compleled several major office
developments In the ye.»ar including Warwick Court, the JJ Mack Building (Charterhouse Street), 78 St James Street and 50
Finsbury Square.

The Avialion business worked on several major infrastructure J}nprovemnl projects at Healhrbw including the Cargo Tunnel.
The Mace Group also suecessiully secured a place in three major Iols on Heathrnws H7 Framework, which wiil maintain the
pipeline of wark in this sector over at least the next five years. . :

The Technology & Manul'ac[urmg business continued to progress several major data centres with a number of high:profile
'lechnomgy companies, building data cenlres in Irefand and the Nelherrands Il also expanded the reach of this business unit by
wmnmg its first praject in lhe semicondu::tor market,

The Life Sciences and Publlc Sector business went from strength to strength in 2022, Mace Censtruct continued to work closely .
with AstraZeneca al their Headquarters in Cambridge, completing the 'AZ Travel Hub' and progressing the ‘Amenities Hub' at
their Macclesfield campus. Mace Construct successfully bid and wan wark with BioMed Reality in Cambridge, L&G Begbroke
Scieni Park in Oxford, and Precis Advisory at Belgrove House in Kings Cross. Mace Conslruct made significant progress at the

-UCL East campus in Stratford and the Natlonal Satelllte Testing Facility at Harwell,’ Oxfordshira i

Mace Interiors grew in 2022, taking on ambitious ﬁ| aut projects for blue-chip clients acrbss the financial, fegal and insurance
markels, as well as expandlng into the laboratory fit-out sector. It alsc won s blggesl fit- ou't lob at Peterbnrough Court in more
than 10 years.

: Mace Construct remélned number one conlractar In Londcn {by revenue) in the indusicy league la‘btes Mace rose io number
" three In the UK in the Glenigan Contractor League Table for the year. Mace won Contractor of the Year (E500m+ Award) at the
2022 Canstruction Naws Awards. .
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Ogerate

The Operate dl\llslons core business offering is faciilies management, overseeing as either a managing agent o principal

contracior a wide range of premises on behalf of clients, inciuding commercial offices, industrial units, warehousing, research

facilities, government buildings, cultural landmarks, sehools and other education facililies. In support of this, along with delivering
operational support services the division provides stralegic consullancy services to help clients adjust and ‘improve their -
workplaces and ta make lheir premises more sustainabls. .

‘Operate woarks for blue-chip clients in sectars including financial ‘services, oil and gas, education, retail, gharmaceutical,
professional services, and manufac:unng As mast client frameworks are global, Operate's revenues are nat concenlrated within -
any one jurisdiction,

Ouring 2022 the revenue of the facﬁmes managemen business was £90m mdudmg cosis rechargad lo clients {2021: £110my)
with headcount decreasing to 601 (2021: 830). This reduction in rlvenue and headcount reﬂecls the |mpacl of COVID-19 and -
the slow return to full office occupancy

" War in Ukraine
The war in Ukiaine ‘and glubai manufactuung issues resmcted ihe supply of a numbel of key construction rnaterlats in 2022.
There were also significant increases in energy costs. .
To mitigate the risk of material shortages de1ay:ng project delivery, the Group has strengthened Ihe close monitoring sysiem it
developed through COVID-19 to allow qmck and prosctive respenses 1o malerial or product avallabmly, or supply chain solvency'
issues,

" Cash position and financing
The Graup cash position at the end of December 2022, net of overdraft was £144m (2021 £125m).

10-
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Sharehoiders' funds
Shareholders' funds increased from EG1.6m to £84.0m as the result ol’:'
*  £35.0m from profit afler tax for the year:
+  (£1B.7rn) from dividends paid in the year;
» £5.2m of currency transialion differences; and
»  af£1.0m gain'on a post-employment benefit scheme, -

Rlsks and Uncenrtainties

Mace's strateay is designed 1o reduce risk and build a susizinable and profitable business with reliable income slreams and

increasing margins. Details of the financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group, ‘together with its exposure to

material financial risks, are sel out in note 3 to the financial stalements. The Board, assessing the probabliity that risks will occur,
- and the likely impacts of those risks has delermined that the principal business disks, in no particular order, are those set aut in

the table below.

Principal risk | Potential business impact [ Mitigation

1, Major project delivery failure

Not meeling the contraclval, legel or client | Significanl financial losses including | Eerly Idenificalion of lUssues and proactive
expectations aboul the Himing, cos!, quality. or | breach of contract claims and liquidated | management to resolve. Focus on selective
safety requiremenis of a project eilher because | damages from the diient and legal | bidding' achieving realisic programmes and
of adverse bidding and - contractual | elaims from the supply chain. Loss of | margins, mabilisalion, design contral, commercial
arrangements, or nel conlrolling 1he project or | markel seputalion leading lo losing new | lerms and contract mansgement, supply chain
development efeclively. During the past two | and recurring ofients. Diversion of | management, quality of delivery and service
years, this risk has been exacerbated by the. | rescurces {cash and peaple) o dealing | excellence and sharing of besl practice
impact of Ihe War in Ukiaing, COVID-19 and | with legal proceedings rather thar [ (knowledge management Including lessons

Brexit on 1he Group's operations, The viabillty | building business. - learnt). Since 2020, a Service Excellence and
of the supply chain and the supply, availability : Quality process has been embedded for all
and cost of materials are mallers which are projects based on gateway reviews, lo ideniify
being managed in delail. | Cost Inflalion has made sonie Devélop | issues for resolution al the eariest possible

.| and Construcl schemes challenging, | juncture. Efective engagement with dienls andfor
and _ uncentalnty has made growih | employers has been essential o ensure lhe
.challenging for Operate which is sllll business conlinues to miligate the tmpact of
affected by COVID-19. delays lo lhe.delivery of prajects aid cosl
) averuns due o effects frarm Brexil, COVID-19
Defays are being expearienced in the | and lhewar in Ukraine.

time li takes for projects to go from Inllal
contract  (pre-conslruclion  service | Risk management of the threalts on lhe Gmups
agreement) award through lo starling on | cperations is actively belig taken by the Group,

e sita. The uncertaln post Brexit and posl Ingluding the Ihreals of.
COVID-19 economic environmenl also
heightens the fsks of delays In signing | - Shartage of skitled |abour through supply
up new wark. * chain pariners.
- Materal sharages and mlern.lpllons to
glebal supply chalns,

- Higher.inflallon on siaff costs and supply
chain where raw material and energy
prices have increased.

The business conlinued o operale risk

_ managemenl strategies during 2022 to limit
adverss impacts experenced in the UK and
elsewhere in the world, These risk management

straiepies will conlinue to be deplayed. .

2, Major supplier failure : .
The callapse of a supply chaln padner lhat has | Project disruplion, potenlial additional | Actively managing relationships wilh the supply
a significant role in the succassiul delivery of | costs Through delivery delays, - and | chaln, ensuring appropriate lsvels of due
ane ormare prolects. During the past twoyears | feputational damage, Cument inRiation | diigenca and checks to their fnancil strengih.
this fisk has been exacerbated by Ihe fmpacls | experienced fn 2022 and H1 2023 on | E7SUfing goad breadth of supply chain partners to

. contral volumes of work. Eanly identification of
of COVID-18, Brexil, and the War In Ukraine. | supply chain malerials will make the problems .and  rcbust l{riawledge and

The supply chain has additionally had to adapt irnpaci of lhls risk higher. . B understanding of conirae! position. Enhanced
to the adverse cash flow Impacls from e . supply chain analysis and more regylar intemal
implemeniation by UK HM Treasury in March . . teporting of concerns has been implemented

2021 of tha Revarse Charge regime for VAT. . stnce March 2021, due to COVID-19. The

- . ‘relevant processes conlinue lo be opérated to
enable Mace to identify and act upon potential
concarns with ils supply chain. -
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Principal risk

Potential business impact

| mitigation

3. Health and safety issues

The occurrence of major health and safely
Incidents, Inciuding fatalities, on projects.

\

Prolect disruplion, significant fines, and
reputationat damage. Potential custodial
sentences for senior employees. Impacl
on menlal healih of employees who
wilness incidents.”

_ High standards of health, safety znd wellbeing are
embedded in everylhing Mace does. il is a central
part of the Mace culiure. One of the Group's key
values is "Safely first —going home safe and well’.
Fostering @ culiure where health and safety
remains a priciity. Focus on health and salely
training, lhe role of superv_iSors, best praclice,
knowledge shaiing and working wilh suppliers to
embed Mace’s . The imp ion of
new proceduies to tackle evolving fsks an sile.
Mental healin training and support for employees.

4. Failure to win the right work

“Inahility to win work eilther by pegatialion or by
compelitive tender.

Reduced revenue and profil. Less work
generally couid [ead 1o poor staif
ulilisalion, redundancles andfor stalf
leaving. Feilure to secure good quality
work could lead o employee
demofivation as well as delivery lssues.

Long term business development planning.
Senior management review of bidding processes,
cost budgeting and prog to |
ensure Mace are realislically compelitive and that
Mace price complex projects and programmes for
the risk involved. Seeking lo move inlo new
seclors  andior  geographles ta  expand
oppoitunilies fo win new work. Investment in
Innovation and bulid upon malure relationships
and genuine partnerships with clients and
suppliers. ) )

5. Retention and attraction of employees

Significanl challenges In bolh attracling and
recruiting the right people and relaining people |
to deliver projects for clienis or to supporl
corporate aclivity.

Inabilily to deliver an promises 1o cents.
Loss of skills, experlise, or corporate
knewledge when employees leave.

Competitive salades and fair grading slruclures,
Incentivisation arrangements and open promotion
opportunities, together” with a first-class
development and learning programme  for
employees, Development of an employee value
propasition. Increased focus on gender, elhnicity,
I ), and wor o ity. Produclive
warklng arrangements are maintained on shes
that encaurage Inclusion and suppor the elfor 1o
| diversity of al employees. A very small
" proportion of colleaguas originate-from regions
atfecied by the war in Ukraine. Diversily risk in
relation 1o the labour force is discussed by the
Mace Executive Board al the Slarnt of the Week
maetings. Miligating aclions aiso taken through
the Risk and Audil Commitiee.

6. Market fluctuzations including the effe

cts of product, materials and energy

cost inflation :

Macroeconomic and industry .seclor changes

afiect ~confidence andior invesimen! jevels,

reducing the pipeline of available work and the

pausing or cancéllation of new or current

assignments. Furthermare, costinflation driven

by excess demand and shortages in the supply

of skilled labour, materisls and products,

foreign exchange fluctuations, and ‘additionally -
by the impact of the economic sanclions on

Russla.

Reduced revenue and profits. Possible

duciions In sialf h nt and other

- costs create challenges in the delivery of

.projects, The Impacts of _the war in

Ukraine have heighlenad Ihls risk as a

result of consiraints in supply chaln and
Inflafionary prassures. :

Divessification into nrew seclors, markels, and
.major pragrammes, together- with the ability 1o
adjust the workforce level and costs if revenue
decreases. Innovale to become 2 contracler of |
- cholce during a changing markel. New contracts
will reflect latest- supply chain inflatlon and
contracts going forward are likely to include
Inflation protection for lhe Company. Aclive
management of malerials and praduct logistics,

7. Cyber security incident or IT system'failhre pius data misuseitoss

foreign expasures and supply chains.

Major business disruplion caused by a cyber
security incident, IT lailure or breach of the data

Major impact on Lhe ability lo effeclively
work for days or even weeks. Disruption

Move away flom legacy systems to cioud
fechnology, ensuring appropriate patches and

protection/GDPR regime. to projects or clients. Signé fines or i are in place togethar with an efective’
failure o comply  with relevanl | cyber security and Mace-wide data prolection
legislation: regime. Securily screening for al employees and
enhanced checks for thase operaling In secure
clienl  environments.  Maintain 15027007
Information h ent accreditation.

8. Environmental damage

Major environmental damage as

& result of a
Mace project, . -

Signiicenl finandat penallies, combined
with reputalicnal damage, which could
affect the Group's abiity to win work In
the future.

Responsible business sirategy that includes best
practice environmental practices and moniloring.
The assurance of projecls 1o ensure they: are
meeiing Mace standards.

[
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9. Regulatory or statutory non-compliance

Action takén against the business for failing o
pul In place effective arrangements 1o milgale
the risk of bresches of legistalionlregutation
(e.g. Modam Slavery Acl, Brbery. Act, or-
retrospeclive changes to Ieglslallonlregl.dallons
€.4., Buitding Safaty).

Cuslodial  sentences for  senior
employees.  Repulalional  damage.
Being prohibiled from bidding for cerain
pleces of work. Sigaificant financial
penallies to the business.

Compliance lraining for all employeas an exisling
and upcoming issuas, rigovous policies, and a
clear disciplinary process for breach of the Code
of Eihics of the business. Horizon scanning to
look ahead for legisialiva and regulatory change.
Top-down commiiment to a culfture of ethical
behaviour demonstrated in premotion of, and
adherence to, carporale compliance pokcies.

10. Major cllent failure

The fallure of current clienls

secured income, potential  cashflow
sharlage and reduction in profit.

Projec(s) disrupllon, potenlial loss of |

Millgating acllons Inclede the early identification
and repariing of problems. Mace has a diverse
client ponfolio and a robust knowledge and
underslanding of key contract posliions. Client
credil worthiness is also appraised and assessed,

and credit cenlro) procedures are followed.

11. Inadequate financla! liquidity and fu

Inability to secure adequate funding to meet
operatonat iquidity needs.

nding .
tnadeguate financial® liquidity and
funding could impacl {he ability, of the
‘Graup o . meet! its  financial

commitments.

The procurement of new 3 year, £60m commilled
liquidity facllites in January 2022.

Expeclad proceeds from tha realisallon of Maca's -
equily investmenl in (he Bolley joint venture

12. Business model disruptionfinefficiency caused by a failure to inpovate and investment in technology

Fallure to keep ahead of compelitors In terms
afinnovation and operaiional effectiveness and
a-cansequent failure to meet the needs of lhe

compelitive  (which

margins).

may

Failure to win work and failure 1o ba~
feduce

Fester & culture in which the identification and
development of innovative concepls and
initialives is prized o remain cpermlional efficient

market, resulling in ihe business helng and competitive (and in which innovation is
uncompetitive. . funded approprialely).
13. Fraud

A fraud by an employee, JV parner, suppli
dient which results in financial loss for the
business.

Fi 1y

of acluals andfor
of Ionacasls which result in a loss of
valye andiar breack of lenders
covenzanls and any reputa!lonal risk thal
might be created.

Financlal control, particularly segregation of
dulies, is applied do key financial processes,
including banking processes. Regular
management review of manegement accounls.

14, Poor internal governance or non-compliance

Poor decision making or a lack of compliance
with covenants, rules, regulations, -contract
conditions andlor laws.

Failure o make sensible and timely
decisions andfor fallure ta be compfiant.

Governance sbuclure Includes delegations. lo
commiltees and lndividuals. Mitigations in respect
of potenlial covenant breaches tnclude covenant
projections plus open communicaliens, regular
weekly and monihly meetings, and repons to
lenders'in accerdance wilh facllily egreements.
Mitlgalions agalnst breaching confraciug! terms
with clienls Include regular monitoring and Halison
with clienis.

15. New pandemic

Major business disruplion caused by a new
pandemic affacting lhe health and wellbeing of
eclleagues aeross the Group and their abllty to
underake thelf work.

Major impacl on Mace's ability to serve
clients, causing delay and financial
exposure to conlracl Josses and claims
from cllenls and suppllers due to the
potentially foreseeable nalwre of a

New operational ways of warking, Including social
distancing were developed during the pandemic.
They could be Incomporaled nlo gperalionzl
practlces, The use of digital tools such as Zogm
and Teams are established as effetlive means lo
continue lo enllaborate and communicale at wark,

Post kalance sheet events

Restruciure of subs.ld;anss

andemic.

On 1 January 2023, Mace Limited transferred the fo!lowmg enlities to other subsmianes of lhe Group with total conssderahon of |
£14.2 million and gain on disposal of £14.2m In Company level incoms slalement There Is no aceounting impact on the '
consolidated balance sheet and incorne statement.
- Mace Internalional Limited {and its subsidiaries), Mace Holdings Limited (and its subsmlarres), Mace Cost Ccmsurtancy
Limited and MSecure Limiled were transferred from Mace Limited to Mace Consult Limited.
- Mace Construet Speciafist Services L1m1ted was transfarred from Mace Limited lo Mace Construet Limited.

Djsposal of subsidiary

©On 14 March 2023, the Group dlsnosed Bethnal Green RegenEratlon Limited for consideration of £0.06m resulting in a gain of ’

disposal of £0.05m.

Legacy projeci provision - update

On 26 June 2023, a court judgement was handed down in respect of a legacy contract for which a remediation provision has
been made. The formal hearing has been adjourned, and the judgemen! remains subject to potential appeal. The judge
- determined seversal principles thal are positive for Mace and are expected to result in the value of the year end provision belng
reduced. Al this stage, it is not possible to quantify the potential |mpact on the year end provision.
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Section 172 Campanfes Act 2006 '
The direclors have had regard to the matters set oul in section 172(1)(3) to (f) when performing their dutly under section 172 of
the Companies Act 2005

The dire::tars lrrr::‘;e:zl .‘ormally as the Mace Executive Board (MES) on & quaheriy basis and less forma”y-at the "Start of the Week”
meeting. The direclors are careful to ensure that in their decision-making process they manage bath the expeclations of the
sharehnlders {somea dkFEdOJ’S are also sharehalders) and the expec(ahons of other stakeholders.

To support lhls, declsmn—makmg processes are guided by a Governance Framewark that was introduced into the business in
“January 2022 to support the 2026 Business Strategy. Thie Framework is a transparerit, informative, and inclusive process which -
enables recommendations to flow efficiently from the Sub-Boards through to the MEB. The table of delegated authorities iricluded -
in the Framewurk provides ciear guidance on levels of authority for declsmn making processes.

The Mace Group launched the 2026 Business Strategy inearly 2021. The stiategy oullines our new drive 1o be a purpose-led
business.ang sels out axaclly how it will help Mace emerge aver the next five years as an even bolder, stronger, and more,
resilient Group,. This strategy reflects the Group’s purpose to “redefine the boundaries-of ambition”. It shows the world that the
Mace Group is bold, confident, and focused, réady to lead from the front and-take on new chalienges: driving improvements and
c¢hange for pedple, econormes and societies.

The Board has focused their decision maklng on three key prionties:

Pursue a Sustainable World T ’ Grow Together
Accelerate the built environment’s response to the climate Engage, deveiop and inspire our people ciients, parlners

emergency. . . - and communities

Deliver Distinct Value .
Service excellencé, inpovation and industry transformation

Each of these priorities and associated targeis has been established to ensure that Mace meets the needs of ils stakeholders,
taking into account how our activitles impact them. This Is reflected in our focus on being a responsible business, where we
measure our perfomance based on the wellbeing of our people, our |mpac:1 on the environmenl and how effectively we generated
social value for the commumlles and regions we work in.

Qur purpose and pricrities wera developed in partnership with Mace peopila thiough direct engagemen!. They provide a cleat
framework through which we engage with all of Mace's stakehalders — from our people to our supply chain, clients and beyond.

Stakeholder interests and key Board decisions

QOur process for decision making-demaonstrates our successful application of Section 172 of the Companies Acl 2006, From the
injtial assessments and the gecision making by the Board In.March 2022, and at subsequent paints in the year, the Board darecily
tock decislons address]ng the needs of varlous stakeholders.

tn discharging its Section 172 duties, the Board has adopted a strategu: approach to stakeholdar engagemenl While.the Board
has overall responsibility for managing relationships with all our stakeholders, it delegatas some of the practical responsibilities
for engaging with stakeholders to the divisional CEQ's and their teams.

" The Board conlinues to opgrate under a governance framework that protects and enables organisational effectiveness and high-
qQuality declsian- -making. It helps to avoid duplication of work, reduce cost, and empowers colleagues to become an unsloppable
force for good. The Board has effectively considered the impact of decision-making on key stakehoider groups in the daily
management of the business and in the setting of the Group's long-tesm stralegic vision.
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The following task summarises some examplas of stakehulder engagemenl undertaken by the Mace Group

Engagement with employees:

The resuits were:

‘Our ambition al Mace is to ensure that we are always in close dialogue mth
aur. collaagues

Mace continued td be transparent and open as p055|b|e with its employees
throughout 2022, This included: :

- Embedding new communication channels and {cols
o . Digital coliaboration channels, including Teams and Yammer.
o A regular drumbeat of welibeing content to mitigate Ihe |mpact of
mental health chatienges. .
o Regular videu updales from the CeO. ’
o Aseries of more than 10C internal vmual events in different formats.

- in 2022 we continved to run regular ‘pulse‘ surveys of our employees to
measure colleaguas’ general engagement and wellbeing.
- live across the globe fo our people.
- The Boardrecognized {he competitive pressures in the workforce, and

in response, placed considerable focus on recruitment and retention of
staff throughout the year.

~ Virtual mid-year and end of year communications sessions delivered..

The outcame of these engagement approaches
resulied in:

- Despite a slight reduction in Employee
engagement score from 86% (2021) to 84%
(2022}, the score rerhains high.- The slight
~gdecline was caused by economic
circumstances. Actions’ have focused™ on
improvements in the work environment to
enhance wellbeing and engagement.

Engagement with clients:

The results were:

Mace works hard to ensura that we are consistently engaging with alt our
clients, both on an operational and corporate levet; sharing bes! practicé and

relationships are open and collaborative.

This included:

- Embedding a ‘collabaration first’ approach lo managing any contractual
risks and impacts associated with the continued difficult operational
environment, minimising any resulting contractual or legat challenges.

= Undertaking reguiar chent surveys lo ensure thal our service deltvery
remained consistently excellenl throughout the year,

Mace resources through our webSIte

.- The promotion of effective customer relationship management (CRM}
across the organisation, using digital tools and careful planning to
ensure that client’s needs are met consisiently.

knowledge wilh' our clients and always working lo ensure that our

-~ Measuring haw our. strategic and key clients and nthels are accessing | ’

- Continuing to delivera hlgh quality, safs and
responsible service o all our clients.

The Board reviews each client survey
encouraging the sharing of best practice and
the promgpt fixing of any issues ar concems.

- Qur client base remainad consistently
engaged and informed throughoul 2022,
resulling in significamt repeal business
orders.
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. Engagement with the supply chain:

The resulls were:

As one of the world's Iargest and fnost diverse management and
conslruction companies, Mace aims to be a ieader and champion of best
praclice (in the process or managing the risks associated with the
procurement of Contractors / Cansultants / Suppliers.

In 2022 this included:

_ our slrategic supply chain lo ensure that they were informed and
_ engaged with our response ta the markst chalienges they faced; and
had the opportunity to feedback tn Mace. .

Chain.

- The Group's Procurement Difector was personally available to assist
with any.issues the supply chain had regarding material availabifity and
then work to'unblock the supply chain with the refevant manufacturers.

- Adopling a-‘collaboration firsl' approach to managing the contractual
risks and.
environment, minimising any, resulting contractual or legal challenges.

- A sleady drumbeal of broader supply chain engagement via emall 6n 2
wide array of issues, lncludlng ihe |mpacl of glebal economlc and
rrnatenals challenges .

- Detalled suppori for our project teams io help them devebp a
‘' comprehensive and detailed understanding of how our supply chain
was operating; including labour levels, materials and product sources,

" and productivity across our siles.

- Throughout the year there was a constant drive to callect cash trom
" clients and manage down dibtors and accrued income, while ensunng
we contmued to pay promplly to our suppliers.

- The introduction of fegular supply chain briefings delivered vmually lo’

- Sharing lnformailon -received from BuﬂdiUKIBEIS with lhe Supply'

impacts, associated with 2022's  difficult . operational’

- A consistently high standard of dellvery from

our supply chain to our clients.

A “hugely effective response to the global
economic challenges, ensuring that Mace
was able to ‘support parners through
numerous challenges, including changes in
regulation.

Better engagemenl and buy |n from the
supply chain,

Prompt paymer\t helped support our- supply
chain.

Engagement in research and develJment

The resuits were;

Expend!ture in .research and development which helps the Groun by
improving lachrical know-how and solutions on key cha!langes specific to
our projects and 1ndusuy In 2022 the Group incurrad expenditure of E57m
{2021 E48m) .

Cevelopment of our High-Rise Sotution
capabilily (seeking 1o further reduce time
during construction by 25%, vehicle
movemenis by 40% and construclion waste
by 75%).

d
Development: of new modular wall panels
and lightweight gauge sleel frame.

Development of new Toad bearing floating

.brick louvre solulion and air plenum seal

solution. ¢

Engagement with ﬂnanclal |nshtuhons

The results were:

Mace shares details of its’ operational and l’nanczal pedormance its
prospects and plans and its key risks and opporfunities with stakaholders
on a regular basis. In general, this is through meetings thal the CFO helds
with banks, insurers, sureties, credit insurers, auditors, and alrents Mace
adhered 1o its bank and covenant requirements. .

‘Ongoing

. The highly effective management of our

financial  resgilience  throughout 2022,
including responding to market changes.

Financial stakeholders gained a much betier
understanding -of the financial and
operaticnal performance of the business.

covenant  compliance  was

achieved.
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Engagement with-local communities

What were the resulls:

As contractors and consultants, the work we do has a dlrect impact on
hundreds of thousands of people across the globe each year, and we are
committed to-ensuring that wee engage with those communities closely.

To ensufe we are commumcalmg eﬁectwely and suppnmng our local
communities we:

- Ope'rate an established team of communily engagement managers,
" each of whom takes respansibility for different Mace projects.

.- Engagement and communication with residents about major
disruplion that niight be caused by the construction works we are
delivering an behalf of our clients.

- Work closely with local community organisations and our clients to
identify opportunities to use local labour on our projects.

- Build a pipeline of young apprentices and graduales across our
business that are drawn from a diverse range of communities.

- Provldg each Mace team rnember wilh 2 volimleering day each vear,
and proaclively idenlify opportunities for them to support good local
C2USes across the gl(_)be.

- Many of our projects also provide ad-hcc support and engagement
with their local communities, including school visits.

The successful maintenance of good

- relationships with the communities arcund

our major projecls; ensuring that we are
working effectively with them to minimize
disruption.

Effective mitigation of the risk of disruption to
our.projects that could be generated through
lecal comnmunity campaighing or challenge.

Pusilive feedback from chents who are
pteased with-how we are engaging with the
local communilies surrounding their projects,

Supporting the use of focal labour on olr
projecls and site In the UK,

We.were able to ensure that our nel 2efro
carbon strategy and 2021-2026 Pursue a
Sustainable World business priority/KPis ara
aligned with emerging policy/market changes
and are reprasentalive of industry-leading
commitments,

-Engagement with government and Industry stakeholders -
As a responsible business and a leading private UK Comgany, Mace is

committed to working with our peers and our government slakaholders to
improve aur entire industry,

- To communicate and engage with cur peers and gavernment, we:

| - Takean active:role in trade associations and seniarindustry leadership
bodies such as the Construction Leadership Councit and Build UK.

- ‘Take an aclive role in engaging with local, regional, and national
Govarnment, including working direclly on behail of central
government departments and local authorities in the UK and beyund.

- Supporl and play a leadership role for non- -governmental ‘regicnal
" business_groups, such as the Norihern Powerhouse Partnership,
London First and others.

- Take pant in cross-sector working grou-ps and activity.

What were the results:

A detailed understanding of the issuas and
threats facing our seclor, peers, clients and
suppliers that was able to direclly inform
Board decision making.

The maintenance of effective relalionships
with Government, fegulatory bodies and
ather key organisations that enables us to
share knowledge and improve: best praclice

acrost our industry.

Maintaining a  high-gualily  reputation
amongst our public sector partners that
ensures we can keep retaining and winning
new work and clients.

. Effective harizen scanning through industry

groups of the issues and risks that are likely
1o affect our business,-and confidence that
those groups are warking on our behalf to
ensure our interests are represenied.

Signed on behalf of the Board of directors
. Mark Reynolds . .

- Chief Executive QOfficer
7 July 2023
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The Mace Group being subject to The Comp it (Wiscell is Repomng) Regulations 2018, has applied for the Wates
Corporate Govermance Principles for Large Private Companies (the “Principles”) as an appropriate framewark when making a
disclosure abaut the Mace Group corparate governance arrangemeants for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Following the launch of our growih plans in January 2021, which are detailed in the 2026 business slrategy the Mace Executive
Board ("MEB®), invested in further developments of ils corperate governance. To this end work was underiaken to reviaw the
corporate governance framework to check its suitability against the 2026 plans and Lo identify any areas that could be further

_clarified or simplified as lhe business readied itseif for 2023. The result of this work was a governance framework which will ©
ensure our govemance programme conlinues 1o mature and support our 2026 Business Strategy. Throughout 2022 the MEB
worked to embed the framework and ensure we have a well-tined governance programme. X

Purpose and leadership

*The 2026 Business Strategy launched in 2021 outlines our ambitious plans for the next five years as a purpose-led business
that is comimitted to being diverse and inclusive, and to leaving a positive impact on peaple and communities globafly.

This strategy reflects the Group's purpose 1o redefine the boundaries of ambition. It shows the wosld that the Group is bold,
confident and focused, ready to lead from the front and take on new challenges driving improvements and change for people,
economies and societies. The Group's Key Performance Indicators help focus the business on our ambitious growth targets and
on our curmrent performance.

The MEB recogn'ses the key role Mace will play in helping the warld adapt to the rapid and transformalive changes happening
fight now and understands how impaortant our culiure and the business engines are to that role. The engines need to operate
under a govemance framewark which does more to better protect (manage risk} and enable organisational eflectiveness and
decision making (driving valee and margin through perfarmance) so that we avoid duplication of work, reduce cost, and empowar
colleagues o become an unstoppable force for good.

Purpase-led Our ¢ulture and Engines Markot focus
privrities ’ .
Gur values and behavlotas define our CREATING A
busi
culture and qur bysinesy CONNEGTED AND

PURSUE A RESILIENT WORLD

SUSTAINABLE

WORLD

SHAPING CITIES
QUR PURPOSE: AND BUILDING
B ). GROW THRIVING
THE BOUNDARIES TOGETHER COMMUNITIES
OF AMBITION
REALISING

) YR CLIENTS'

DELIVER AMBITEINS BEYOND

DISTINCTIVE ‘ DELIVERY

VALUE : . -

Qur Engines are the focus tor
our growth

Our values: safety first, client focus, create oppartunity, integrity - permeate through everything we do. Together with our clesr
vislon and mission, aur values guide our behaviours and foster a culiure of innovation and service excellence. These have helped
us forge cooperative long-term partnerships and relationships with dlients and ppliers that are increasingly focused on great
mutual outcomes rather than transactional rewarding arrangemenls '

Being a Responsibie Business confinued to be a key focus area for the leadership in 2022 and the MEB's commitment to this
continues to permeate throughout the business.

In support, the MES continued iis focus on the implementation of ihe Code of Ethics and the six-monthly certification requirement
whereby employees are required to confirm their adherence fo ifna Code and undeslying policies. In addition ta this, the Cade of
Conduct was rolled out as part of the onboarding process to new suppliers/subcantractors which clearly sets out the behaviours
expected by Maca of aliits suppliersisubcontractors in the cond‘u:tmg business. Safecail conrmued as our ex!erna!whistteblowing
senvice provlder .
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Corporate Govcrnnncc Repurt (uurrllnued] )
Year ended 31 December 2022 . Lo : ] N

Gur behavioural rramework, Behaviours for Suecess, which includes Act Inclusively, that focuses on treating people with respeci,
in g fair and consistenl manner, was included in the employee appraisal pragramme. i provided a framework for employees to
conduct a seif-assessment and identify those areas. which required further develepment. Continued focus was placed on the
developlng and |mplemenllng of a culture whrch seeks to embrace diversity and rnclusron

In 2022 the Mace Graup achleved at% annual reduclion in- our carbon emissions as part of our net zero carbon reduction

pathway, and conlinue lo be a carbon neulral businass by offsetting any residual emissions through the procurement of Gold
. Standard carbon offsets. Mace also has identified more than oné million tonnes of carbon savings on behalf of is clients, four

years zhead of target. The Group achieved a 57% reduction in aur carbon emlssrons verses our 2019 baseline.

The Board is firrnly committed to the principles of tax transparency and the |mplemenlat|on of measures globally lo preven! the
+ facilitation of tax evasion. As parnt of our increased focus an governance, procedures and a programme of improvement to align
with the annual Senior Accounting Officer (SAO) abligations, a clean SAO certificate for 2021 was submilted In September 2022.
A.clean certificate for 2022 is expected lo be submilted over the caming months. - '

.The Mace Group has been an accredited Fair Tax Mark business'sinoe November 2021. This is the goid standard of responsible .
tax conduct, demonstrating our commitment o responsible tax conduct and tax {ransparency.

UK Taxes contributed in the year:

2022 2021
Corporate inceme lax payments/(receipts) o B - ' © -
" Research and Deireloprrrenl credit . ) (3,569) ' (5.8273 :
Employmant-related laxes ‘ . . 38,925 31,365
Other Taxes : . © 4,330 A 1,324
Taxes collected for the government (in addition to taxes borne above). . . .
Employment related taxes - : . . 20,734 16,992
as ' ol . 455 ~ g5
VAT : , : : : . 198,180 C.133,227
Total tax contnbutaon {taxes generated from the Mace Group acllwty) ’ = 556,055 ' 175,056
Government grant income received - . ) {644) (155}
Tolal tax contribution net of government granls received 255,41 t 174,901

As a global business operating within four induslry seclors: developments, cansullancy, construction. and faciliies fmanagemenit,
lha Group's exposure to risk is mitigated as a resull of the diversification of its portfolio. The Group's Risk and Audit Commiltes
hoids a delegated authority from the MEB and provrdes assurance thal the business is fulfilling its corporate governance duties.

During 2022, the Groups internal Compliance & Audit team ran a programme of internal audifs -In total 76 Internal audits were
" undertaken. Exlernal audits of our 7 150 certified managoment ‘sysiems across mvulved 20 audils undertaken across 14 Mace
: locatlons in total 82 audit days.

To supporl the MEB's larget o achleve a warkforce which refiects sociely, we have a Diversity and Inciusion Steering Committee
{DISC) who are responsible for driving positive change. This is chaired by our Inclusion Manager and members of this Commities
are drawn from across the business to ensure we consider a vanety of perspectives,

The Mace Group continued to embed 1he Diversity and Inclusion Strategy, selling largels around recruitment, a reduction in the
gender-pay gap and other measures. These targets were reviewed and refreshed in the 2026 Business Stralegy, wilh an
ambitious target set to reduce our gender pay gap and ethnicily pay gap by 10% year on year to 2025. Some improvements have
been made in rélation to the ethnicity pay gap and work continues to ensure we meet our 2026 targets on gender and ethnicity

Ppay gaps.

coviD49
The effects of COoVID-19 still had some contmued |mpac1 primarily for the Operate engrne with the slow return of workers o
offices.
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War in Ukraine

The war in Ukraine resulted in vdrious stakeholders seeking clarification of any potential associated risk for the Company and its
supply chain. The business was able o respond quickly, following the actions laken by lhe leadership during the COViD-19
pandemic o protect the supply chain. In addition, in 2021 the Consult business decided to liquidate entities. in Eastern Europe
which continued into 2022 with Consull entiliesin Belams Montenegro, North Macedonia, Serbia and Slovak:a havlng now been
} cle registerad.

Board composition’

The Board comprisas the statutory directars. Mark Cas!le resngned as a nan-executive direclor on 31 March 2022, Richard
Bienfait, resigned on 31 August 2022 and stepped down from his role as Ghief Financial Qfficer with immediate effect. Palrick
Dixon resigned as a non-execuytive director on 7 Oglober 2022, David Allen was appointed as Chiet Financial Officer on 9 January
2023. 4 . .

_The MEB camprises of the executive directars, the non-sxecutive direclor and senior managerment. Tha MEB together with the
_ Board represent the knowledge, experience and expertise required o run-an orgamsatlon as Jarge and diverse as lhe Mace
Group. Membership of the Board and the MEB is listed below. . .

- Both the Board and MEB recognise there is still work to bs done to improve their diversity of the Board and are committed to
increasing diversity amongst the seniof leadership team. *

Board : MEB
_-Mark Reynolds — Cha!rman & Chief Executive Officer . Mark Reynelds — Chairman
Jonathan Mark Holmes - Deputy Chairman David Allen (appointed 9 January 2023)
Richard Bienfait ~ Chief Financial Officer {resigned 31 August 2022) Michelle Barkess
David Allen ~ Chief Financial Officer (appointed @ January 2023). Richard Bienfait (resigned 31 August 2022)
Stephen Jeffery ~ Chief Technica! Officer B Amanda Baldwin
Gareth Lewis - CEO Construct - Davendra Dabasia (appointed 1 January 2023)
Jason Miflett - CEO Consult & Develop Janathan Mark Holmes
Lee Penlington - Cemmercial Director : - Andrew Jackson
Mandy Willis - Director of Sirategy - Stephen Jeffery
. Mark Castle - Non-Executive Direclor {resigned 31 March 2022) Gareth Lewis
Patrick Dixon {resigned 7 Qctober 2022) . Jason pMillelt

‘Carolyn Pate
. i Lge Peniinglon
Mandy Wiltis

The following people are members of the MEB but are not statutory directors: Michelie Barkess (Chief Information - Ofﬁcers
Amanda Baldwin (Chiel Peaple Officer), Davendra Dabasia (Chisf Operating Executvve — Consuit), Andrew Jackson {Chief
Qparating Executwe - Consteuct) and Carolyn Pate (Company Secretary).

Directors' responsiblntles
The MEB met quartedy in 2022 and in addmon met less formatly during weekly operataonal meetings.

The Mace Graup comprises fcur operatmg divisions callad Engines for Growth. These ave Devebp, Caonsull, Gonstruct and
Operale, each has its own CEQ who is respansible for delivering the business plan for their respective division. Ross Abbate is
the CED for Dperale but is not 2 member of the Board. Mark Holmes is the Board Spansor for the Operale Engina. Each engine
has its own Board chaired by the respective divisional CEQ or the Graup CEO. These Sub-Boards meet on a quarterly basis and
sil under the authority of the MEB. These operaling divislons are supporied by Group Services, which provide Corporale
Governance, Risk and Assurance, Legal- & Commercial Services, Finance, [nformation Technology, Markeling &
Commumcalsons Pmcuremenl and Human Résource experise. :

During the past yearthe directors have sought to carry their dutles as required unde; sj?z of the Companies Act 2006 {lhe Act)
as referred o in the Strategic Repodt,

In 2022 the Board focused on the new three strateg:c pricrities which underpin (he new 2026 Business S|ralegy pursue a
sustainable world, grow together and deliver distinctive vajue. .

For each pnonty KPI's were agreed, and progress was measured at each guarterty meelmg The standing flems on the Board ’
agenda during the past year were grouped in line with the three sirategic priorities.

Cpportunity and risk

As part of the priority to achieve siable and suslainable growlh lhe Board set a target to achieve a rabust risk management

pragramme in 2022, Due to organisational changes during the year, the oversight function of tha Risk and Audit Commltlee was

elevaled to the Board and maintained as a regular item on their Agenda.

The Risk and Audit Gommittee' members” continued to monitar and review the development and delivery of \he Group Risk and

Audit siralegy, ensuring plans were aligned to enable delivery of the 2026 Business Strategy and to mitigate the business’
" principal risks, as identified in the Strategic Report.- Recommeéndations by Commitlee members were directly notrl'ed lo the

Board, The Risk and Audit Commitiee has returned to its usual paltern of meetings in 2023,
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' Corporaté Governance Report {continued)
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Remuneration
Key objectivas of the Board, whilst operating within the principles of good govemsnca, are to:
«  Assess executive remuneration and raward packages for the individual executive direclors..
. Determing the remuneration of the Chair, the executive directors, and the Group managefmenl teamn.
«"  Determine the total remuneration packages forthese |nd|wduals mcludmg any compensallon on te(rmnatlon of office;
and .
«  Approve annbal bonus arrangemems and share awards, including the performance targets thal apply.

Exgcutive remuneration is structured to drive both accountabilily and performance,.crealing long-term value for all stakeholders.
in determmlng the remuneralion, the parformance of the business during the financial year is taken into consideration, logather
with fulure strategy. Pay lvevels are cemmensurate with eternal pay levsls.

Perfo:mance is conlinuously under review and remuneration packages are revised appropriately. - K -

Stakeholders
“Qur engagemenl with our internat and exlernal stakeholders Is at the heart of our success asa busmess

Durlng 2022 we worked hard to ensure that we ‘communicatad openly ang transpareantly with our stakeholders. Our abjective is
for our communicalion (as far as practicable, both inside and outside o!lhe organisallon) to be an open and authentic dialogue.
We are open to new ideas and best practace from outside Mace.

By far our most |mpcltani slakeholder group is our Mace colleagues, of whom we are exiremew proud

Our mtema| communications slrategy relies on a broad range of channels to engage directly wlth our colleagues, lncludmg our

intranet, regular evenls, emails, and direct engagement lo create an open conversation across the organisalion. We camy out-
annuzl engagement and wellbeing surveys to measure engagemeant and run regular internal campaigns to’ promote information

abiout topics that are important to our people, inciuding sustamabuny, ‘mental health and diversily and inclusion.

. To help people, we ran regular wark, mental heaith, and wellbelng communicalion channels, including regular leadership videos
and bneﬁngs We also introduced new digital collaboration toals; all-Company briefings continued throughout the year.

To support Iower paid empioyees adversely nffected by cost-of-living pressures during ihe year, Mace prowded a one—oﬁ salary
increment.

Mace also supports a serles of emplayee-run nelwaork groups including Prida al Mace, Wumen at Mace the Ethnic Dwersuy
Inclusion Network, the Mace Military Network, Enabled at Mace and Parenis at Mace. Throughout 2022, these groups played a
key rale in working with our corparate team to engage with important groups of our colleagues; share lnformahon and best praciice
and engaging on important policy and aperational decision making.

Externally, our core stakeholder-audiences are our clienis, our stralegnc supply chain, insurers, bond providers, invastors, industyy
nrganlsat:ons public sector bodies; including both |oc.a| and national govemment and tha communities we work in.

Durmg 2022 wa continued to work hard lo ensure that our care stakehalder groups were kept informed and updated about how
we were responding to markel challenges arid how that would affect our work. We communicate with those audiences through a
wider variely of channels, bolth as part of our day-to-day delivery and wider communications channels and campaigns. This
includes promoting our work through media and social media provide regular updates to aur clients about cur work and carry out
regular cuslomer surveys. .

Of note is our role in helping to lead an& shape the wider lndustry;s fesponse lo key issues and challénges, Our Group Chairman
_ and CEQ (Mark Reynolds} worked closely with key industry and Government stakehelders (including in his.role as cu-charr of the
> Consulting Leadership Council) to ensure that construction continues to develop in a way that meetls saclely's needs

External reporting .
.In eddition te our Annual Repar, we regularly publish information, :ncludmg our business payment practices and perlormance
undar the Duly to Report requirements which are filed at Companies House. In addition, we produce oLr Annual Business Review,
which is published on our website, alongside our Annual Report. We published our thlrd Gender Pay Gap report [n Aprii 2022.
The Company also published payment praclices and performance statislics twice a year In accordance with our Duty to Report.
requirements.

External auditors ’

Following the appointment by the Mace Group of Mazars LLP as auditors on 4"' May 2021, Mazars were re- appcmled to conduct
the 2022 audit. R .

Asa prlvate Cocmpany, the Mace Group is not subject to axternal reslrictions |n terms of non-audit work prowded by the external
auditors, but for good governance has chosen lo implement |ls awn policy in relallon to the level of lheir remuneration and the
extent of their non-audit services. -
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Sub-Boards

" The new Corporale Governance Framewmk sponsored by the Board has iedefined the Group’s Sub- Board and Commillee

. structure. Governance at the Mace Group is defined as the ‘business system and architecture that outlines rights and

responsibililies and how aclivilies are organised 'lo achieve and redefine ambilion’, Tewards the end of 2022 the MEB introduced

an Advisory Board as part of the Governanee Framewsrk. The initial mesting was held on 15 Decamber 2022, The role of the
{ Mace Finsneg L1d” ['Shersholder') Bosrd — Annualy is Decemmber end by uxceplion

Advisory Board is to support the decision-making process of the Mace Executive Board by ad\nsmg and providing cohstruclive
Chalr; Chalr end Group CEC
Advisory Board ’—'r
-

Mace Executive Board ~- Quariery and Weekly ) . -
Chair: Chalr and Group CEQ .

chaflenge and suppon to all of the Mace leadersmp team.
{
PP ——

1 :

—

oevelap Boars Consult Boang ﬁ Canslrucl Bodre Opernie Board . >
Cescada end Duives grawih ana degvery | | Drives geowin ana aefvery Biives Qrovth and detvery Orives grovih ang delvery Cascade and
COMMIUACN0NS fo plour purpose and ©l Ul purpose and of aus puspase and of 0w purpose and communicalions la the
writlgr busing ss and prianuas ter Develnp, | prinitles for Gonsis, S for Constmct, pAorites hor Gperale. witfer business and
cofleagues &nsuning its plans ase entuAng i plans e ‘entukng s ptans are ensudng bs plans are colle
. aigued and contbuting to | | signea and contduting 1o . | wiiamed and contibulingto | | oigned and contduting 1o Bpuas .
puskhess pranaing business praning buziness planning business planning .
—— — 1
Roaponaible Innavatien | [202€ Tranalormution Healih, s-m, Fisk & Audit - GACS Remunzration Heaith Coas Trust
Busineas Stonrto Sipoing Groap and! a‘. Commifze Loaderahlp Coenminag K
SwacCo. : Ccmmllr- T :

“ B =)

Stralegic Slls-Cos dfving our wlurmas—

Pursug p sustainebie workd, Grow , Dellver d ive value Operstlonal sieorGa’s.
(conslruclbn lo Pluducﬂon Dala 4 Qigital) i
Steering Commiltees
The Steering Cornrmtlees wark as a system with clearly delmealed ro1es to drive activity and results. ’ ’

Responsible Business Commitiee
The Respensible Business Committee was commissioned ta lead the Mace Graup in the develupmeni and delwery of the |
Responsible Business Strategy. Responsibilities include but are not limited to.
+ Providing direction and guidance to the Responsible Business team on the Respuns;ble Business slralegy and plans to
ensure delivary of pregrammes and initiatives remain on track;
+ ldentifying developments (from other institutions and organisations) that could be considered besl practice, considering, and
adapting 1hese.
s+ Championing the bread Responsible Business agenda within business units and across the Mace Group {o achieve a
. consistent approach; and
.+ Commissioning of woarking groups, establishing appropriale objechves in accordance with the 2026 Business Strategy and
manitoring pragress for the duration of the warking group.

Gmw Iogelher Board {People and Talent) Commillee

The Grow Togethef Cnmmlttee acts to ensure the delivery uf lhe Mace Group HR sirategy. Responsibilities include but are not

fimited to:

= Reviewing and momlcnng the Mace Group HR stralegy to énsyre it is aligned to the delivery of the 2026 Business Strategy;

«  Develoging and momlonng a scarecard of key measures agreed with the MEB and reviewed and agreed by the MEB on a
quarterly basis; . .

+  Setting the HR Policies for the Mace Group;

» Providing direction and guidance-to the HR team on changes to the HR slralegy and plans to ensure delivery of programmes
and initiatives remain on track. Support the HR team in developing soll-out sirategies that will gain maximum traction across
the business; and-

. Idenhfymg developments. (from other institutions and organisations) that could be consudered besl practice, considering, and

" adapling these, as appropsiate for possible lntroducllon at Mace.

Innovatio nittee .

The Jnnovahon Commmee monitors and reviews the development and delivery of the Mace Group Innevation slralegy, ensuring

its plans are allgned to and-enable the business lo deliver the 2026 Business Sirateqgy. Responslbnllwes include byt are not Iimited'

- o

+  ‘Setting the Innovation Policies for the Mace Grcup for approval by the MES;

s Providing direction and guidance to the innovation team an changes ta the Innavation stralegy and plans to ensure delivery
ol pragrammes and initlatives remain on track. Support the lnngvation team In develcping rol-oul sfrategles that will galn
maximum traction across the business;

» Identifying developments (from cthar instilutions and arganisations) that could be consndered best practice, considenng and
adapting these, as appropriate for possible introduction at the Mace Gioup; and

« Champloning the broad Inngvation agenda within business umls and across the Mace Group, to achleve a consislent

' approach.
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Transformation Steering Group Committee
The Transformation Steering Group Committee proposes and oversees a pom‘olio of transformatlon and change projecls across

the Mace Group that will deliver our purpose and support progress against alf priorities lo deliver distinctive value. Reviews and
recommends business cases (includihg investment appraisals) for MEB decision and tracks status and benefits realisation. ’

Health, Safety and Wellbelng Cmmnle
The Health, Safely and Wellbeing Commitiee momlo:s and reviews the development and delluery of the Mace Group health,

safely, and wellbeing strategy, ensuring its plans are aligned to and enab!e the busmess to deliver the 2026 Busmess Strategy.
. Responsibifiies additionally include bul are not limited to:
» Developing and monitoring the scorecard of key measures as agreed wﬂh the MEE
» Selting the health, safety, and wellbeing policies for the Mace Group;
«  Providing direction and guidance to the HS&W team'on changes fo the slrategy anid plans Lo ensure dalivery of programimes
. and initiatives remaln on track;

+  Supporling the | IB&W leainin developmg rolkouk straiegles lhal will galn maximum traclion across the business;

« Evalualing of the Groups Investment in the Kealth, safety, and wellbeing; and

» Championing the broad heallh, safety, and wellbeing agenda within business wnits and across the Mace Group, lo achfeve a
' consisient approach to corporate challenges.

Ris udi ittee ’ i ’

The Risk and Audit Committee monitors and reviews the development and dehvery of Ihe Risk and Audit sirategy. Respons:bala!les

include but are naot limited to: .

« Manitoring a scorecard of key measures set by the MEB,;

« - Selting the Risk and Audit Policies for the Mace Group under the authority of the MEB,

« Supporling the Risk and Audit team in developing rofl-oul stralegies that will gain maximum traction agross the busmess.

+ Commissioning of working groups, establishing appsopriate objectives in accordance with the 2026 Business Strategy and
maonitoring progress for the duration of the working group; and

« Pre-screening and making recommendations to the MEB regarding corporate proposals which fundamentaliy affect future
cofparate strategy, cuiture, organisation, debt/capital ralses and ltems of significant business risk.

roup a mmercial Servi ittea

The Group and Commercial Servlces Commitles monitors and r reviews the development and delivery of the Mace Group and

Commercial Services strategy, ensuring is plans are aligned to and enable the business to deliver the 2026 Business Siralegy.

Responsiblities inciude but are not limited to:

+ Selting the Mace Group and Commerciat Services Policies for the Mace Group for appraval by the MEB,

= Providing direction and guidance lo the Group and Commercial Services teams on changes 1o lhe stralegy and plans to
ensure delivery of programmes and initlatives remain on irack;

+  Supporting the Group and Commercial Services team in developing roll out strategies that will gain maximum traction across
the business;

» |dentifying developments (from other Instltutlons and arganisations) that could be considered best practlce considering, and
adapting these, as appropriate for possible introduction at the Mace Group;

* Evaluating the investment in the Group and Commercial Services agenda; and

s Championing the broad Group and Commercial Services agenda within business units' and across lhe Mace Group to |
achieve a cansistent approach

Mace Health Care Trust Cornmiltee

To prioritise and effectively govern Lhe héallhcare prov:ders for our people and, in deing se, build employee and stakehaolder
confidence thal their health and healthcare is an important element of our employee value proposilion {aliracting and retaining
great talent in a highly competitive market). For the UK employees this is specific to the aclual Trust For the rest of the Mace
Group, the focus js to oversee the relavan! beneli !s provided to global employees.

Remco {(Remuneration) Committes

To recorrwnend, align and monitor the level and slructure of remunerzuon for senior management to support sustamable business
perormance and success and the delivery of the 2026 business Slralegy; to miligate reward risk and advise the anrd on Reward
Strategy to ensure a fair and appropnate remuneralion policy and ils exacutlon for employees.
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‘Directors"report
Year ended 31 December 2022

The directars present theit annual report on lhe atfairs of the Group, logelher with audnled financial statemenls and audllur's
report, for the year ended 31 December 2022, )

Principal activity . .

The Group is an international consultancy and constyuction group whose principal activities contmue to be consiruction delivery,
project management, cest consultancy and facilities management. In addition, the Group-has made cerain |nvestmems in
properly developrent pmjecls .

Resuits and dividends : '
" ~The zonsolidated profit far the year befare laxallon amounted to £50. Bm (2021: £53.8m). The Company has pald dnndends of
£18.0m (2021: £15.0m) in the year and na further dividend is propased for the year,

Strategic report’

-The Group Is required by section 414A of the Companies Act 2006 to presen! a Slrateglc report - ‘in the Annual Raport, The
Strategic Reponl aisa contains, where appropriale, an indication of the direclors’ view on a‘nkefy {uture developments in the.
business of the Mace Group.

Oirectors
The dfrec!ofs who held ofﬁce during the year were '

“"Mark Caslle {resigned 31 March 2022)
Patrick Lixon (resigned 7 Getober 2022)
" Richard Bienfait (resigned 31 August 2022)
Jonathan Mark Holmes
Stephen Jeffery
Gareth Lewis
Jason Milleit
Lee Penlington
Mark Reynolds
Mandy Willis

David Allen was appointed as Director on 9 January 2023.

Financial Instruments

Further information regardmg the Group financial instruments refated policies and a conmderatmn af its Hiquidity and other
Fnancmg risks are set out in note 3 to the financial statements.

Energy and carbon emlsslons

The Group has been a member of the RE10C Cllmate Group since 2017. This committed the 'Group 1o procure 100% power
from refiewable sources by 2022, Through the Group's Eleciricity Supply and New Connections contracts with Npower, EDF
Energy and Ecatricity, the Group has procured 100% renewable or REGO backed electricity where the Group has financial
controf of the energy. Through the parinership with Ecatricity as much 'green’ gas has been procured-as possible (there Is a
limited amount and demand dulstrips supply) and offsels the remaining CO2e through — the following projects:

. Dagachhu Hydropower project, Bhutan, COM ref 2746
. Valdivia Biomass to power project, Chile; COM ref 1787
. Maharashtra Biomass to power project, India, COM rel 4078

This slatement of energy use and carbon emissions comphes with the "Envuonmentai Repnmng Guidelines: including
‘streamlined energy and car‘bon reporting quidance March 2019 (Updaled Introduction and Chapters 1 and 2) The statement
beiow covers energy use #nd associated greentiouse gas emissions refaling (o gas, efectriqty, diesel and business travel via
private vehicles, an intensity ratio and_ information relating to energy efficiency actions. The Scope for this repon exciudes
amissions from intarnational and joint arangements, included in the scope are emissions friom the Mace Group UK only
.. operations where the Group has financial conlrol, .
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Currant reporting year (January 2022 - Decernber 2022)

Reporﬁng Year {UK Operations only Excludes JA's) ._ TEOZZ - 2021 I .Change l Units
Tolal gmla‘rgyAu.;.e coverin-g eleclricity,.éas..diesel and fransport 33,5{7,356 32,576,968 3% lkWh .
Total emissions generated through combusiion of gas ' 3b2 L4032 - {71%) leze
To!él e-missioﬁs generated lhroug}h use of_::;urchased electricity - ' 4,227 3,929 8% ICO%e
Total emissionvs generated ﬂu.uugl? use of ather ruelg ) © 1,524 - h3s2 12% 02e
Total emissions generated through buéiness travel : 1,187 ' 1173 . 2% 1c02e .
Total gross emissions i - 7,250 - 7,496 (3%) . 1002

‘ A _1C02e
: o . perEm
Intensity ratio {{olal gross emissions} 4,71 471" 0% ‘Revenue

Explanation of Energy Consumption
The figures above show an increase of 5% in energy.use from 2021 to 2022, This increase is due lo offices returning to narmat
and people working under narmal conditions, the Wnchesler Region moved into a new larger office which uses gas as the primary

X hearlng fuel:

«  Gas: The 71% decrease in gas consumption is, due to three large projects with decenlrallsed energy syslems be-ng
transferred to clients and therefore ceasing to be lhe Group's direct responsibility. -

»  Electricity: The 8% increase in electricity use across offices and siles was mostly due to some very large projects
nearing completion and one that was cammissioned and reached practical completion in December. Also, more people
have returned to offices this year — this has increased electricity consumption. .

»  Other Fuals: The 12% increase in consumption of other fuels is due to an increasé in generalor-use dus lo powear not
being available en project sites. A policy has been inlroduced-this year that for contractor's diesel use is by exception
only. The Graup is unable to separate diesel generator use from-dieset used in other plant equipment, so the Group !
has chosen to include all diesel usage.

+  Business Travel: The introduction of "Agile Warking' and colleagues travelling o sites and pmjecls post lock-down,
has Increased business travel mileage in the Group s ‘grey fleet’ by 2% year on year. )

As a .resull for UK operations year on year gross emtssmns have decreased by 3% and when compared with !he intensity metric
of ‘Revenue’. . .

Enerqy efficiency

In January 2020 Mace iaunched its Net Zero Slralegy anda behavlourchange iniliatlve called’ Sleps without Foolprints’. The repoit
‘Steps without Foolprinls one year on’, detalls the 2020 journey and future targets - hitps:#www.macegroup.com/abaut-us/a-
respoﬁs_ii:lefbusin'ess!sleps-withuul-foolprinlsfreporl‘ In December 2021 Mace laurched the ‘Environmental, Social and .
Govemance Report 2020. In the report Mace commits Lo Building a Bettar Future by: ’

*  Transforming the Grouyp's impact on éoclety and planet; Evolving the way business Is done to ensure that
operations are sustainable, ethical and robustly govemed. The Group's ESG slfategy links lo the Group s slraleglc
priorities, cennaecling every element of what we do to our purposa.

. Value2Soclety: Creating.shared value sils at our heart. Supporting commumlles and generaling opportunities to

" deliver belter outcomes for society. It's what we do because it's the right thlng to do. Overthe last few years, we have ° -

increased our Value2Scciely, but there is always more that we can do and our new ltarget of £700m by 2026 will see
us add advanced valua by bringing further benefils to those whom our projects touch, now and in the fuiure

. Carbon Emissions: Globally we have reduced our Scope 1, 2 ang 3 carbon emissions by 4% We wil} contlnue secura
annual verification of our net zero position with a 1arget to reduce our corporate carbon fuolprmt by 10% each year.
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Directors' report (continued)
Year ended 317 December 2022

To become nel zero the Mace Group commitied lo stgnrﬂcanlly reduce carbon emissmns associated with;
*.  Energy use —he electricily, gas and diese! purchased; )
+  Embodied carbon — from manufacturing and ransporting the materials used inthe buﬂdlngs developed and own;
+  Business travel — our flights, irains, taxis, cars, and hole! accommodation;
+ Water and wasle — the water we use and waste we send to landfill;
* Purchased Goods and Services;
- ' Wasle and waler discharge;
Purchased goads and services;
+ Wellto tank; ’
+  Employee commuling;, and
* . Fugilive emissions.

Having achieved carbon neutral in 2020, The Mace Group Is commitied to a Net Zero future, this involves the continued reduction
. of energy use, business travel and on-site diesel. The Mace Group recognises dlimale change is a global issue and has
committed to reducing its environmental impact and assisting its clients to reduce their impact on the environment and has
committed to a 2026 larget to reduce 1m tonnes of clien! carbon.

In 2022 the' Mace Group commilted to:
+ . Adjust timings on HVAC {Healing, Ventilation and Air-Conditioning)-and reduced running time;
+  HVAC set points adjusted incrémentally; .
+  Trialled on half floor operalion of fan coils at 50%;
»  FCU's only running for a few hours a day;
+  finstalled timectocks on welfare and project sites:
= Install PIR's on prolecl sites, i
- LED lighting on construction sites, in site offices and canteens;
+-  Lighting upgrades where necessary; ’
"« Reduction in business travel achigved through availability of vrdea conrerencing and Introduction of the’ Agile Workrng :
‘ Palicy; ’
+  Reduce on-site diesel for energy generation hy using hybrid generation and securing eady giid conneclions; and
s Continued use of-Demand Lagic in the head office building to optimise the bunldmg conditions and highlight areas ofenergy
wastage. -

The fnllowmg eneigy efficiency measures are under cons:derallon for lmplemenlauon dunng 2023

+  Conduct ESOS {Energy Saving Opportunily Schemse) audits;

< Replace fluorescent lighting with LED lighting in Head Office;

Continue to source energy efficient site accommedation; .
Caonfinue to update heating and controls in all offices, site accomrnodatmn canleens and drying rooms;
GContinue to reduce business travel by use of video conferencing and agile working;: .
Conlinue research and development of new methods of construction;

Cantinue to reduce embadied carbon;

Investigate ways to reduce energy use and emISS|OI'|5 from ICT; .~

Reduce waste and vse of landfill; .

*  Wark with the supply chain to reduce emissions; and -

. Imp|arnenl ESOS Phase 3 findings where appropriate.

P e e

Methodology used in the calculation of disclosures.

The methodology used. in the calculation of the data disclosed in this reporl has followsd the format of the Mace Group ESOS
Reports and complles with Environmentai Reporting Guidelines inciuding the stream!med energy and carbon reporﬂng guidanoe
March 2019 (Updaied lntroducllon and Chapters 1 and 2).

" The Mace Group scope for SECR reporting is actlivities where the Mace'Group acls as a project/construclion manager. The
Mace Group has conirol of emissions assccialed with the construcﬁon set-up and construction activities anu’ the Mace Group
has financial conlrol of the uillmes

Any estimations used for data use the pfo»rata calculation technigue. This is used in the case where there are data gaps, as
the biling period covers more than the reporling year and needs to be quantified using a proportional method based on meter
readings. The consumplmn for a billing period'is broken down into a da||y cansumption and multiglied into monlhly consumphon
m cover the data gap.

The intensity ratio is caicuia(ed using UK revenue for 2022 and is stated as toanes of COze per.‘: revenue (UK operahons only).
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Girectors' report (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

Directors’ indemnity ingurance

The Company pravides a directors’ and officers’ Insyrance policy which was in place during the year and remains in force at the
date of this report.

Going concern '

The directors continue to adept the going concern basis in preparing the Group's 2022 financial state'menls

The directors have carried oul an assessment on the Group's ablhly to continue as a gmng concern for the period of al least 12
months from the date of approval of the financial statements. The assessment has constdered

' The likelihood of the principal risks of the Group occurring;

«  Current liquidily levels and financing arrangemenis;

+  The most recent unandited trading performance of the Group al lhe point al which the assessment took place, being
March 2023;

*» The anlnmpaled results for the 2023-and 2024 financial years  with referenoe to secured levals ofwork and

« . The total value and phasmg of the Group's forward order boak,

In performing their assessment, lhe directors have maodelled the impaét of the oceurrence of five adverse scenarios, which were
selected through a detailed review of the Group’s principal risks.  The impact of the following five risks oa the Group's financial
performance and liquidity has beer assessed at varying levels of severity:

A reduction in unsecured work;

Inflationary increase above assumed forecast levels for all categories of cost;.

An increase in base rates (SONIA);

Delays in receipls from ey customers; and

Delays in investment payback, These scenarios replicate the impact ofa 5|gnIﬁCant delay in cash receipts which could
he applicable in a range of different scenarios, . .

In the: most sevare of these scenarios, the Graup ls still expected lo remain profitable, relain sufficient liquidily to operate efncuenlly
and remain within its banking covenants throughout the going cancern periad. The directors also consider that a wide range of
miligating actions would be available to mmgale any adverse scenario. -

Events after the reporting date
Details of significant events after the reporting dale can be found in the Strategic Reporl and in note 31.

Employeas

The directors recognise thal employees are fundamental to the Mace Group's success and are committed to the invoivement and
develogment of employees at all levels. The direclors wish to ensure thal the Mace Group is a diverse and inclusive group that ~
respects employee's protected characteristics Including race, religion, sexual orientation, and any disablllhes

The Mace Group gives a full consideration o apphcahons for employment from disabled persons where the requirements of the
job can be adequalely fulfilled by a disabled person. Where existing employess become disabled, it is the Mace Group's policy

- wherever practicabte to provide coptlnuing employment under nomal terms and conditions and to provide training and -career
development and promolion to disabled employees wherever appmprfate,

Arrangements exist to keep all employees lnforrned on matlers of concemn to them and information on the Mace Groups
performance and prospects is disseminated widely. The directors ensure thal employees or thair representatives are consulted -

- on a regulsr basis 30 that the views of employees can be considered in making decisions which are likely to affect their interests.
Employees are encouraged to be concerned with the performance and efficiency of the Mav:.e Group and various profit sharing
and bonus schemes operate to emphasise and remforce this.

The directors would like to thank ali employees for thelr hard work.during the year.

Engagertent with stakeholders
The Mace Group continued to engage with stakeholders throughout the year as disclosed in the Strategic Report.
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" Directors' report (continued)
Year ended 31 Decernber 2022 |

Research and development :

Expenditure on research and development is the key to driving the business forward. In 2022, the Group invested E57m (2021:
£48m) which included development of the Group's High-Rise Solution capability (seeking to reduce time dufing construction by
25%. vehicle movements by 40% and construction waste by 75%), development of new ccnslruchon elements, temporary works
procasses, and making substaniial improvements in machanical and electrical services.

Branch
The Campany has a branch offlce in the Repubhc of Ireland.

Disclosure of information to auditors

Each ofthe persdns who is & Director as-at the date of this repont confirms that: :

. s far as the directar is awarae, there is no ralavant audit information of which the Company's auditer is unaware; and

- the Direcior has taken all steps that they ought 1o have taken as a director to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit, mformatun and to establish that the Company s auditar is aware gt that information.

This confirmaticn is given and sl‘)outd be inferpreted |‘n accordance with the provisions ur s418 of the Companies Act 2006.

" The financjal'slatements are approved by, the Board and signed by order of the directors.

L}
rolyn Pal .
Group Company Secretary

7 July.2023
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" Directors' responsihilities statement
Year ended 31 December 2022

Tne directors are. respansfbie for preparing the Strategic Repon, the Direclors’ Repait, the Corporate Gnvemance Repon and the ~

. financial statements in accordance with- applucable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements far each financizl year. Under that law the dlreclors have elected

to prepare the financial statements in accordance wilh UK-adopled international accounting standards and applicabte law and have
elected to prepare the parent Gompany financial statements in accordance with UX accounting standards and applicable law,

including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework. Under Company law directors must not approve the financial statements unless ~

they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the slate of affairs of the Group and the Company and of their-profit or loss
far Ihat period. The directors consider the financial statements to be true and fair.

In preparing these linancial statements, the direclors are required to:

. <eléct suitabde accounting policies and then apbly them consisiently;
+ make judgements and accounling estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

« state whethers the Group financisl sialemems have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted inlernational accounhng .

standards;
. » stale whether the Company rnancml statemenls have been prepared ln accordance with FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
" Framewaork; and
« prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis uniess it is inappropnale to presurne that the Group and Company
will continue in business. .

. The d}rectors are rasponsible for keeping adequate accounting records Ihat are sufficient lo show and explain the Group and
Company's lransaclions and disclose with réasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Company and
enable them lo_ensure that the finencial statements comply wilth the Compames Act 2006. They are also responsmle for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and Compamy and hence for 1aking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of- fraud
and ather irregularities. . . . .

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and |nlegrﬂy; of the coporate and financial information included on the Company's
wabsite. Legislation in the United Kingdom governmg lhe preparation and dissemination of the financia! statements may differ from
tegislation in other jurisdictions. -
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" Independent auditor's report to the members of Mace L1m1(ed
Year ended 31 December 2022

Opinion

We have audited the financial statemenls of Mace lened {the ‘Parent Company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group) for the year ended k2
December 2022 which comprise the following:

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income .
- Consolidated Statement af Financial Position
Company Staternent of Financial Position
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equily
Company Statement of Changes in Equity, and
. notes to the financial slatements, mcludlng a summary of significant ac.countlng pollmes

«a 3 e 4 e

The financial reporing framewdrk thai has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial sialements ts apphcab1e law and UK-
adopled inlernalional accounting standards. .

The financial reparting framewark that has been apphed in the preparahan of the Parent Cumpany ﬁnanaai statements s applacable faw
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards mcludlng FRS 101 "Reduced Dﬁsclosure Framework™ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practicej. .

In our opinion:

. the financial statements gve a true and la|r view of lhe stale of the G.roup s and of ihe Parent Company’s afairs as at 31 Decembey
2022 and of the Group's ‘profit for the year then ended;
. the Group financial stalements have been properly prepared in acr:ordance with UK-adopted international accounling-standards;
. the Parent Company financial stalements have been propeﬂy prepared in accardance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Agcounting Practice; and .
. the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006
Basis for opinion :
We conducied our audit in accordance with International Standards an Auditing (UK} {(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Qur responsibilities
* under those slandards are furlher described in the "Auditor's responsibilities for the audil of the financis! stalemenis” section of our reporl.
We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ‘ethical requir that are rek L to our audit of the
financial stalements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulflled our cther ethical responsibiiities in accordance
with these requiremerits. We believe that the audit evidence we have ahtained is suffictent and appropriale to provide a basis for ouroplnlcn

Conclusions relatmg to going concern . . K

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the direc!ofs use of the going concern basis of accounting in the- preparallon
of the financial stelements is appropriate. Our audit procedures o evaluate the direclors’ assessment of the Group's and lhe Parent
Companys ability to continue to adopt the geing.concern basis of accounhng included but were not Timited to:

. Undertaking an initial assessmenl at the pldnning stage of the audit to identify events or condlhens that may cast smmﬁcanlduubl .
on the Group’s and the Parent Company's ability to continue as a gomg concern,

T Obtainmg an underslandmg of the relevant controls rela(mg to the dlrec(ors going concem assessment
. Assesslng the historical accuracy of plo]ect!uns prepared by the directdrs;

e  Assessing the data inputs and the assumpuons underlying the base case going concern mode), and the assumphuns used in the
downslde and upside scenarlos;

. Reviewing management's forward order book;

» Testing the forecast mode! and covenant caiculations for mathematical accuracy and lggical Jn!egfity;

«  Assessing projected liquidity and profected covenant compliarice aver the gaing concern petied; and

. Evaluating the appropria"leness of the: direclors’ disclosures in the ﬁnqncj.ial statemenls on gaing concem. )

_Based on the work we have performed, we have'nol identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually
or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Groug's and the Parent Company's ability to conlinue as a gomg concern for a period of at
least twelve months from when the financial slatemenls are autharised for issue. . X
Qur responsibiliies and the responsibiiities of the directors wﬂh respect to going cuncem are described in the relevant sechons of this
reporl.

Other information . . )

The other information comprises the informalion inchided in the annual report, other than the financial statemesits and our auditar's reporn
thereon. The directars are responsibie for the other infarmalion contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements
dags hol caver the ather informalion and, except {o the extent otherwise exphmﬂy slaled in our repon we do not express any form of -
assurance conclusion thereon.

Cur responsibillty is to read the other info!-ma!ion and, in doing so, consider whether the ofher information is materiafly inconsistent with the

_financial slatements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be malerially misstated. If we identify
such material inconsistencies or apparemt matenal misstalements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material

_ migstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conciude that there is a matedal
misstatement of this olher informalion, we are required 1o report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. .
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Independent auditor's report to.the members of Mace Limited (continue&)
Year ended 31 December 2022 ’

Opinicns on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2008
1n our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
» the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for whlch the financial staterments are
prepared is consistent with Lhe financial statements: and -
.+ the strategic reporl and the directors’ report have been prepaied in accordance with apphcable legal requnrements
Matters on which we are required to report by exception .
in light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and fheir environment nmalned in the ‘cowrse of the
audit; we have not identified maleriat misstatements in the strategic report or the directars’ report.-
We have nothing to report in respect of the followmg matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires usto report to you if, in
our opinion:
s adequale accounling records have not been kepl by the Parent Ccmpany, or relurns adequale for our audil have not been
received from branches not visiled by us; or :
+ the Parent Company financial slalements are nol in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
+ ceriain disclasures of directars’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
« we have not received all the infermation and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Dnectors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsmnlmes statement sel out on page 29, the d;reclors are responsible far the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal contral as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due Yo fraud or error,

In preparing the financial statements, the diréctors are responsiblé for assessing the Group's and the Parent Gompany's abilily to continue
. as a going concera, disclosing, as applicable, malters relaled to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidale the Group or the Parent Campany or to cease operalions, or have no reafistic aliernative but to do s0.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial statements

Our objectives are ta obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,

whather due o fraud or error, and to Issue an auditor's report that indudes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 2 high level of assurance

bul Is not a guarantee that an audil canducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatemnents can arise from fraud or erfor and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
. expecied lo influence the economic decisions of users taken on Lhe basis of the financial statements.

The'ex'lent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed belaw.
Irregularilies, including fraud, ara instances of non-compliance with laws and.regulations. We daéign procedures in line with our |
respansibifities, oullined above, to detect material misstaterments in respect of irregularities, including fraud.
Based on our understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and their industry, we cansidered that non-compliance with lhe following
laws and regulations might have a materiat effect on the financial statements: employment regulation, Bribery Act and Modern Slavery Act,
Health and Safety teguiation, anti-money laundering reguiaﬁon. General Data Pr'otection Regulalion (GDPR), Building Act and Regulaiions
and Fire Safety Act, .
To.heip us idenlify nslanoes of non-compliance with these laws and regulatlons. and in :denhfymg and assessing lhe nsks of material
misslatement in respect to non-compliance, our procedures included, but were not limited 1oc
- » . Inquiring of management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance, as lo whether the Group and the Parent
Company is in curnpllance with laws and regulahons and discussing their palicies and procedures regarding compliance with
laws and regulations;
* Inspecling correspondence, if any, wilh relevent licensing or regulatory authorities;
.. Commumcatlng identified laws and regulations lo the engagement team and. remalmng alert lo any. indicalions o non-
) compliance throughout our audit’ and . . . .
+ Considering the risk of acts by the Group and the Parent Company which were contrary lo appllcable laws and regulations,
_including fraud.
. We also considered thosé laws and regulauons that have a direct effect on the preparation of the Ilnanciai statements, such as lax 1eg!s|at|on
and he Companies Act 2006.
In addition, we evaluated the directors’ and managements incentives and apportunilies for fraudulent mampulatmn of the financial
statements, inciuding the risk of management override of cantrols, and determined that the principal risks related to posling manual journal ’

entrizs 1o manipulate financial performance, management bias through judgements and assumptions in significant accounting estimates,
revenue recognition (which we pinpainted lo the completeness, éxislence and accuracy), and significant one-off or vnusual transaclions.
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Independent auditor's report to the members of Mace Limited (conhnued)
Year ended 31 December 2022 :

Our audit proceduras in relataon 10 fraud included but were not limited to: .
. Making enquides of the directors and management on whelher they had knowledge of any actual, suspected or aileged fraud;”
. Gaining an understanding of the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud;
. : Dfscussir}g amangst the engagement team the risks of fraud; and
T e ’ Addressmg {he risks of fraud through managemem ouernde of controls by performing journal entry testing.
There are inherenl limitations in the audit procedures described above and the primary responsibility for the prevention and detacllon of .

irreguiarities including fraud rests with managemenl. As with any audit, there remained a risk af non-detection of irregularities, as these may
invalve collusion, forgery, Intentional omissipns, misrepresentations ‘or the override of intemal controls.

. Afurther descnpllon of our respons:bllmes for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Repomng Council's website
at www. frc.org uldauditorsrespansibilities. This description forms part of qur auditor's repon

Use of the audit report

This report is made solely to the Parent Company’'s mermbers as a body in accordance wnlh Chapter 3 of Part' 16 of the Compames Act
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we inight state o the Parenl Company’s members thase matters we are required lo state
10 themi in an audilor's repart and for no other purpose. To the Tuliest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Parent Company and the Parent Company 's members as a hody forour audi{ work, for this repart, of for the opinions
we have formed.

.

Willlam Neale Bussey (Senlor Statutory Auditar) for and on behalf of Mazars LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor ~

30 Did Bailey .
London ’
EC4M TAU
% Jovy 1zt 3
) .

N7
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Year ended 31 December 2022

—Qmup revenue

‘Cosl of>sales

Grﬁss profit
Mhinis!raﬁve expenses

Other income”

I-air value on financial liabilities measvred al FVPL {inc. derivatives)

Operating profit before exceplicnal'ilerns
Exceplional — impairmeni 10s5 on koan ta joinl venlure
.Exr;eplional — software expenses ‘ -
Operating profit

Share of net profil of assodales and joint ventures.
lPI'foll on disposal of subsidiaries o
Prafit befors interest

Flnance In:.;ome

Finance costs

VPmﬂ.t before la‘xalion

I_nc.ume tax expense

Profit from continuing o;;eratiuns

Pro.ﬂt for the year attributable :.o:_

(:;wnefg of the parent

Non-conlrolling Interest

"Other comprehensive incgome

Hems thal will or may be classified lo profit and Joss:

Exchange differences on fe-ir; ion of foreig “.:'_
, Htems thal will not be cfa#wed to ,;mfi: and I;)sx

R;me-asuramenl of 'post-en:npioymunt 5§nei’rl abligation, net of tax

Total compr.ehensive income erw the year

Tatal comprshenstva.incorr;e for the year attribirtable to;

Owners of the parent .

Non-cantrolling interest

Thie notes on pages‘sa i 90 farm part of these financial statements.

20214

. 2022
Note - _ £600s £000s
"4 1,936,488 1,933,017 .
a (7isses (1733 335)
4 2799 199,682,
4 . ($66,424] (145.561)
7 1045 3,892
4 ‘ Bss oy
4 | 53,396 54,841
1M1 {13,603) [9,983)
11 C- (2.544)
4 40,387 42,314
LN 2,625 2,909
16 649 6,070
. " a3est 51,383
8 a 10,383 m.:u;
B (3,081 (7.909) .
4 50,993 53,816
12  (1s,988) " (11,041)
35,2367 . 42 468
_ 29y 308
35,007, 42,776
5,227 2.311)
901 (o1}
- 41,135 40,373
41,281° 40.064
(1ds} . 309
41,438 40,373
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Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2022

31 December 31 December

) ]
) 2022 2021
Note £00Ds . _EODO
Morn-current assets . i ‘ ’
Property. plant and equipment : : L 5! 26,933 T 2285
Intangible assets ‘ . C e ’ 51,948 51418
Detersed tax assels ) - ’ : 12 : 7,903 . 6,208
Investmenis in joint venlures & associates ’ i8 " g4 . 1,341
Other invesiments . ' ' . - ) 18 N 11,314 . 12,998
Restricted cash . A o 7 : 244 : -
Trade and other receivables : : : g 600 . 1,198
. ! ' 89,947 96,821
Current assots : s '
Trade and cther recaivables ) ) L 637,004 ‘ 623,847
Davelopment Inan to joint vanture : ' 20 " 24,430 60.352
Development work in progress ’ - . 2% ' 7,494 12543
Asselofa ;ﬁlspasal group classified as held for sale . . - 25 - . ’ 932
Current tax assels o . Coaass 5578
Restricled cash : ’ ) 27 . " 26,284 237
Cash al bank ' : ' . 159,574 164,868
. ‘ | 876,536 © 7 seB ATy
Current labilittes _ ' : I : ' o )
Trade and olher payables ' ‘ . ) 2 , {714,129) (747.782)
Provisions . ‘ » 22 “19,334) {12,483
Liabililies of a disposal groug classified as held for sale. 25 o - ' (776)
Financial iabilites® T . ' 23 (473) (2.320)
Current tax liabifiies * ) ‘ : ‘ (1.406) | - (13.281)
Lease liabililies & borrowings ‘ . 24 . ' {54,413} {45,212
__— ' . : (702,454 [791,644)
Net current assels . - 94,082 | 78633
Total assets lass current liabililles i 194,029 173,454
Non-current Ilahillu'gs : -_ ’ o '
Trade and olher payables . o Co. . 11 L (521") : -
Provisions : . 2z ' (88,3951 . (83.863) "
Financial liabilities - . ’ n R {181) - (6,418)
Lease: liabiliies & borrewings . ' u 118,386 © 20877
Deferred tax Hatiliies ‘ : 2 L oasm {1,227y
Net assets o ] . ) . ) 84,029 61,671
Capital and resarves . . .
Sharé capital : - ’ . 2 ) 1,000 1,000,
Forelgn exchange resanve ' . ) ‘ . {589} . {5,683}
Relained eamings . ~ L ) B ) 82,570 . ) 64,383 ’
" Equity sharehalders’ funds ' : . ‘ ’ . s2.981 . " 59,700
Nen-conlrolfing intarests ‘ ’ . _ ) 1,048 . 1,871
84,029 $ 81,571

————— e—————————

Thase financial statemenis of Mace Limited [Company rivmber 02410628) were approved by \he direclors, authorised for issue on 7 July 2025, and are signed an their
. behalt by: . . . . . R )

M RM Do,

Mark Reynolds David Alien
Chief Executive Cfiicar Chiel Financial Offlcer

The noles on pages 39 to €0 lerm part of Ihese financial statements.
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Mace Limited

‘Company statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2022 ‘

A ’ . . o ) 31 December 31 December
' 2022 | . 2021
" Note - £000s ' £000s

Non-current assets . C ’ : -
Pigperty, piant and equipment - e 13 o o 22,757 19,196
Intangible assets : C 14 19,713 o 20,244

. Deferred iax assels . o 12 S 1,143 ' "2,716
fnvesiments in submdtanes : - o ' 18 : . - 30,380 . - 12,049 -
Trade and other receivables . 18 . B 600 . 1199

. ' 74,593 55,404
-Current assets . ) . . ' .

. Trade and other receivables . 19 ' " 538,219 607,524
Assels of a disposal group classsﬁed as held.for sale 25 E . 1,713 ’

Restricted cash ' ’ 11,104 . -

Cash at bank = - . . s . 4811 5822
: : 655,847 . - 513,346

Current liabilities ‘ ) _

Trade and other payables o . 21 . (456,538} {508,069)

Pravisions R : 22 - (766) (10,508)

. Financlal Liabiities. - 23 o m CLey -
“Current tax liabliities ' " T o (539 - S (Az9%)
Lease [iabilities & borrowings ‘ .24 {69,150) __@ra0n)

: ‘ . : (526,895} . . {549,484}
Net current assets - T ' o 28,852 . . 63862

. Total assets less current liabilities ’ . ' : 103 445 ) ) 119,266
Mon-current liabilities . . . .

Trade and other payables . . 21 ‘ (527) -
Provisions : L 22 ‘ {83,408)' T (74,346
Lease labilities & bnrrowings 24 ) {17,525) ) (18,985}

- Nt assats - : A o " 1,885 - ' 25.935

" Capital and reserves ] i .

Share capital I o 2 ' 1,000 .. 1,000
Retained earnings - ] ] o ) 985 24,935 N
Equily shareholders’ funds _ o ' : ' 1,985 258935

A separate profit and loss account far the Company (Company number 02410626) is not presemed as permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act
.2006. The loss after taxahon of the Company was £6.0m {2021 profit: £9.3m) and total comprehensnve losses was .EG Om (2021 profit; £8.3m).

* These financial slatements were approved by tne directors, authorised for issue on 7 July.2023 and are slgned on thelr behalf by:

K%Jm

Mark Reynolds David Allen
Chisf Executive Officer Chief Financial OFficer

The noles on pages 39 to 90 form ba’d of lhese financial statements. )



Mace Limited

Consolidated statement of cash flows
Year ended 31 December 2022

Cash flows !r.om operating acl.iuities'

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and EqUIpmenl and |nlang|bie assels
Acaqiisilion of subsidiaries .

Disposal of subsidiaries

Acquisitian of investments

Dividends from joint ventures
"Proceeds from dlsposa|s of property, plant and equipment and Inlanglble

assels

Change in cash within assels held for sale
Net cash used in from invasting activities

Cash flows from financing activities 7
Dividends paid to Company sharehalders,
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
Contribution of employee benefit scheme
Repayment.of borrowings

Repayment of lease liabilities

Net cash movement fram financing activntles

Net increasel (dectease) in cash at bank and bank uverdrafts
Cash at bank and bank overdraﬂs at beginning of year
Effects of currency translation on cash at bank and bank overdraﬂs

Cash at bank and bank overdrafts at end of yéar

Cé_sh at bank and bank-obgr& rafts -

- Cash at bank
Reslricted cash
Bank overdrafts

The notes on pages 39 to 90 are ah integrai pan of these consolidated financial statemaens.

Note

27

16

18

25

27
24

Year ended

. Yearended

31 Oecember 31 December
2022 2021
£0005 £000s
56,624 . 38,653
{5,836} “ (7,005)
(7,279) (6,001)
82 8818

- (2,882)

2,524 4,406
‘451 -

- - _(:54)

. ' _(40,056) . (2920) -
{18,000} (15.643)
(677 c .

-  (7,639)

. - {123,044)
{5,134) {3,568)
{23,811) (149,886)
22,655 (114,253)
125,003 243,515
+(3,730) - {4,189)
144,018 125,093
2022 2021
£000s £000s
159,974 - 164,888
26825 : 237
{2,481 _{40,032)
144 018 125,093
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Mace Limited

Consolidated statemént ofcﬁanges in equity
Year ended 31 December 2022 :

' Foreign - _ Non-
Share Exchange . Retained  Atiributable  Controlling
Capital Reserve Earnings to Owners Interest ~ ‘Total
b . P

: - £000s - ___£000s . £000s £009s * £Q00s £000s
Equity sharehiolders’ funds as at T January 2021 | 1,000 * {3,416) . 44,641 42,234 1,688 43,919
Profit aRer lax for lhe year . . . .- 42,486 42486 309 42,775
oR’elr;Tasurgmgpl of post-employmenl benefit scheme, net R - (91) . (e4) ’ - 91}
Relranslalion loss - - (2,273) ‘ - {2,213 . (38) {2,311)
Total comprehenslve income for the year . - (2273) - 42875 - 40102 Fral 40,373
Atquisition of subsidlary - - . B 624 624
Disgosal of non-controlling interest i L - - . - . - (69) {£9)
'Condribution to employee benelit trust ) - ’ - " (7.633) (7.633) - {7633
Dividends paid K o ' - - (15,000 {15,000) (643) . (15843
Equity shareholdars’ l|:|nd= as at 31 pgcembar 2024 1,800 {5,683) 64,383 559,700 1,871 61,571
Profil after tax for the year . . . . 35,286 36,286 @9 35,007
Remeasurement of post-employment henefit schem.e - - " @80 i 980 oL 980

Tax on rameasurement of posl-employment beraiit . .
obiigation o o - . (78) (79) - 79}
Retransialion gain . N . - 5,099 R 5,004 133 - 5,227
Totai comprehensive Income for the year , - 5,004 36,197 41,281 (14Sf 41,135
Dividends paid ) . - - (18,000) (48,000 . 77 {18,677)
Equily sharehglders' funds as at 31 December 2022 . 1,000 ’ {589) . 82,670 B2 984 1,048 84,029

The notes on pages 39 to 90 are an integral pan of these consofidated financial statemenis.



Mace Limited

Company statement of changes in equity
Year ended 31 December 2022

Retained ’

Share Capttal Earnings Total

. EDDDs' £000s £000s

Equity shareholders’ funds as at 1 January 2021 ' 1,000 348,267 39,267
{iroﬁl afier tax for the year ) - 8,301 9.3ﬂ

Total) ccmprel:lensive Income for the year. - 9,301 9,301

Dividends paid (£15 per share) .. - (15,000) . {15,000

Ct;nlribuiiun to employee benefit trusl . - {7.633) 17,633)
Equity shareholders’ funds as at 31 Decembar 2021 1,000 24,935 25935

l:oss afler lax for the year ’ - (5.850) (5,950)

Total.comprehensive losses for the year - (5,950} (5,950)

Dividends paid (£18 per share) | ] - (18,00m) [48,000)

" Equity stacenaidecs’ funds ai at 31 Decamber 2022 1,000 585 1,985

The neles on pages 39 to 90 are an_ihtegral part of these consclidated financial slatements.
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Mace Limited . ' s . . :

Notes to the financial ;tétements
Year ended 31 December 2022

1. Accounting pelicies

General information ' ' }
Mace Limited {the "Company®} is a prJvate limitad Company Incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The address of the regislered
office is 155 Moorgate, London ECZM 6XB. The prm(:!pal activities of the Group and the Company are detailed in the directors’ Report.

The functional currency of the parenl Company is pounds sterlmg because that is the currency of the prmary econamic environment in which
the Group operales. Pounds sledmg is also the presentatlon currency of the Gompany and Group. The amounls stated are denominated in
thousands (£’ OOU) B

Basis of preparahon -
The consolidated financial statemenis have been prepared in aocordance with UK-adopled |niernahonal accounting standards and with the.
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The consolidated financial statemenis have been prepared on a going concern basls under the historical cost convention, as modlfed by the
revaluation of fmancml assets and liabilities {including derivaive financial instrumants) al fair value through prufl and loss.

The separale Fnanclal stalements of the Company are presanted as‘required by the Compames Act 2006, The Company meels the definitien
of a qualifying entity under Financial Repofting Standard {FRS) 100 Issued by the Financial Reparting Counci. Accordingly, in the year ended

31 December 2022 the. Company reportéd under FRS 101 as issued by the Financial Reporting Council, which does not resull in any change
in the amounts presented because the Company's accounting poiicnes under FRS 101 are consistent with those described in the Group S
-consolldated financial statemenis under UK-adopted international accounting standards.

As permilted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure axernphons available under that standard:

+ The requirements of paragraphs 91 |0 99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement,

+ The requirements of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows;

» The requirements of paragraph 17 and 18A of |AS 24 Related Party Disdosures;

« The requirements in JAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions entered into between lwo or more members of
a group, provided that any subsidiary which is a party to the lransaction is wholly owned by such a membar;

« The requirements of the second sentence of paragraph 110 and paragraphs 113(a), 114, 115,118, 115(a) 10 (c),120 to 127 and 129 of
IFRS 15 Revenue from Conhtracts with Customers;

«  The requirements of paragraphs 134(d)-134(f) and 135(c}-135(e) of IAS 36 Impaimment of Assels;

+ The requiremenis of IAS 8 to disclose the delails of standards issusd but not yet effective and the likely |mpacl and

» The disciosure requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments, other than those required by law;

where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the consolidated ﬁnanclal statements,

In addition tc the application of FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of Section 40& of the Act and consequently lts slaternent of
comprehensrve income (including the prol" t and loss account) is not presented as par‘t of these financial statements

Going concern .
The directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Group's 2022 nnancial statements.

" The directors have carrled out an assessmenl on the Group's ability to conllnue as a going concern for the period of at feast 12 months frem
lhe dale of appraval of the financial statements. The assessmen! has considered:

The fikelihood of the principal risks of tha Group occurring;

Current liquidity lzvels and finang¢ing arrangements,; |

The most recent unaudited trading parformance of the Group at the point at- whlch the assessment took place, being March 2023;
The anticipated resuits for the 2023 and 2024 financia! years with reference to sscured levels of work; and .

The tatal value and phasing of the Group's forward erder book. .

In performing their assessment, lhe diractors have modellsd the lmpact of the occurrence of five adverse scenarics, which were selected
through z detalled review of the Group's principal risks. The impact of the foliowing five risks on the Group's financial performance and liquidity
has bean assessed al varying lavels of severity:

A reduction in unsecured work; ' "
_+ Infationary Increases above assumed forecast levels for all categorles of cost;
+ " Anincrease in base rates (SOMIA)J;
+ Delays In receipts from key customers®; and -
+  Delays in investment payback™.

*These scenarios replicate the |mpacl afa mgmfcant delay in cash receipls whach could be applicable in a range nf different scenanas to those
described.

in ihe most severe of these scenarios, the Group is still expected to remain pmﬁlable retain suffctent liquidily to operale efficiently and
remain wilhin its banking covenants throughout the going concern period. The direclors also consider thal a wide range of miligating actions
weould be avallable 1o miligate any adverse scenario. .
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Mace Limited

Notes to the financial statements {continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

1. Accounting poficies (continued)

Basls of consolidation :
-The Group financial statements incorporate the resulls of Mace Limited, its subsidlary undertakings and the Group's share uflhe results of
joint ventures and joint operations. Subsidiaries are alt entities over which the Group has control.

The power over relevant activities, exposure aor right to vanable returns from its involvernent with an invastee, and the abllrly io influence
‘those returns, are considered when assessing whether the Group conlrols another entity. Subsidiaries are Tutly cansolidaled fram lhe date
on which control is (ransferred to the Group, until the date that control ceases.

The dcquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisitiun_ of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is
measured at the fair value of the assels transferred, equity instrumenls issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange.
Costs directly aflributable ta the acquisition aré expensed lo the income statement. The identifiable assels acquired and liabilities and
confingenl liabilities assumedin the business combination are measured inilially at their fair vajues at the acquisition dale, irrespective of
any non-controlling mleresi. The excess of cost of scqu:smon over the fair value of the Group's share of the idantifizble n&t assets acquired
is recarded as goodwill..

Inter-Campany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminaled. Unrealised losses

.are also eliminated but considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting pelicies of aéquired subsidiaries are changed
where ngcessary, o ensure cansistericy with poficies adopted by the Group. Alf subsidiaries of the Group are included within the
_consolidated financial ‘statements. .

Changes lo accounting policies as a result of new standards i$sued and effactive

Changes to accounting pohcles as a result of new standards Issued and effective do not have a maleral impact on the consolidated financial
-staternents,

Standards and mterpretatlons lssued but not’ yet effective’

A number of new standards and amendments to existing standards have been published whlch are mandatory but are not effective for the
year ended 31 December 2022. The directors do not anticlpate that the adoption of these revised slandards and interpretations will have a
significant impact on the figures included in the financial statemeits in,the period of initial application.

Revenue and margin recognition

Revenue is measured under IFRS 15 at an amount tha reflects the considiration to which the Group expecls 1o be enlitied in exchange for
those goods of services in the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and ather sales related tax. Revenue is recognised in the
period i which the performance obligations are satisfied. Margin is calculated by reference to total project revenue fess costs incurred o
deliver the services. The differert types of conlract lypes are described below wilh reference to our operating engines:.

Develop-coniracts

The Develop engine celivers development managemenl as a sewvice and develops real eitate assets. Contacls for development
management services are typically trealed as having one performance obligation but may be priced basad on time and matariats, a fixed
fee or a variable fee based on total project cost. Revanue Is calcutated on the same basis as the consult contracis detailed above.

Develop contracls may include performance obligations delivered at a point in time, in which case revenue is reéognised at the point,
olherwise they wilt be treated as belng deliverad over time in accordance with typical ongomg service type contracts.

Revenue deriving from the sale of land or property is recognised when control has been passed ta the buyer the amount of revenue can be
refiably measured and it is probable that fhe economic benefits associated with the transaction wiil flow to the Group. Sale of goods revenue

is recognised at legal completion in respect of the totat proceeds of building and development. Revenue is measured at an amount that’

reflects the consideration ta which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for the property, nel of discounts and VAT. Cost of sales is
also recognised at legal compietion, when fhe goods are sold, and until then the costs are recurded within Oevelopment WIP anthe ba[ance
sheet.

Incame lrcm leases wﬁeré a member of the Mace Group is a lessor is covered in the accounting policy for leases.

- Consuft con(racts
Consult contracts include those for praject and programme management cosl consultancy and adwsory semvices. Conlracls ¢an have
multiple performance obligalions depending on the nature of the services being provided. These can be clearly dislinguished as they are
lypically separately identifiable deliverables or services with a fee specmcally altributable to them. Almost all consultancy prcuecls are
deemed lo be defivered over time, in ‘accordance with the benefils being transferred to the client over lime, unless there is a distinct
defiverable, and the fee is contingent on the deflivery of the finished product.

" The most common type of conlract for consuliancy services are time and materials. Satisfaction of the performance obligations are measured -

using the input method, whereby they are based on direct labour houss, time elapsed or resolrces consumed, and therefore revenue is
recognised over lime as the sefvices are delivered with reference to these inputs. These types of contracls are often service agréements
with calf offs in the forms of task orders which act as a variation or extension to the eriginal agreement. Depending on the specifics of the
call offs, they may be treated as oné performance obligation or they may be treated as separate, and revenue.is therefare recognised
accordingly. Where there is mere than one performance obl:galion contract cosis are recorded separalely in order lo calculate the expecaed
margin attibutable 1o each. .

Some consultancy contracts are ﬁxed fee or fixed hourly rate. Salisfaction of the perlormance obiigations are measured using outputs such
as scope deliverables or conditional milestones reached and therefore revenue is reoogmsed over time as the services are deiivereg with
reference lo lhe extenl lo whlch these oulpuls or condilions are being completed or met.
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Mace Limited
Notes to the financial statements {continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

1. Accounting policies (continAued)

Revenue and margin recognition {continued) . ’ ] -

Variable consideration is included in the transaction prfce only to the extent that il is highly probabte that a s;igniﬁdanl reversal wili not be
required wlien (he unceriainties determining the level of variable consideration are subsequentiy resolved,

If contracts cortain an element of risk and reward, an estimate’ of the risk is ingluded in the contract cost price as soon as it's déemed
probable, while anticipated reward and performance bonuses are only recognised at the point that they are agreed by the cusiomer.

Construct contracls : . . . . ’ .

A significant percentage of the Group's revenue is derived from construction contracts. The majority of contracts are considered lo caniain
only one performance obligalion for the purposes of recognising revenue. While the scope of works may include a number of different
components, in the context of construction activilies.these are usually highly Interrelated and produce a combined output for the customer.

- Contracts are {ypically saiisfied over lime. For fixed price construction cenlracts, progress is measured through a valuation of the warks
undertaken by a professional quantily surveyor, including an assessment of any elements for which'a price has nol yet been agreed, such
as changes in scope. For cost relmbursable contracls, progress is measured based on the costs incurred to date as a propartien of the
estimated fotal cost and an assessment of the final céniract price payable. . .

Variations o the original contract sum are not included in the estimated tatal contract price until the customer has agreed the revised scope
of work. Where the scope has been agreed but the corresponding change in price has not yet been agreed, only lhe amount that is
considered highly probable not Lo reverse in the fulure is included in the estimated tolal contract price. Where delays to the programme of
works are anticipated and liquidated damages would be contractually due, the estimated total conltract price is reduced accordingly. This is
anly miligated by expected extensions of time or commercial resolulion being achieved where it is highly probable that this will not lead lo
a significant reversal in the fulure.

In order to recognise the profit aver time, it is nacessary to estimate the tolal costs of the contract, These éstimates take account of any
uncertainties in the cost of work packages which have not yet been let and materials which have not yet been pracured, the expected cost
of any acceleration of or delays to the programme or changes in the scope of works and the expected cost of any reclification works during
the defect’s liabifty period. Once the outcome of a construction coniract can be estimated reliably, margin is recognised in the income
statement in line with the cerresponding stage of-completion. Where a contract is forecast to be loss-making, the full loss is recognised

" immediately in the income statement. Uninvoiced amounts relating to construction contracts are presented in the statement of financial
position as contract assets. : .

Onerale contracts i . : ’
Opevate contracts include fees far facilities management, helpdesk and consultancy services. Due to the diversily of services delivered, the
_ division uses different types of contracts ta suit the differenl defivery and pricing arrangements.

Fixed price, cost plus and guaranleed.maximum price.contracts may be used and are all typically accounted for as a single perdformance
abligation. Even when & contract includes an amay of different service lines, they are considered to fonm a single performance obligation,
malching the intent of the conlract. . N - . C

For fixed price contracts, the Group typically receives payments from the customer based on a contractual schedule of value that reflecls

. the timing, perfarmance of service delivery and achievernent of key performance indicalors (KPI's). Cost plus .contracls will include
contractual entitlement te bill clients based on costs incurred plus an agreed mark up or al an agreed charge out rate. Guaranteed maximum
price contracts will also be billed based on-a cost-plus basis but capped' at the agreed contractual price. In the event that a guaranteed
maximum price contract reaches the capped amouat, this is the maximum amount of revenue thal can be recognised, unless the maximum
price is increased farmally through a change conlrol process. During the duralion of these contracts these are subject ta change, following
an agreed change control process, where such changes shall alter the price up or dawn. In all instances, revenue is recognised aver time
in accordance with the conlract and un-invoiced amounis are presented as accrued income.” ’

Conlract cosls ) : : .

Costs to oblain a corlracl are expensed unless they are incremental, i.e.-they would not have been incurred if the contract had not been
obtained, and the conlract is expected lo be sufficiently profitable far them to be recovered. Costs to fulfif a contract are expensed unless
they relate to an identified contract, generate or enhanca resources that will be used ta satisfy the obligations under the contract in fulure
years and the contract s expected to be sufficiently profitable for them to be recovered. Where ¢osts are capilalised, they are amortised
aver the shorter-of the periad for which revenue and profit can be forecast with reascnable certainty and the duration of the contract except
where the contracl becomas lass-making. If the contract becomes loss making, all capitalised costs related to that cantract are expensed
immediately. : ’ o

Where work has been carried oul, but applications have not been appfiad for or certified, tha value of the work is recognised as a contract

asset Until the right payment becomas uncanditional. This differs to classification as contraci receivables which relate to accrued incame for
work performed where the right to payment is unconditiona), E , )

Pl
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Mace Limited

Notes ta the financial statements (continued)
Year ended 31 December2022

1. Accounting policies {continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonab!e assurance that the cnnd!tlons will be met. Government grants are either
recorded in other income or teporied to offse! the relevant cosl, depending on the type of grant. Government grants are recognised
to match the associated cosl other than where expendilure has already been incurred, in which case they are recorded in the profit,
and loss immediately. Where government grants are repaid ta clients, this is recorded as a reduction in revenue. Where government
loans have not yet been approved as granis, Ihese are veporied as a loan balance wilhin loans and borrowings on lhe balance sheet.

No guvemmeni granls have been received in relalion to assets.

‘Other Income :
Cther Income is income derived from aciivities unrelated to the main focus of the business, such as rental income, management fees,
insurance lncome or income from gaovernment grants whese relevant.

Divlslonal lnformaﬂon

IFRS 8 requires an entity whose debt or equily securities are publicly traded to disclose informalion to enable users of its financial

statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the different business acliviies in which it engages and lhe diferent econammic

environments in which it-operates. Although Mace is nol required to report segmental information, divisional information has been

included in these financial statements to provide more ‘detail on the financial results of the main operating divisions or engines.

Qperating divisions are reported in a manner cansistent with the interat reporling provided t¢ the Board. The MES is respansible far
- alloc:atmg resources and assessing performance of the operating divisions.

The Group has bresented disaggregation in Iine with the divisional analysis as shown in aote 4. Material differences in risk between .
the diffarent revenue streams have been captured by the Group's operating divisions as this best dep:cts how the nature, liming and
amount of reveriue and cash flows are affected by econamic factors.

Assets and liabilities held for sale

Assets and liabilities are classified as held-for sale if it is highly probable that they will be realised through sate rather than continued
use. These assets or dispusai groups are recognised at the lower of thefr carying amounlts or fair values less cosls to sell. Any
impairment loss of a disposal group is firstly attributed {o goodwill and then to the remaining assels and liabilities on a proportional
basis, wilh the exception that no Joss is attributed to financial assels, defered tax assets, assels in connection with employee benefits
or investment property that.continues to be measured based on the Group's other accounhng policies, lmpairment icsses on the first-
time classification as held for sale and any subsequent impairment IOSses are recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets hekl for sale and property, plant and equnpmenl are no Ionger amortised or depreciated and any investments
. recognlsed using lhe equity method are no longer equity accounted

Discontinued operations

A discontinued cperalion is a part of Ihe Group that has either been sold of has been categorised as held for sale, and which:
+ represents a major ling of business or a geographical area of operations;

« , is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate, major line of business or geographical area of operations; or
« s 3 Subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view ta resale.

W an operalion is classified as a discontinued operation, the consolidated statemen! of comprehensive income as well as the data
relating 10 it for the comparative year is adjusted so that it was as if the operation had-been disconlinued frem the start of the
_ comparative year.

Goodwill and other Intangible assels
- Goadwill tepresents the future economic benafits arising from assets acquired in a business combmalnun lhat are not individually
identified and separately. recugn!sed Goodwilt is carried al cost less accumulated |mpa|rmant losses,

Goodwili is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment al least annually. Forthe purpose of impainment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash generating units {CGU) expected to beneiit from the synergies of lhe combination. CGUs to which the -
goodwill has been allocated are tested. for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may he
Impaired. If the recoverabls amount or fulure economic benefits from the CGU is less than the camying.amount of the unit, the
impairment lass is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated ta the unit end then to the other assels of the .
Anit pro-rata on the basis of the tarrying amaounl of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognlsed for goodwill is not reversed’
in & subsequent period. On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goudwm is included in the determination of the. profit
or loss on disposal. .

Soﬂware s fecognised as an in!angl”n!e assel. [l is recognised al cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amaortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. The eslimated useful life and amorisation method are
reviewed al the end of each reporting persiod, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on prespeclive basls.
The estimated useful lives for the Group's finite lifs intangible assets are 3, 6 or 10 years.depending on the expected useful economic
life of the mtangmle assets..Amortisation is racognised i administralive expenses. Amortisalion of intangible assels commences once
the asset is in the condition and location to be used as inlended by managemenl. Assels under construction, such as the assels
associated with 1he implementation, are nol amorlised.

.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated deprecialion and any recognised |mpasrment loss. Depreciation of ~
tangible fixed asseis commences once the asset is inthe condmon and location o be used as intended by management Assets under
cohstruction, are not depreciated.

Depreclation is calculated so as to write off the cast of a tangfble asset Iess its estimated resndual value over the estlmated useful
economic life of that asset of the following basis:

. Riéht of use assets ' : Qver the period of the lease, to the braak clause assumption

Leasehold improvements " Qver the periad of the lease on a'straight-lin'e basis, lo the first break clause
Plant, moter vehicles and equipment 10% to 20% per annum on a straight-line basis

Computer equipment 25% per annum on a straight-line basis*

Freehold property 5% per annm on a straight-line basis

*Computer equipment additions prrur to the ¢hange in eslimate effeclwe from 1 Jandary 2022 are depreciated at33% per annum on
a stralght-fine basis. E

The estimated useful ives, residual values and depreciation me!hod are rewewed at the end of each reporting penod with the effecl
of any changes in estimate acccunled for on a prospective basis.

An itam of propenty, plant and equipment is de- recognrsed upan drsposal or when no fulure econornic benefits are expec!ed to arise
from the conlinued use of the asset. The gain or lass arising on the disposal or scrappage of an assel is determined as the difference
belween the sales praceeds and the carrying amounl of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impalrment of property, piant & equmment and intangible assets exciuding goodwiil

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assefs are reviewed for impainment if events or changes in cicumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverabie, or where there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in a previous period
either no longer exisls or has decreased. When a review for impairment is conducled, the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-
generaling unit is determined as the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-ln-use .

The value-in-yse estimale i5 calcutated vsing discounted cash flows and reviews in conjunctlon with the carrying amounts of tangible
and intangible assets. Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from cther assets, the Group estimates
the recoverable amounl of the CGU ta which the asset belongs. When 2 reasonable end consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocaled to individual CGUs, or.they are allocated to Ihe smallest group of CGUs for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is tested far impalrmenl
al least annually and whenever there is an indication that the assel may be impaired. .

Leases
Where the Company is a lessee, a right-of-use asset and lease Ilabal:ty are recognised at the oulset of the lease. The lease liability is
B mlhally measured at the present value of the lease paymenis that are not ;‘3ajd at ihal date based on lhe Group's expectations of the
. likelihood of laase extension or break options being exercised, The lease liabilily is subsequently adjusted to reflect impuled interest,
payments made to the lessor and any lease meodifications. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the
amount of the lease liability, any lease paymenis made at or before the commencement date, less any lease ingenlives received, any
initial direct costs incutred by the Group and an estimate of any costs that are expected lo be incurred at the end of the lease to
dismanlle or restore lhe assel. The right-oi-use asset is subsequently depreciated in accordance with the Group's ‘accounling policy
on property, plant and equipmant. The right-of-use asset is also reviewed for impairment. The amount charged to the incorme staterment!
comprises the depreciation of the right-of-use asset and the imputed interest on the lease Ilablmy Where a lease Is for a term of less
than 12 months or the lease is of a low value, the lease cost is recorded as an expense in lhe income stalement when the cost is
incurred. .

Where the Cempany is a lessor, rental income from opeiating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Lease income is recognlsed in revenue where It is part of the care operatlons of the business, otherwrse it Is recognised-in other
income.

Retirement benefit costs

The Group conlribules to-the personal pensien p!ans of certain emgloyees on a def'ned ‘contribution basis. The assets of these
schemes are held in indepandently administered funds. The pension cost charged in the financial statements represents the
contributions payable in the year. Differences between contributions payable in the year and contributiens actually paid are shown as
either prepayrnenls or accruals in the statement of financial position.

Post-employment benefits
" In some areas where Mace operatss, lhers is a legal requirement to pay an end-of service benefit to employees at the end of their
employment, where they have completed at least one year of employment. The obligation is accounted for as a defined benefit post-
- employment benefit with the expecled liability accrued over the leam of employment. Remeasurements, comprising of actuarial gains
and losses, are recognised immediately in the statement of financial position with a-cerresponding debit or credit to retained earmngs
through other comprehensive income in the penod in which they occur. Remeasurements are not reclassnl'ed to profit ar Ioss in
subsequent penods
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1. Accounting policies {¢ontinued)

Equity compensation plans

Execulive directors and senior management have been granted share options under the Group share oplion scheme for equity in the
Company. They have also been granted share appreciation rights and shares on both restricted and unrestricted terms in return for
service. At Ihe grant date, the fair value of the oplions or the shares is measured and recognised over the period until the options vest

or the shares become unrestricted as an employment expense, with a cnrrespondlng increase in equily for restricted and unrestricted -

shares, while for share appreciation righls the corresponding increase is in liabilities The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted
to reflect the aclual number of share aoptions thal vest.

The total amaount lo be expensed is delém‘cined by reference to the fair value of the oplicns or the shares granled;
. {a) including any markel performance conditions;

(b) excluding the impact of any non-market performance vesling conditions, such as profilabilily levels, sales growth targels and
- continuing service; and - .

{¢) including the impact of any non-vesting conditions, such as any savings requitements,

Non-market performance vesting conditions are included in assump\lons about the number of options that are expectad to vest. The
tolal expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are 10 be

. satisfied. At the end of 2ach reporting periad, the Group revises ils estimales of the number of options that are expected td vest based
on meeting non-market performance vesting conditions. It recognises the impacl of the revision to vriginal estimales, |f any, in profit
or loss, with a corresponding adjusiment to eqmly and I\abﬂmes

The shares awarded and the shares subjeci to options have already been issued and are held by an Employee Benefit Trust (EBT).
\When the options are exercised, lhe ultimale parent Company requesks the EBT to award the shares. The praceeds received net of
any dlreclly attributable transactions costs are retained by the EBT

Other long-term employee benefits

Long term incentive plans have been introduced and aims to provide lang term incentives to those members of the MEB who are not.
-shareholders. The expecled cast should be recognised only when: 1) it has a legal or constructive obligation to make such paymenls
as a result of past evenis; and 2) a reliable estimate of the pbligation can be made.

The benefils are expected to be setiled more than 12 months after reporling period, and the amuunt is classified as “long-term incentive
accrual” under trade and other payables. .

" Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax curfently payable and deferred tax. The current tax payable is based an taxable prafit
far the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes llems that are never taxable or deduchble The
Group's llability for current tax is calculated uslng tax rates prevailing in the year.

Deferred 1ax Is the tax expecled lo be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the
statement of financial pesition Fability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences;
defeiredt lax assels are recegnised. o the extent that it is probable thal laxable profits will be available agains! which deduclible
temporary differances can be ulilised. Such assets and liabilities are not secegnised if the lemporary difference arises from the inilial
recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combinalion) of other assels and liabilities in a lransaclion
that affecls naither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. : '

Deferred tax is calculated at the lax rates that have been anacted or substantively enacted al the statement of financial posiliun‘dale '

" The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assels roflects the tax consequances thal would faflow from the manner in which the
Group expecls at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settie the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferrad tax
assels and liabilities are offsel when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax asseats against current tax liabilities and
when they relate to income laxes levied by the same taxation authorily and the Group intends to setue its current tax assets and
liabifities on a net basis.

Currert and defen‘ed lax are recogmsed In prof it or loss, except when they relate to ltems Ihat are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity,in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively. When current lax or deferred tax atises from ihe initial accounting for a business combinaticn, the tax effect is
inciuded in the accounting for the business combmahon

Development work in progress .

Development work in progress is held in relation to Develop contracts. Devebpment waork in progress is initially stated at cost and

then held as the lower of this initial amount and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct malerials and, where applicable, direcl

labour and thase overheads that have been incurred in bringing work in progress lo its present value. Cost also includes interesl
" incurred on extgrnal borrowings funding the projects, where these are gualifying assets under the |AS 23 requirements for
. capHalisation of borrowing cosls. Nel realisable value represents the estimated salling price less all estimated cosls of complellon to
" be incurred. -
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1. A’ccoun(ing policies {continued) : ’ R

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group's statement of financial position when (he Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The principal financial assets and liabilities of the Group are as follows:

8) Finarcial assets at amortised cost ’

Trade and other receivables are inifially recogmsed ‘al their ransaction price and are subsequenuy measured atamartised casi less any.
allowance for expected credit losses. Interest recogmsed on overdue trade receivables is recognised as other income, within operating
profit, .

The Group recognises lifelime expected credit losses for trade receivables, contract assets and {oans o joint ventures. The expecled
credit losses on lrade receivables are estimated using a prowsmn matrix based on the Group’s hislorical credil loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to'the deblors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as anticipated
future trading condilions al the reponting date.

b) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and .cash_equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposns with a’ malurlly of three monihs or less al inceplion. Bank .

" overdrafis are presented as currént liabilities lo the exlent that there is no right of offset with cash balances.

.

¢) Invesimenis

lnvestments in subsidiary underlaklngs ara stated at cost Iess any provisicn for lmpalfmenl Any cnntmgent consideration is recogmsed
as an accrual at the acquisition date and is measured at the present value of the expected settlement using a pre-lax discount rale that
reflects current market assessment of the time value of money. Tha increase in the accrual due lo the passage of time is recognised as
an interest expense. Any change to the value of conlingent consideration identified within 12 manths from the acquisition date is reflected
in the origina! cost of the investment, if # is a measurement adjustment in terms of IFRS 3. Subsequent changes to the value of cantingent
consideration are refected in the stalement of comprehansive income. .
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. This'is usually where the Group has a shareholding OE mare than 50%
bul there can be other aspects of the arrangement that can give rise lo control, Even though the Group holds 49% of the share capital
of Macro Qatar LLC, the Investmeni is classified as a subsidiary since 3 of the 5 direcloss of thé subsidiary are appointed by the Group
and Mace are respansible for appointing the general manager who has a wide range of duties lo control the operations oflhe Company.

_ 60% of the subsidiary’s profils are distributable to the Group.

Where the Company o Its subsidiaries has significant influence over an entaly no:mally being more than 20% and less than 50%, then
that investment is classified as an associate-and Is equity accounted for. Joint arangements in legal enfilies are classified as foint
ventures and are equity 2ccounted for. An equily Investment is initially recordad at cost and is subsequently adjusted to reflect tha share
of the net proﬁt or 1055,

Where the joint arrangement is not structured lhrough a separate vehicle the'se are normally classified as jolni operations. This applles
to mest of the unincorporated joinlt arrangements in note 31 other than Dubai Expo 2020, which is structured through a separate vehicie
sa is treated as a joint venture and amounts are reccgnised in relation to interest in the joint operation. The Group also assess the legal

- farm and contractual arrangement between the parties to determine whether the Group has the direct rights 1o assets and obligations

of the arrangemenl. Joint operations accounting includes recognising assets and liabilities based on its share of any assets and liabilities
held jointly, recogmsmg revenue from the sale of ils share of the output of the joint operation and share of any expenses mcurred jointhy.

The Company asgesses investments for |mpa1rment whenever evenls or changes in circumstances mducate thal the carrying value of
an investment may have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the Company makes an estimate of the recoverable
amount, The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Value in use represents the discounted
net present value of expected fulure cash flows. If the recoverable amount is Jess than the value of the invesiment, the investment is
considered 1o be impaired and is written down {o its recoverable amount, and an impairment loss Is recognised |mmed|ateiy in the
statement of comprehenswe income of the Company. | -

d) Cther investments

This category includes an investment in Finsbury Tower thal is an equity investment carried in the staternent of financial position at fair
value with ¢hanges in fair value recognised.in the consaudated slatement of comprehenswe income as pan of operating profit (FVTPL).

&} Trade and other payables

Trade and olher payables are nol interest beanng and are staled initialty at fair value and subsequemty held at amortised cost.

f) Other bonrowrngs ' S . .

Interesi bearing borrowings are recorded al fair value (which is lypically equwalenl to lhe proceeds received) net of direct issue cosls

- and subsequently measured at amortised cosl. Finance charges, including premiums payable on settlement or ‘redemption and dirast

issue costs, are accounted for at amortised cost and on an accruals basis in the statement of comprehensive income using the effective

" interest method. Interest is added ta the carrying value of the instrument to the extent that they are not setlied in the pefiod in which

they arise.

g} Finencial liabilities end equify
Financial liabililies and equity are classified according te the subslance of the financial instrument's contractual obligatiohs rather than
the financial instrurment’s legal form. An equlty instrument’is any contract thal evidences a residuval mterest in lhe assets of the Group

after deducting all of its habllmes . . ) ) . .

The Company has guaranteed the liabilities of certain subsidiaries included within note 33.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

h) Equily instruments X
_Equity instruments issued by the Company are fecurded atthe proceeds received net of direct issue costs

i} Derfvalive financiai instruments '

Financial assels and liabilities are recognised on the Grnups staternent of financial position when the Group becomes party ta the
coniractual pravision of the instrumenl, The Group uses derivalive financial instruments to manage its exposure Lo foreign exchange
risks. In accordance with its ireasury policy, the Group does not hoid or issus derivative financial Instruments for trading purposes. As
the Group has nol adopled hedge accounting, fair value of derivalive con(racls are recognised as fair vaiue through proflt and loss.

Jj} Operating cycle :

The statement of financia! posilion classifies the Group and Company’s assets Ilahllltles as either current or non-current. In respect of
the Group/Company's construction business; centract related balances are typically classified as current when management expect
" these to be settiéd within its nermal operaiing cycle. Management have determined that the normal operaling cydle forthe construcﬂon-
busmess Is 41 months (2021: 37 months), being the 1yp:ca| length of a construclion contract. .

Fore1gn currencies

- Transactions denominated in fareign currencies are recorded al the exchangé rates in effect when lhey take place. Resulling foreign =
.currency denominated assels and liabilities are translated at the exchange-rates ruling al the reporting date. Exchange differences
arising from fareign currency transachans are reflected in the income stalement.

The assels and liabilities of overseas. subsidiary underakings are translaled al lhe rale of exchange ruling al the reporling date,
Trading profits or losses are translated at average rates prevailing during the accounting period. Differences on - exchange arising from
the Tetransiation of net investments in dverseas subsu:hary undertakings at the year-end rates are recagnised in other comprehenswe
income. All olher transtation dlﬂerences are reflected in the income statement.

Goodwill and fair value ad}ustmenls arising on the acqutsmon ofa forelgn operalion are lrealed as assels and iuab:hhes of the forelgn
operation ‘and transialed at the closing rate.

Provisians

Provisions for legal claims, defecls and warranhes and other onerous commalments are fecogmsed at the besl estimate cf the
expendilure required to settle the Group's Yiability. Provisions are recognised when: i) the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event: ii) it is probable thal an eutflow of resources will be required 1a settle the obligation; and iii) the |
amount of the obligation can be estimaled reiiably. Any insurance claims against third party resulting from legal claims, defects and
warranties follows the accounhng palicy far contingent assets below.

.Onerous conlract prowsmns arise when the unavoidable costs of meeting contractual obligations exceed the remuneration.expected

lo be receivad. Unavoidable costs inciude total contract costs together with an allocation of other cosls that relate directly to fulfiling

cantracls. The provision Is calculated as the lawer of the Iermlnaﬂon costs payable for an 2ary exit and the besl eslimate of net cost

to fulfil the'Group's unavcldable contract obligations.

Contingent liabilities ’ : i

Contingent lizbifities are possible obligations arsing from past, events whose existence will ohly be confirmed by future uncertain

evenis that are not wholly within the Group’s control, or present obligations where it is not probable that an outfiow of resources will

be required, or the amount of the obligation canncl be rel|ably measured._If the outflow of economic resources is not considered
" remote, contingent liabililies are disclosed but hot recognised in the i nancial statements.

Commgent assets

Contingent assets are possible assels thal arise I'rum past events, and whose exisience will be confirmed only by the occurrence or

non-occurrence of ane or more uncerain fulure events not wholly in the control of the enllly

itis probabie thal these amounls will be recognised in future penods when the uncertainty over their recoverablllly has been removed.
The amounls of such claims are disclosed as contingent asseis but not recognised in the financial statements. Insurance clalms are
recoegrised under IAS 37 when the economic benefit arising from the claims Is wnualJy cerain,

Dividends
Equity dividends are recognised when {hey become legaily payable Interim equity dmdends are lecogmsed when pald Final equily
dfvrdands are recognlsad when approved by the sharehoiders at an annual general rnee!mg

Use of noen-GAAP measures
In the reporling of financial information, the Group uses certain measures that are not required under IFRS, the Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (GAAP') under whrch the Group.repods. The Group befieves that operating profit before ‘exceplional items
- provides addilional useful information on underlying trends t6 he users of tha financial statements. This non-GAAP measure is used
by the Group for internal performance analysis. The term "exceptional ilems' and 'operating profil before exceplional items' are not a
definad lerm under IFRS and may lherefore not be comparable with similarly titled measures reported by other companies, They are
not intended to be a substitute'for, or superior lo, GAAP measures. The separale repornting of exceplional items, which arg presented .
as exceplional wilhin their relevant income slalement category, helps to provide an indication of the Group's underlying business
performance. The principat ftams which are included as exceptional iters are non-trading items such as profits and logses on the
disposa), closure or impairment of subsidiaries, joint ventures, associales, joint operations and investmenls or other exceplional wrile
offs or impairment, The term 'operating profit before exceptlunal items' refers lo the relevant measure belng reponed for continuing
operations exgluding axceplional items.
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2. Significant accounting estimates and judgements and key soureas of uncertainty

The preparation of financial stalemenls in conformity with IFRS requires the use of cerain critical accounling sstimates ard
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabllities, revenues and expenses and relaled disclosure of conlingent assets
and liabilities. Esfimates and judgements are continually made and based on historic experience and other factors, including
expeclations of future events that are beleved lo be reasonable in the circumstances. As the use of estimates is inherent In financial
reporting, actual results could differ from these eslimates. The direclors ‘believe the following to be key areas of estimation and
judgement. . .

Sources of estimation uncertainty:

8)

b)

c}

Eslimales of cost o complele and coniract provisions .

To determine the margin thal the Group is able to racognise on its constiuetion centracts in the reporting period, the Group has
to aliocate lolal costs of the consiruction contracis belween the proportion compleling in the periad and the proportion lo complete
in a fulure period. The assessment of the of tolal cost to be incurred and the finaf contract value requires a degree of estimaltion.

The estimation of fina) contracl value includes assessments of the recovery of variations which have yel to be agreed with the
client, but which meet the criteria set out in the Group's accounting policies and are in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracls with Customers. The consideration recognised is the amount which is highly probable not to result in 2 significant
reversal in future. At the reporting date, unagreed variations accounted for 2.28% (2021: 0.15%) of total contract revenue.

The largest camponen! of the cost ta complete are the agreed subcontract sums; the stage of completion of which is assessed as

.part of the Contract process. These amounts have a low level of estimation uncertainty and typically make up the bulk of the cosl

to complete. However, the cost to complete may also include provisional sums and provisions for cost, both of which reguire
estimation and judgement in order to esiablish the appropriate amount to recognise.

Provisionai sums atise when no subconiract has been entered into al the conlract date and so estimates of the likely cest are
required for the pumeses of establishing cost to complete, until such fime that subcontracis are enteredinto and the ultimate cosl
can be determined, Generally provisicnal sums are purpasely a minor component of the overall contract value, due to the inherenl
risk of entering into contracls withoul having cerainty of the outturn cost. :

Contract provisions are made in accordance with JAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assels and are
measured al the best estimate of the expenditure required Lo seltie obligations present at the reporting date. Contract provisions
may include estimates of rermediation works that could be required where defects are present or where insurance claims have
been made. The assessment of this cosl Is based on best estimates made by experienced senior management, on an individual
contract basis and with reference to relevant contract provisions and insurance excess premivms. Where the cost cannol be
reliably measured, and the ikelihood of incurring the cost enly considered possible rather than probable, estimated amounts are
disclosed as contingent liabililies, details of which are disclosed in note 22. . : :

Recaveries of thase amounts from insurers or third parties are trealed as a deduclion of cost rather than revenue and are only
recognised when recovery Is deemed to be virtually certain. Managemenl mitigates the degree of uncertainly by ensuring
estimates of recovary are produced by suitably gualified individuals and ara subject to thorough review by senior managament.
Insurance recoveries that are considerad probabiy recoverable but not vintually certain are disclosed as contingent assets. Detalls
of contingeni assels recognised in the year in relation to insurance matlers are disclosed in note 22,

Valuation of development work in progress and loan lo joint venture
The key estimates in determining the net realisable value of land and wark in progress are eslimales of
- Cosls to complete; and ' :

. The recoverable value.

These assessments include a degree of uncertainty, but relfiance is ptaced on third party valuations as the best estimale of the
market valse at the balance sheet date. These valuations are compared against the carrying amaunt of the assel. Where lhe
carrying amount is higher than the net realisable value, write-downs of land and work in progress may be necessary. The same
estlmalions-extend to the carrylng amount of the loan %o Joint veniure as the repayment of [oan is dependent on the valuation of
its developmant work in progress. The balance of work in progress assets and loan to joint venture are detailed in the development
work in progress note 20. - ’ ’
. -
Gooawill . - :
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the Cash Generating Units to which the

. goddwill has been allocated. The value requires an estimate {o be made of the timing and amount of future cash flows expected

d

to arise from the CGU and the application of a suitable dis¢aunt rale in order lo calculate the net present value. Cash flow forecasts
for the next five years are based on the Group’s budgets and forecasts. Other key inputs in assessing each CGU are revenue
growth, operating margin and discount rate. The significant assumpﬁpns are set outin note 14.

Fair value of investments s : :

The investment in Finsbury Tower is valued al fair value using a discounted cash flow approach, the inpuls of which are determined
using forecasts where management judgement is appliad in relation to assumptions on the timing for compietion and exiting the
investment, as weil as the senial yields used for determining the value of tha return on investmen!. The assumed £2.2m
undiscourted returh on investment is based onh the expected rate of return and assumes realisation of the investment in early
2024, factoring in (he potential for delays with a project of this scale. A one-year advarnce in exit date could increase the return up
to @ further £1.1m. A ane-year delay in the exit date assumption would reduce the return by £1.0m. Changes in the exit yield in
completion would also impact the value of the invesiment. The movements.on investrments in the year, including fair value
adjustments, are presented in the Invesiment note 18. - . . . :
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2,

Significant accounting estlmaies ang judgements and key sources of uncertainty (bonﬁnued}

Judgements made In applying accounting poficies:

)

a

Excepbonaf iferns ) *

Exceptional items are reported separately in ‘order to calculate adjusted results, as the Group believes these adjusted measures
provide additional.useful infoimation an conlinuing performance and trends. Judgement is required in determining whether an
itern should be classified as an axcepi:ona! item or included within adjusted results, The deﬁnmon of exceptional ilems is outllned
innote 1.~

Conlmgen! ligbilities and conlingent assets . .

Provisions are made using the direclors' best |udgemenls and eshmales ‘of known legal claims investigalions and legal actions
reialing to'lhe Group which are Gonsidared more likely than not to result in an outflow of economic benefil. If the directors consider
that a claim, investigation or action refating to the Group is unlikely to succeed, no provision is made. If the directors cannot make
a reliable estimate of a poiential, material-obligation, no provision is ‘made but details of the claim are disclosed es conlingent
liabilities. At 31 December 2022, the Company and Group had no contingent liabilities in relation to claims (2021: Enit).

The Group had contingent assets of £15.7m (2021: £15.4m) in relation to claims against thlrd-pames for the reimbursement of
costs on construclion-contracts. As at 31 December 2022, there were 6 ongoing matters that are disclosed as cnnhngen! assels
(2021: &). Under IAS 37 these amounts may only be recogmsed when the ecanomic benefit arising from the claims is virluafly
certain. It is probable that these amounts wilt be recognised in fulure pericds when the uncertainty ovar their recoverabilily has
been removed.

Assels and liabilities held for sale and dpplying the definilion of & disposal group -

The held for sale assets and liabilities held ai the 2021 year-end related to an investment in a subsidiary that is not a major kne
of business or geographical area of aperation for the Group and was nol acquired exclusively with lhe view Lo resale. It was
therefore not classified as a dlsnonlmued oparation, . .

Changes in accountmg estimates:

Revislon of uselul iives of compuler equipment

The estimated total usefut lives of computer equipment was revised from three to four years for additions from 4 January 2022.
The net effect of the change ln the current year financial year was a decrease in depreciation expense of £104, 000

Assurrung the assels are held until the end of their estimaled vseful lives, deprecialion in future years in relation {o these assets
will be Incteasedl’(decreased) by the fullowmg amounls; . -

Year ending 31 £'000

Dacember

2023 . (178)

2024 T {178)

2025 230 ,
2026 230

_ 3. Financial risk management

~ General

The Group has exposure to the fallowing risks from its conltracts with clients and suppliers and i!s use uf financial instruments:
a). . Inlerest rate risk,

b) © Credit risk; .
c) Liquidity risks; and .
d) Foreign currency and exchange rate risk;

The Board has overall respansibility for the establishment and cwerspghl of the Group s risk management fitamework. The Board
has esizblished a Group Assurance function which is responsible for developing and monitoring the Group's risk management
stratégy and policies The Group’s oversil risk tnanagement programme focuses on the unpredictabilily af financial markets and
seeks to minimise pdtential adverse effecls on the Group's ﬂnanclal performanca .

The Group and Company operate within financial risk policies and procedures approved by the Board. It is, and has been
throughaout the year, the Groug's policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undedaken. The Boaid provides written
principles for pverall risk rmanagement, as wel-as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest
rate risk, credit_risk, use.of darivative financial insiruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and investment of excess .
liquidity. The Group and Company financial instrumenls principally comprise bank borrowings, cash and cash equivalents,
receivables and payables, and foreign exchange farward contracts that arise diractly from its operations and its acquisitians.
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3. rinancial risk management (continued)

a) interest rate nisk
in 2021 the Group repaid lhe corporate bond and disposed of its investmenl in the special purpose vehicles that held the assets and
the senior debl facility of a portfolio of purpose-built student accommodaluon {PBSA) rooms in Cardiff and Exeter.

There was no external debt hek at 31 December 2021. On 28 January 2022 the Company procured two new 3 year commmed '
liquidity facilities. These facilities are ESG-linked facilities, The two facilities are:

+« A £10m unsecured revolving credit facitity (RCF) from BBVA, and

+ A £50m unsecured loan facility provided' by JP Morgan and with the support from the UK Expor( Finance.

" Both facilities are guaranteed by lhe Company and the mateiial subsidiaries of lhe Company The balance of external debt at 31
December 2022 was £30m.

The interest rate basis foi' buth liguidily fzcililies is SONIA plus a margin, and therefore the mleresl rate 1s variable. There is a
commllment fee payabile on undrawn but cornmﬁled amounts of between 35% and 40% of the margin-charged.

Tha lnleresl rate margin chargeable on the revalving credit faciln(y {RCF)is between 2.15% and 2, 85%. The margin will vary depandmg
on financial covenant targets for leverage and interest cover plus sustainability largets which cover the carbon reduction, Increased
use of renewable. energy and safety performance of the Group, measured by the three KP! measures which are embedded in the
facilily documents; the variability being up to plus or minus 5 basis points, The facility was undrawn al yar end.

The interest rate 'margin chargeabla on the unsecured lean. facility Is between 2.0% and 2.1%. The margin will vary depending
sustainability targets which cover the carban reduction, increased use of renewable energy and safety performance of the Group,

. measured by the three KP! measures which are embedded in the facility documents; the variability being up to plus of minus 5 basis
points. The rate charged al 31 December 2022 was 2.0%. .

'b) Credit nsk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade recewables and olher current assels with the exception of cash and cash
equivalents, which are predominantly he'd with JP Morgan, in respecl of which, the credit risk ansrng is considered low. The maximum
_exposure to.credit risk at the repomng date is the book value of each class of receivable listed in note 19.

*The d|rectors do not consider the Group to have any significant concentration of risk.In raspact of Irade receivablas, contract assets
or contract receivables at the balance sheet date. The diversified operating model of the Group is intended e safeguard the business
from risk anhd consequently receivables are spread across a wide range of clients, geographles and sectors.

The amount of trade receivables presented in the censolidated balance sheel is net of expecled credit loss. The Group applies' the
. IFRS 9 simplifiad approach ta measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss ailowance for all trade receivables,
contract assels and centract receivables.

"As at 31 Decembar 2021, the directors eslimated an atlowance for expécted credit losses based on past default experience and their

. assessment of the current and future economic environmenl. The Group provided for specific Irade receivables if they became aware
of factors which may have indicated credit risk. Management also reviewed the aged lrade receivables analysis at the end of each
reporting period and assessed the baiances for impairment using the following provision matrix, adjusted for exceptions and
anticipated future events: .

Age of debt UK trade receivables prowsmn Overseas trade receivables provision
0-60 days overdua .- 0% 0% -
60-30 days overdue - 10% .- 0%

90-120 days overdue . ) 25% . 10%

120-180 days overdue - 50% . 25%

181-270 days overdue 5% 50% -

271-365 days overdue ' . 100% - 5%

Over 365 days overdue 100% ) . 100%

Ag at 31 December 2022, the pfouisidn matrix for measuring expected credit loss has been adjusted. To measure expecled credil
losses, trade receivables, contracl assets and contract receivables have been grouped based on shared or similar credil risk
characterislics and the days past due, thatthe Group has determined this fo be relevant based on gaographical location and customer
pmﬂe

" The contract assets relate to unbilled wark in progress and have subslanhaily the same: risk characteristics as the trade receivables.
Therefore the Group has concluded that the expected loss rates for "not yet due” category is a reasonable approximalion of the loss
rates for the contract assels. The provision rate across the Group.ranges from 0% to 7.5%. .

The expected loss rates are based on 12-month rolling assessmeni, on the payment profiles of credit sales over a period of 24 months
hefore 31 December 2022 and the comresponding historical credit iosses experienced within ihis period. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle

- the receivables. The Group has identified customer typs, the sector and geographical location of the cuslomer is in, and the econamic
oullook lo be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in credit risk from

" these factors. The adjusted provision matrix for measurlng expecied credil loss does nal resull in materiai effect in the current'perlod.

- Accordingly, provisions for expecled credit losses booked amounted lo £4, Om {2021: £E4.3m) in respecl o! lota! overdue lrade
receivables of £48.6m (2021: £46.8m). The- agemg of the debt is included in note 18.
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3. Financial risk management (continued)

Due to'the nature of the Group's aperations, some contracts entitle clients to hold relentions in respact of projects in progress or
completed projects. Retentions held by clients at 31 December 2022 were £137.0m (2021: £104.8m). The Group manages the
caifection of retentions throughout the duration of a project and during its post completion project monitoring pracedures to ensure
thai poteftial issues that could lead to the non-paymenl of retentions are identified and addressed promptly. At the teporting date .
£40.0m of retentions. held by clients were due in more lhan one year vndes the terms of the respective contracls. Unlike trade
receivahles, the ageing of these balances is not an indicator of impairment and hence recaverability has been assessed based on the
individual characieristics of the contract counterparty and the nature of the pmjecl as well as the curren! and future anticipated tladlng
conditions, Accordingly, the directors believe that no significant credit provision Is required on these balances.

The diraectors always estimate the loss allowance on trade lecewables comracl assels and contract recetvables at an amount equal
to lifetime expecled credit losses,

Credit risk alsc arises for the Company by vidue of the receivables due from refaled parties, baing other Group companies. The
assessment of credil risk in regard to these receivables is performed on a regularbasis, specifically wilh reference to the future viability .
of the entity's ability to repay the amounts owed. In the event tha! the enlity is unlikely to generate sufficient cash te repay the amount
owed, the Company wil impair or write off the amount in the repoding penod Credil risk in regard to relaled parties is managed
carefully as part of lhe Group's wider capnal risk management policy.

Of the amounts owed by related parfies, the receivable owed by the Balley joint venturé attracts the highest concentration of credit-
risk, due to the size and natufe of the invesiment. At the balance sheet date, the Group was cwed £82.9m (2021: £85.8m) by the
Bolley group of companies, which represented shareholder lpans and accrued and interest. Foﬂowjng a RICS “red book™ valuation,
the dnrectors have prowded £38.5m (2021: £25.5m) against the lozns and interest. -

At the reporting date, {here were no trade and other recewab{es which have had renegotlated lerms that would otherwise have been
. past.due. .
¢) Liquidity nsk
‘The-Group seaks ta manage liquidity risk to ensure suffictent liquidily is available to meel the requirements of the business and to
invest cash assets safely and profitably. The Board reviews regulany available cash lo ensure there are sufficient resources for woiking
- capital requirements. The following lable summarises the maturities of the Group's undiscounted financial liabilities at the reporting
date, based on conlractual payment dales.

'

31 December 2022

£000s i
Less 10 & - More Total
than1 | years : than 5. B '
. year years
Trade and other payables . 517,104 527 ) - © 517,631
Contracl liabilities: purchase retentions 34,940 45,645 : 16 80,601
Bank overdrafts 42,481 .. - - 42,481
Employee benefit trust Iuan . : 2,800 - - --2,8600
Lease liabilties 5897 19,478 1810 _ - 27,285
Derivafive financial assets: o oo .
Devivative contracts — payments . ' - 1,636 - - 1,636
Derivalive coniracts —receipts {1.629) . - - (1,629)
Total 603,229 65,650 . 1,926 670,805
31 December 2021 )
. £000s
Less than 1to 5 More | .. Total
i .
- 1 year years than § .
.- i S0 years . .
Trade and other payables 525,488 . - L i . 525,488 .
Conltract Kabilities: purchase - 43,754 38,757 L. 82,511
retentians ) . . .
Bank overdrafts 40,032 - o - T 40,032
Employee benefit trust loan - . 2800 - - 2,800
Bank horrowings P - . - To-
Lease liabilties . ’ 5,180 21,051 1,446 ) 27,677
Derivstive financial assals: T .
Derivative conlracls ~ payments 25,803 : 1636 CE 27,438
Derivative contraclts ~ receipls {24,363) _(1,568) . - {25,928)

Tatal . - 615 894 62 679 - 1,446 680,019

50



Mace Limited

Notes {u Lhe financial slatements (Lontlnued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

A. Financial risk manage'ment (continued)
d) Foreign currency end exchaﬁge rafe risks

Due lo tha Group's geographical spread il is exposed la changes in national economic condinuns exchange rate fluctuations and
local trading resirictions. However, the Group employ focal people and suppliers and has established lacal operating companies in
each of its global hubs o that exposure io exchange rate changes is limited and knowledge of the local business environment is
5Irengthened .

The Group has cerain investments in foreign operations, whose ne! assets are exposed (o foreign currency !ranaiahon nsk Afen per
cenl sirengthening of sterling against the following currencies al 31 December 2022 would have decreased equity and profit or loss
- by the following amounts:

2022 - 200
£000s i - £000s
Profit or lass Equity . Profitor : Equity
. . loss |
Qatari Rial : 541 - {706) (52) (1,472
United Arab-Emirates Dirham . {508) (1,462) (210) (982)
Peruvian Nuevo Sol {56 . {343} o (558) {722}
Euro : (1,249} . (1,418} _ (7d5) - (694)
Saudi Riyal- 230) {388) ©o(29) {111)
United States Dollar C {721 (1.097) {353) . (593)
leelandic Krona . {189) {417) {156) X (264)

. A ten percent weakaﬁing of sterling against these currencies would have an opposite effecl. A common analysis basis has been
applied for both 2022 and 2021, This analysis assumes that all cther variables, particularly inierest rales, remain unchanged. The
sensilivity is regarded as being represenlahve of the posilion Ihroughoui the year.

At 31 December 2022, the Group held EUR 78.8m, AED 34 1m, USD 8.7m, CHF 4 .7m and QAR 15.0m and some smaller foreign
curency balances in cash at bank, A len perceni strengthening of slerling againsl these currencles al 31 December 2022 would have
rasulted in losses of £7,.0m, EQ. Brn £0.7m, EC.. 4m, £0.3m respeclwe|y .

Capital management

The Group's policy is to maintain and develop a strong and flexible capilal base in order te maintain investor and creditor confidence.
Similar policies apply to individual business divisions sa as to minimise derhands for roufine trading aclivities on finance oblained at
Graup level, The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, equity and debt. At 31 Decembar 2022 the
Grovp had £30m external debit excluding overdraﬂs and lease Iiabllmes (2021: nil} with a further £30m of fasilities undralvn.

The Group.is funded by ordlnary shares, retained prolfils, and extemal borrowmg. In 2022 the Group entered intc two new bankiﬂg
facilities. During the pricr year the corporate bond was repaid and {he debi facility for the developmant project for the purpose-built
student accommaodation in Cardiff and Exeter transferred out of the Group with the sale of lhe entily that held the loan, as panl of the
disposal of the development. There was no external debt held at the end of the prior year. The Group and Company's ohjeclives when
managing capital are ta safeguard the Group's abilily lo continue as a going concern, In order to provide returns for sharehalders and
benefils for other stakehoiders, and to maintain an oplimal capital siructure to reduce the cost of capital. The capilal requirements of
the Group's divisions differ, with property devefopment typically requiring equity and debl, consul!ancy and facilities management
lypically requiring working capntal and construclion typically being cash generative. The economic cycle of each business is different.
The Group manages its capilal taking these diffaring requirémenls mto account. The new liquidity facilities are subject to covenants
over interest cover and-gearing, both of which were comlfeitably met at the signing date.

Fair values .

. The investment in Finsbury Tower (note 18: other |nveslmenls), represents an investment in 8.1% of the ordmary shares which have
no voling righls. As there is na control or significant influence in Ih:s investment it is classified as an equity lnveslmem under IFRS 9
and heid at fair vaiue .

' The valuation as al 31 December 2022 is based on a level 3 hierarchy, given there is no chservable input for the assel in 2022, The -
- valuation was based on a discounted cash flow approach; referencing an estimated yield from the invesiment to the Group which is
expected ta be what a sirilar market participant would achieve from the investment, .

The investment has been reviewed and revaiued at the year-end. Based on latest forecasts there has been a reduction of £1.7m in
he carrying value at 31 December 2022. There is no difference between the book value and fair value of other financial assels and
liabilities due to the shart-term nature of these instruments.

Contingent conmderalmn was recognlsed i 2021 and 2022 in relahun to the acqufsrnon aof the Tenman subsidiaries. Mare detail an
the acquisition can be found in note 15.

The valualion at acquisition and as at 31 December 2022 are based on a Ievel 3 hierarchy, given there is no observable input for the -

liability. The contingent consideration is based on meeting evenue and EBITDA targets, 'so the valuation was based on a dlscounled
cash flow approach, referencing the expected pan’ormance far years 2021-2026. - .
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. 3. Financial risk management (contmued)

Inlerest is chargad on the financial hab:hly The closing batance is d|sc|osed in 1he financial ligbilities note 23. ) )
The expected contingent consideratian was reviewed and revalued at the year-end based on latest forecasls and a reduction in the
financial liability of £1.0m (2021: £0.2m) was recognised through fair value threugh profit and Joss. Increased credit on deferred tax
assets due to the increased UK tax rate applicable i in the year

Financial asstsl(llablhhes) detrivative fihancial assetsl(hab:lmes)
The fair value of forex oplions, farward cantracls and inleres! rate caps are given below. These derivatives are measured at fair value

and the value js calculated as lhe present value of estimaled cash flows based on abservable yield curves comesponging to level 2
‘as defined in IFRS 13,

. 2022 : 2021

. £000s - £000s
Foréx forward contracts: Group & Company - . {7] . {1511)

As the Group has not adopled hedge éccounllng, fair value of derivative contracts is recognised as fais value lhruugh proht and Ioss
A fair value gain of £1.5m (2021 £2.3m lass) was recognised in the year in relation to derivatives.

'Categorlsahon of financial instruments ‘and fair value of other financial assets and fiabilities " -

2022 T 2021
. £000s : . £000s
Financlal assets . . . . : ]
Financial assets at fair value . : . 11,314 - . 12,998
Financial assets at amortised cost . 662,083 . . 675,527
Cash and cash equivalents . © 159,974 . 164,888
Financial liabilities o ’ :
Currenl borrowings measlred at amortised cost ' o 45,281 42,832
Current financial liabilities measured at amortised cost - 591,994 807,999

Prepayments and accrued income 'a're excluded financial assets at amortised cost. Statutory Iiabi1ities,'deferrgd incorme anc payments
on accaunt are excluded from financial liabilties measured at amortised cost, There is no difference between the book value and fair
value of ather financial assels and liabililies. - :

Assets and liapilities classified as held for sale are excluded from the analysis above.
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4. Divisional analysis

Ravenue

An analysis &f the Group's revenue is as follows:

Continulng operations:
‘UK & Evrope

Middle East Notth Africa
Asia

Sub-Saharan Africa
America -
lnlembmpany trading
“Total revenue

General

2022 2021'
£000s E000s
1,820,623 1,885,861
108,284 95,654
30,399 16,539
6,912 9,169
62,322 41,538
(92,052 {115,745)
1,833,017

1,936,488

For management purposes the Group is organised into four operalional divisions and Group Services, Which»includes corporate
overheads and support as shown in the tabie below. These divisions are the basis on which the Group reporis informalion te the
Board. Limiled secondary information is presented for the operaling divisions of consultancy and other services. ’

The Bourd assesses the pe_rformancé of the divisions based on mariagement accounts which refiect the allocation of cross charges,
interest, depreciation and amortisation. The adjustments exclude the effects, if any, of non-recurring expenditure from the operating
"divisfons such as restructuring costs, legal expenses and goodwill impairments resulling from any isolaied, non-recurring event,

2022

Group revenue

Cosls recharged to clignis -
Fotal Group revenue '
Cost of sales

Gross proflt

Adminisirative expenses -

Other income

‘Fair valye changes on hinancial liabilities measured at F¥TPL

Qperating profit befare exceptional ltems
Exceplional llems
Operating profit

' Share of operating proft of Vs
Profit on dispoesal of a subsidiary
Profit an ordinary activities hefore Interest )
Net finance Income/(costs) . .

‘Profit before tax from continuing operations

-

: . : Group :

Develop Consuit , Canstruct Operste _ Services Total

£000s E000s £000s £000s i £000S £000s

10,732 499,789 1,381,875 90,117 87 1.932_-700
- - - {46,212) - (46,2120
10,732 494,789 1.381,875 43,905 87 1,936,488

7,827} {399.526) (1,273,187} {37,830) {419 1,718,569

2,305 100,263 108,208 . 6,275 (33z) 217,918

{2,839) (68,766) {43,392} (7,250) (44,177} "(166,424)

(134) 17 A 4 - 334 N <7 1,045

- 1,034 -1,508 - {1.684) 856

(68) 32,568 66,356 - (e1) '(45,4191 53,395
(13,009) _ - - - - {13,009)

(13,077) 32,568 ‘ 66,356 (841) - {45,419) 40,387

2 2,626 - - 1 2,625

- - - 548 _ - 649

(15.079)' : 35.1947 .éﬁ.aﬁs 8 (45,418]- 43,661

5,072 " (1,188) 61 (80} . 3445 ‘7392

{8,007) " 34,028 87,047 (72) {41,573) 50,993
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4. Divisional analysis (continued)

2021
6rcup revenue . i . .

i Casts recharged to clients
Total Group revenue ’

Cosl of sales
Gross pratit
Administralive expenses-

. Other incohe . .
Fair vélue_changes on finandal liabilities me-asureu at FvTPL
QOperating profit belorg axceptienal items ’
Excepiional liems |
Operating profit
Share of operating profit quV;- . -

Profit on disposal of subsidiaries
Prolit on d;dipary activities before interest
Netl linance income#{costs)

Profit kefore tax

A further analysis of the Group's Constiuct revenue is as fallows:

Continuing operations:

Fixgd Price & Cost Reimbursement
Construclion Management

Total revenue

Inler-d|v15|ona1 sales are carried out al open markel rales. Income from three major clients in refation to construction projects amounled to 22% (2021:

23%) of tatal Group revenue during 2022,
- Key balance sheet jtems by division:

. 2022 balance sheet

Goodwilll

Development WIF & loan 1o joint venture-
Contracl assels ’
Coniract receivables

Contract liabilities

| ' Group_ -

Develop Consult Construct Oparate Services Total
£000s EGDOS £auos £Q00s__ EQUDs £000s
'35,332 368,351 1,469,355 110,162 245 1,982,448
- ) L iag.e29) . (48,429)
36,332 386,381 1,460,355 60,733 248 1,933,047

(34,820) (209.809)  (1,356374) _ (51,416) 2018}  (+733,335)
1512 77,542 113,081 9,317 1.770 199,682
(3,601) #4872 {55825) (7.549)  (04.834) (146,681)
. 2,301 a8 A 600 3,892
- {2,052) - - (2,052)
(2,089 34,971 '55.195 : 1,769° (35,995) 54,841
(9,983} - - " (2,544) (12,527)
(12,072} 36,971 56,185 1,769 (38,539 T 42,314
&N 3,002 - - 2,990
5 968 - - 102 - 5.070

: (6,407). w973 56,185 1,871 (:in,s's_s) 51,383
343 (580) 80) ©n_ 2797 2433
(5;,154) 27,413 £6,105 1,804 (35,742) 53,816

2.022 2021,

E0D0s £000s

1,323,975 1,389,327

. 58,000 - ; 80,028

1,381 975 1,468 356

. Group .

_Develop Consult Construct  Cperate’  Services Total
£000s £000s ~  £000s £000s £000s £000s

5 20470 3,343 4,404 . 27,922
51,924 B - - - 51,024
. 7,296 125,167 4,515 - 136,978

- 58,263 21,726 7.33 . - 87,320

(510) {(38176)  ({150,846) (5,532) {231). (195,095}
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4, Divisional analysis (continued)

2021 balance sheet .

" Goodwill
Development WIP & loan to jolnl venture
: énnlr'ac! assets ’
Contract receivables

. Coniract lia blMles

Assetsofa dlspusal group classlfigd as held “for sale

Liabililies of a disposal group classified as held for sale

" 5. Revenue

. . : . Group
Develop Consult Construct Operate | Services Total
£000s £000s £o00s £000s £000s £000s
7 18,995 3,343 3,840 . 26,286
72,895 - R - - 7289
- O 104817 S - 104817
- 45,077 50,377 14141 105 116,600
(1,240) (20.072)  (159,242) {6,183) {90}  (195,827)
- - - 032 - 932
- - - . (7786) - (776}

_ Atthe end of the period there was revenue stilt to be recognised on consiruction projects where performance obl:gallons were unsatisfied
due to the nature of the fong-term contracls, where revenue is recognised over time. .

The time bands below gresent the likely consideration value of secured contracts but may he subjecl to future modaﬂcauons thal |mpact

the amount andfor timing of revenue recegnition.

Aggregale amount of the transaction price allocaled to construclion contracts lhat are partlaliy of fully unsatisfied at lhe'year-end:

Due in less than one year
Cwue in one fo five years
Total revenue

6.  Operating profitand EBITDA

The oparating p-roﬂt is stated after charging:

Depreciation of owned assets’
Deprecialion of right of use assets
Amortisation

Pr-oﬁl on disposal of fixed assets
Share-pééed payments ° '
Employee benefit costs

* Short term lease rentals: )
. Land and buildings
Motar vehicles

EBITDA
' Profit before interest*
.. Depreciation of property, plant.and equnpmenl
Amartisation of intangibie assets

2022 2021
£000s £000s
1,969,732 1,001 650
1,218,022 ° 769,997
3,187,754 1,861,647
2022 2021
,EOOUS' . F00Ds
2,994 3,166
3,961 3,230
3,160 2,409
5 .
. 181
589,553, - 515107
3,476 521 -
i 93 146 -
43661 51,383
6,955 " 5,396
) 3,160 2,409
53,776 " g0,188

*The Group uses pror { before mierest and lax as the basis for catculating EBITDA Including profithoss from joint ventures and assoclales Is

considered appropriate given the Group has a number of joint venlures as part of ils operations.
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- Notes to the financial statements {contirued)
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6. - Operating profit and EBITDA (continued)

In the financiat slatements for the year ended 31 December 2021 the analysis of operaling profil included dlsc!osure of research and

development costs. Research and development costs are now disclosed on page 4 in the Strategic report.

During the year the Group (inciuding its oversaas subsidiaries) obtained the followmg services from the Companys audltms and |ts '

. assacmtes

Re- presenled'

- 2022 2024
- EGCOs £00d0s

Fees payable tu the Company s audstor for the audit ol the paient Company .
and consofidaled accounts - ) 1,022 710
UK . . : o 158 110
Cverseas C - : . . 187 130.
Additional audit fees for prior period * . . . . 392 288
T . _ 1,758 N 1,238

‘Figurés have been re-presented to include additional audit fees in relalion to prior periods.

7. Other inco‘n-w

2021

i 2022 L
£000s £000s -

Govermment grants T . ' ) 544 2,123
Property Incame. . ' o K 196 229

. Management fees o ‘ ’ . : A_ 199 -
Insurapee income ) o - 246
Interest from overdue receivabies . . ’ 7 - - 703
Olher income . : ' i 3 591

’ ' 1,045 3,892

There were some further amounts recelved for government grants in 2021 but the majority of Group government grants for 2021 relates to
forgiveness of a US Government loan. A USD 2.7m US Government loan was received in 2020 to support business needs during the
pandemic. The US government loan was recorded in ‘'short term loans and borrowings as at 31 December 2020, An application was submilted
in'2021 to grant forgiveness of the loan and this was approved on 14 June 2021. This was recognised in olher ingome In 2021 Lo cover payroll

expens_es mat were Incurred over the period of 24 we'eks from the geant date, as required in'the canditions of the [oan.

Thare are no unfulfiled conditions and contmgencues in relauon te the guvernment grants and they were recogmsed in other income to match

- the cost ofsaiarles for employees.
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8. Finangce income and cosls

2022

Bank and other interest receivable
Loan intereét receivable
Interest receivable from parent company
" Inlerest receivable from ullimate parent company.
Interest receivable from joint venture

Total finance income

Bank and other interest payable
Interesi charge on finsncial iabifities

"Interest on posi-employiment benefil abhgation
Interest é;tpense f_& lease arrangements

Total finance costs

Intetest is charged on intercompany loans at market rates, at the time the loan is taken oul. -

9. Directors' remuneration

The total amount of direclors’ remuneration in respect of their qualifying services are as below:

Rermuneration fcr services (inclsding beneflls)
‘Share-based payment '
Performance related remuneration

- Pension contributions

2024
£000s £000s
127 118
37s -
1,483 1,006
3,336 4,145
5,072 4,983
" 1p,393 10,342
1,157 (5.851)
{746). (276)
{259Y (167)
{899) {1,615)
(3,064} (7,909)
2022 2021
£000s £000s
7.004 5,245
566 4,603
2,248 1,008
12 19
5,828 7,965

Pension contributions were made in tespect of 3 directors (2021: 4),

The directors' remuneralion disclosed above. inchides amounl paid thraugh Mace Finance Limited, the ultimate parert company.

Directors' ramuneration includes the following amounts in respect of the highest paid director:

2021

“Rermuneration for services (lncludmg heneafits)
Share-based payments

Tha MERB members are considered to be the key managemenl personnel The {otal amount of ksy management personnel

compensation are as follows:

Short-term employee benefils
Post-employment benefils
Perfnrmancg related remuneration
Share-hased payments

2022
£000s £000s
2,176 886
.- 1,502
2,176 2,388

2022 2021 .
£000s £000s
8,529 6,711
52 - 53
2,958 1,473
* 566 1,603
12,115 - 9,540
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10. Staff costs and.numbers
oo . . 2022 202
Staft costs were as follows: o ) o £0005 £000s
Aggragate gross wages and salaries . . : ' -511,281 - 448,872
Employer's sacial securily costs : ) - 44,948 ’ 36,646
Other pensidn costs o . . 34,681 C T 29824
580,210 515,342 .
Average monthiy number of persons employl_!d by‘lhe Group during the year:
i 2022 . 2021
Comporale support services . . - 290 . 301
‘Praject delivery stalf ’ : 6156 - 6315
o ' 5,445 © - 5616
The lot-al number of direct employees as at the reporting date was: o 6,700 c 6,044
S Exceptional items
2022 ) = 2021
£000s £000s
Pravision on loan to joint venture . - o o {13,009) (9,983)
Sofiware expenses .. : B - - (2,544}
{13,009) _ {12,527}

v

There is no cashflow impact of the exceplicnal items in 2022, A provision agains| the loan receivable reduces the expected future
cash inflow. . . :
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12,

Tax on profit on-ordinary activitias ‘

. : . 2022 "2021 .
(2) Analysis of Group charge in year ) S £000s £000s
Current tax ) - T . . .
UK corporalion tax al 19. 0% (2021: 19.00%) . . ) . - . -
Group refief payment - . o 1,053 : . 2353
Ad]uslmenls In respect of previcus periods ] ] . _(2r15) . ) (1,022)
, . . o ' ; 778 1,331
Foreign tax T ' T 13,017 : . 8,225
Adjustmenls in respecl of previous periods o o . 2,954 . - g72
Total currenitax expeasc . ) ’ ’ 16,748 - . 10,228
Deferred ta# - . . .
Origination and reversal of temporary differences . . - © (460) 1727
Impact: of deferred tax rate movements on opemng asseu‘hablhly . . LTy . (1,518
Adjustments in respect of previcus _pencds : : (231) . 664
Total deferred tax (credit)expense ’ - ’ D . (763) 813
Total tax {note 12(b)) S Co ' 15986 . 11,041
(b) Fac!ars affecting Group tax charge-for year N
-The tax assessed for the pennd is higher fhan the slandard rate of corporation tax in the UK {19. 00%) The differences are explalned
below: .
Re-presented
2022 2021
i £000s £000s
_Profit on ordinary activiies befdre tax S 50,9983 53,816 _
Profil on'ordinary activities multiplied by slandard rate oicorporahon lax in the UK . .- ’ ,
of 19.00% (2021: 19.00%) , 9,689 : 10,225
Effects of ’
Expenses nat deduclible for tax purposes . . 7,622 - ) 9,356
. Income nobtaxable for tax purposes . (6,024} ] (9,805)
Group relief claimed ’ . o 11,143) : {113)
Non-taxable foreign branch income . (58) . {1}
Withhelding tax deduction . 5,289 :
Differen! fates of tax on overseas earmngs ’ ) . : {1,016) - 1,383
Research and development expenditure charge T - . . 32
Movement in temparary differences not recoghised in deferred tax . : {625) ’ 927
Increase in tax losses not recognised in deferred tax ' - . = 20
Impact of deferred tax rate movements ' (196) ) (1,494)
Adjustments ta tax charge In respect of previous years — UK taxation T (275) (358}
Adjustments to tax charga in respacl of previous periods — dverseas taxation . . 2,954 672
Adjustments tg tax charge in rg.spect of previous periods {231) s -
Current tax charge for the year (note 12{a)) - 15,886 11,041

Re-presentation of 2021

-

" The Group thanged the- presentatmn of expenses nat deduelible and income not taxable for tax purposes from a net ln a gross basis in

2022, For comparabiliiy purposes, the nel lecunmlmg entry for 2021 has been re-presented ©n a gross basis.
Changes in tax rates ‘

In the UK Budget on 3 March 2021, the Chancelior announced the intention to increase the UK corporale tax rate from the current rate of
19% 10 25%, effective from 1 April 2023, As this change had been substanlively enactéd al the balance sheet date, the impact-of this change

. has been l'eﬂ‘ec&ed in l‘he deferred tax assets and uabdnces of the UK Group whefe the timing diflerences are expected to reverse after 1

Aprii 2023
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Notes to the financial's_tii;ements (continued)
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12. Taxon profit on ordinary activities (continued)
Effective tax rate

. The Groupis presenl i 2 number of jurisdictions and its effeclwe tax rale is Subject to various factors outside of the Group's control,
The effective tax rate of the financial year 2022 was 31.3% as a result of £1.7m of backdaled withhalding taxes paid during the period
in Saudi Arabia, and a prior period adjustment of Peruvian taxes withheld at source and offset against corporation tax of £2.9m.
Wilhout these two effecls, the effective tax rale wauld have been 22.3%. The effective tax rate of 20.5% for the financial year 2021 .
benefited from an increased credit on deterred tax assets due la the increased UK tax rate appiicable in the year s

Future developments . - . - -

Following an-agreement reached by the Finance Minislers from the G7 in July 2021 backlng the creallon of a global minimum
corporale lax rate of at least 15%, over 130 countries and jurisd ictions have agreed to the OECDIG20 Inclusive Framework on BEPS,
also referred 1o as BEPS 2.0. The new framework aims to ensure Lhat large muitinational enlerprises pay a fair sharé of tax wherever
they cperate and to set a globaf minimum tax rate. Earliest possible implementation is in'2024 and implemenlalion in key countries
-. has commenced. Whilst some details are still unknewn, lhe United Kingdom announced the adjustment of their local {ax !egislation
by January 2024. Based on the current understanding of the anticipated changes 1o the global tax landscape, the Group.expecls
no material impact upon its future effective lax rate once adjustments are rmade to-relevant jocal tax legisiation. The Group's future
effecfive {ax raie is expected to'be in 2 range of 25% to 30%. As mentioned above, this effective iax rate is also dependent on fhe .
various laclcrs including foreign exchange rate movements, and any ane-off evenls.

Geferred taxes - Group . .
Fixed asset Short-term

tern porary temparary Losses carried i
Deferred tax assets differences " differences forward ‘Yotal
£000s £000s . 'E000s . £GO0s

At 1 January 2021 N © 1472 4839 . 1,456 7,777
(Charged)/crediled to: ‘ : . o : . . :

- Profit and ioss (10s) . (2.000) . ... 1360 . {(745) .

- Equity . o : - {68) . . {55) (24) .
At 31 Dacember 2021 | C T 1,317 T 2830 . 2,761 .. 6,908
{Charged)/credited to:. ) - .

- Profit and loss (880) . 13 ’ . 1,830 963

- Fereign exchange lhrough . .

equity R - 32 32

- Actuarial gains through le]o]] . - - ' - -

At 31 December 2022 - T A i 2,843 4,623 A

Deferied tax reported in equity relate to fcrengn axchange maovements on deferred tax held in subsidiaries whose funclional currency is not
the Group presentational currency {GBP). This mavement is lncluded in the retranslation gainfloss reported in the consolrdaled slatement of
changes in equity.

Fixed asset Short-tarm

. ’ o temporary -temporary Losses carried .
Deferred tax liabitities . - differences differences . forward ~ Tatal
’ : o £000s - E000s £000s £000s_
At 1 January 202t ’ - ©oase - . 189
Charged/ {credited) to: . L - 7 . . - -
- Profit and loss ) - 66 ] - 63
- Acquisilion of subsidiary . . :
companies R P 1,000 ] - - - . 1.000
At 31 December 2021 1,000 227 . ) - . 1,227
Chargedl {credited) to: . . - - : )
’ Profif and loss - 110 © - 66 . 24 200 -
- Foreign’exchange thmugh -, : . ’
equity . : - . § - : . 5
- Actuarial gains through equity s - 79 ) - T 79
At 31 December 2022 _ L - 1,110 3 . 24 YT
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12.  Taxon profit on ordmary activities {continued)

Deferred taxes - Company

Short-term

Flxed asset .
. temporary temporary Losses carried’
Deferred tax assels differences - “differences forward Total
‘£O0Ds £000s £000s £00Cs
At1 January 2021 ) . 1,333 1,182 . 2,515
" {Chargedycredited to profit and loss {104} 305 - 201
At 31 December 2021 - 1,226 1,487 - 2,716
{Charged)/credited to profil and loss {865) (708) - {1,573
At 31 December 2022 - - 354 778 - 1,143
Tax losses carried forward
Tax iesses far which ne deferred tax asset was recognised:
2022 .2
- Gross amount Tax effected Gross amount Tax effected
. £000s - £000s £000s £000s
Tax loases expiring: ’
within 10 years ’ " 1,166 227 - ‘2,630 559
More than 10 years - ' . B - 345 86
" Avallable Indefinitely o 24,101 ‘6,032 2 562 509
25,267 1,194

5,259

§,837 -
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13.  FProperty, plant and equipment

Group i
. Property Computer  Plant, motor
Freehold .rightofuse - Leasehold equipmentd vehicles &
property assets improvements IT systems’ equipment Total
_ £000s £000s £000s £000s " E00Os “£000s
Cost - .
At 1 Janudry 2021 - 1,254 12,872 11,789 " 42,691 1,622 60,228
_ Exchange differences T 12 (46) ) (17 (18] (74)
Acquisition of sﬁbsidiary companies ) - - - 53 43 96
Additions . - 3,008 718 2,182 ‘65 6,063
Reclassification as asset heid for . : -
sale ] - - 2) (28) (35) (83)
Reclassificalion T - - 110 - (110) -
Disposals ‘ - (3,625) {305) (4,852) - @20 . (8.809)
. At 31 December 2021 . ; 1,266 32,209 "12,303 10,028 1,542 57,438
Exchange differeaces 150 343 57 s 97 892
Addifions : - 7440 482 3,162 12 11,086
Disposal ' . ‘ {352) {1,220) ©2) (112 {12) {1,788) .
At 31 December 2022 —— 1,064 38,862 12,750 13,324 1,639 - 67,639
Depreciation and [mpairment
At1January 2029 ’ 424 19,758 5,421 8,374 1,242 16,219
) Exchar;ge differences ’ 4 (35) 5) {6) (14) (55)
Charge for the year : - 48 - 3,230 789 2212 147 6.396 -
Acquisition of subsidiary companies ’ - . - 20 22 © 42
Reclassification as assel held for . N ) (@ (34) (64)
Reclassification e - - 107 - {107) -
‘Disposals - (2,876) {303) (4,849) (28) (8.054)
At 31 December 2021 - 476 20,077 6,008 6,724 1,200 34,483
Exchange differences . 56 172 56 168 80 532
Charge for the year o - 3,961 681 2,223 90 6,955
Disposals . ] - {1,220) ‘92 (s (7 {1.324)
_ At 31 December 2022 : ) 532 22,990 6,651 9,110 1,362 40,646
Net hook value
At 31 December 2022 532 15,872 6,099 4,214 276 26,993
At 31 December 2021 ) 790 12,222 6,295 3,306 342 22,056

The Group had capital commitments of £6.5m at 31 December 2022 (2021: £8.9m}
P o .
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13.  Property, plant and equipment fConlinued)

C:ompanj

Property Computer ~ Plant, motar
right of use * . Leasehold. - equipment; vehicles &
assets Improvements AT systems equipment Total
£000s £000s £000s ~ £ooos £000s °
Cost . .
At1 January 2021 27,840 10,222 8,098 184 46,324
Additions 1,841 706 1,842 - 4,389
Disposals {1,526} V(305) {4,829) (1) {5,664)
At 31 December 2021 " 28,155 - 10,623 5N 160 44,049
Additions 6,455 ag1 2,366 - 8,212
Dispésal {714) .- - - (714)
At 31 December 2022 ‘33,896 11,014- 7477 160 52,547
Depreciation and impairment .
At1 January 2029 16,569 4,229 5,287 121 26,206
Charge for the year 2,363 546 1,904 14 4,827
Dispoéals _(1,043) (305) (4,829) {3) -(6,180)
A3 December 2021 '17,889 4,470 2,362 132 24,853
Charge for the year 3,210 639 1,760 12 5,851
Disposals (714) - - - (714)
At 31 December 2022 20,385 5,108 4,152 144 29,790
Net book value
At 31 Decamber 2022 13,511 5,905 3,325 16 22,757
At Dgcember 2021 10,266 6,153 2,749 28" 19,196
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- 14,  Intangibie assets
Group

Cost .

At1 January 2021

Additions .

Acquisition of subsidiaries
Reclassiflication

Reclassification to asset heid for sale (note 25)
At 31 December 2021 '
Additions '

Reclassification

Exchanga differences

At 31 Decembeér 2022

Amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2021
Charge-for the year
. At 31 December 2021
Charge for the year
© At 31 December 2022

Net hook value
At 31 December 2022
At 31 Dacember 2021

Computer

Customer

Assets . Goodwill Brand Total
Software under : relationships .
- construction L

" £000s . £000s "£000s T £000s £000s £000s
5,051 14,540 18,605 . . - - 38,196
2,397, 1,642 - - . - - 4,039
R - 9,888 4,800 300 14,988
14,540 ©  (14,540) . . . S
- : @) .- - (96)
21,988 1,642 28,397 - 4,800 0 57,427,
20 2,034 - - - 2,054

1.597 (1,597) - - - -
o - 1,636 . . 1,636
23,605 2,079 . 30,033 4,800 300 60,817

—— - ~ 2

1,188 . z11 - - 3,299
2,167 - - 200 42 2,409
3,355 - 2,411 . - 200 42 5708
2,583 . - . 480 97 3,160
5,918 - 2,111 - 68O 139 8,868

* 17,667 2,074 27,022 4,120 164 - 51,948
1,642 256 51,419

18,633

' 26,286 4,600
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14. Intangible assets (continued)

Computer * Assels Total

Compan ) Software - under
ompany . . : : - ‘ - construction
£000s © | £000s £000s
Cost . ) ) .
At1January 2021 : . : . L ‘ . 5,007 14,540 - 19,547,
Additions . . . < 2378 1,638 . 4,018
Reclassification C o - . 14,540 (14,540) - -
" At 31 December 2021 | ‘ 21,025 1,638 -23,563
“Additions : o _ - 2,034 2,034
Reclassification L ) . 4,587 {1,597) . -
At 31 December 2022 . ' 23,522 . 2,075 25,597
Amorﬂsalion and Impalrm_ent . ,
At 1 January 2021 . . T ) , ©o1,188 . - 1,169
Charge for the year . . . 2,150 ) - 2,150
At 31 December 2021 : ' axme - . 3319
Charge for the year’ 2 585 . - ‘2,565
At 31 December 2022 _ - _ : | . 5884 - 5,884
Net book value .
* At 31 December 2022 ) ‘ 17,838 2076 . 19,713
ALY December 2021~ . . - 18,606 . 1,638 20,244

The addition to goodwill |I'l 2021 relales to the acquisition of the MaceTpm parinership. More details are Included in the acqunsmon note 15.
Gocdwill in refation to Mace Macro Technical Services LLC was reclassified to assets held for sale in 2021, More mformanon s included in
the held for sale note 25. The carrying amount of goadwlll is allocated to the CGUs as follows:

2022 2021
- £000s £0005
Develop - . ' o ’ - ‘ . . 5 o 7
Consult : , ' o . 20,170. 18,996
Construct ) - : ‘ 3,343 ) ] 3,343
Operate . , _ 4,404 3,940
. ‘ : 27,922 o - 26,206

In 2022, £0. 002m of goodw;ll has been Iransferrad from ihe Davelop CGU to the Gonsult CGU due to the lransfer of development managamem
business between the engines.

Ths recoverable amount of each CGU has been determined by estimating its valu in use by reference to the present value of fnrecas?
revenue and the residual profits, The forecasts were prepared for commercial purposes and rely on specific assumptions and projectians on
a CGU-by-CGU basis, using management's detailed knowledge and expectations of the outcome of each CGU. The projections were primarily
prepared using historic performance indicalors, secured order book vatues and a comparison of the secured order book to historic trends.
They were originalty prepared based on a five-year sirategy, starting from 2022 lo 2026, and subsequently the 2023 forecast is updated to
align with the Group's budgel and extended to 2027 based on CGU specific growth rate. The terminal valve of Consull, Construct and Operalev
CGUs are caleulated based on the latest 2027 foracast with an assumed 2% long-term growth rate. The terminal value of Develap CGU is
calculated based on the expected cash inflows of proiécts due Lo the [ang-term nature of development projects.

* The forecasts are discounled using CGU specific post-tax rates thal rafiect the current market assessment of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the CGU. The posi-tax discolnt rate-used as the starting point is based on the estimated welgmed average cost of capital,
which has then been adjusied for a number of factars to determine the discount rate, including the risk-free rate in the UK and the inherent -
risk of the forecast income sireams included m the Group's cash flow projections. Pre-tax dlscounl rales are then determined from the post-
iax discaunt rates.
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‘Notes to the financial statements (contmued)
Year ended 3% December 2022

4.7 Intangible agsets (conllnued)

The analysis has been done primarily on the goodwill attributed to each of the CGUs but also |ncorporates cther |ntang|ble and lang ible assels,
Develop CGU: A pre-lax duscuunt rate of 12.8% has been applied lo the Develup CGU

Consult CGU: A pre-tax distaunt rate of 14.5% has b_een applied !u the Cansuk CGU,

Construct CGU: A pre-tax discount rate of 16.4% has been applied to the Construct CGU.
Operate CGLU: A pre-tax discount rate of 14:1% has been applied to the Operata CGU.

Analysis using the 2023 — 2027 forecasls does not indicate any need for impairment based on 1he goodwill carrying values as at 31 December
2022. Therefore, the direclors consuder thal no rmpmrmenl or furlher adjustmenl of the goodwill, other intangibles or langible 2sset carrying
value is-necessafny. .

As at the measurement date, the recoverable amount of al cash-generalmg units, based on their value in use, is significantly higher than the
carrying amount relevant for the impairment test. After considering all key assumplions, management considers that a reasonably pessimistic
revision of key assumplions which can rationally be expected would not cause the carrying amount of the cash-generaling units lo exceed their
recoverable amount. .

15. Acquisitions

On 6 Augusl 2021, Mace announced a new strategic partnership in South East Asia, known as 'MaceTpm’ being a partnership between Mace
and Tenman Tpm. In forming this pannershlp, Mace Censullancy (Asia Pacific) Limiled, a subsldlary of Mace Limited, acquired a 100%
ownarshjp of twe Tenman Tpm enlities based in Hong*Kong and a Tenman Tpm entity based in the Philippines for a £14.7m consideration.
£1.8m of this was contingent consideration at acquisition and £5.4m was deferred consideration at 31 December 2021. Goodwill of £9.9m
was recognised on acquasmon of the business. This partnership will be fully integraled within the Consult Engine and par of the Asna Pacific
globat hub, with operations in the Philippines, Singapore, Macau and Vietnam. The voling rights as al acquisition dale was 60% and
subsequently increased to 100% on 11 February 2023. The 40% voting rights have been accounied for as deferred consideration under
financiai liabilities in 2021. :

Part of the contingent considaration and deferred consideration have bean paid off in 2022. The payment of deferred and contingent

consideration is different from the balance recognised as at 31 Decemnber 2021, this reflects interest cost and foreign:exchange difference in

lhe year. The contingent considerafion has been reassessed in 2022 and E1 m gam from changes in fair vaiue through profit and lass has been
. recognlsed

. . , ] 2022 - 2021
Cash oulflow in relation to lhe acquisilion is presented below: N © | E'000 £'000
* Acquisiioncost S T S : ' CLt (14688)
Payment of deferred and contingent cunsidera!ion . . . (7,279} ' -
Less deferred and contingent conwderahon - e ' ' - - 71587
Cash acqmred . T . . - 1,823
Transaclion costs . o . ’ R . . - -(286)
Net cash outflow from acquisition of subsidiaries : ) : . R !7|27‘9! ) (6,001) -
Amounts recognised as at the acquisition date for each major class of assels and labilities assqmed: ' ’ . \' £'000
Non-current assets © - ’ o o T . . . . 5,153
Current assels - : . f ‘ : 3,057
Cash & cash equivalents ) . R ' : : . ) 1,823
Current liabilities : ' - . ' (3,602)
rNon -cusrent liabilties L . C oo . ’ (1,000)
Nel assels acquired ~ L S . . . 5431
‘Acquired Receivables: Yrade debtors ©  Prepayments - Other debtors Total
’ £'000 “£'000 £'00C £'000
Gross contractual amounts receivable " 3843, - 105 ‘ 164 4 082
Besl eslimate; at the acquisition date of the contractual . - L :
sash flows nol expected to be collected . i (1,025) - - - ( 1 025)

Fair value of raceivables ) . 2,788 105 ) 164 3,057
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Noles Lo the financial statements {continued)-
Year ended 31 December 2022

16, Acquisitions (continued)
Reconciliation belwaen censideration and nel assets : ’ ‘ ) £000
Consideration . . ' : - 14,695
Léss: Net assets acquired L : T (5.431)
Less: Dnndend fiabifity as NClbeing {aken out from net assets, acquired - : ) - 624

Gaadwill ’ : . ) 9,888 .
186. Disposals )
dn 15 August 2022, the Graup completed the disposal of Mace Macro Technical Services LLG .1or consideration of £1,0m. Tha

entity has not been classified as a discontinued operation as it does not represent & major operation for the Group. The enmy .
was classified as held for sale in 2021. i

The géin orn dfsmsaf is-analysed as folows: . ) A - | _£000s

F'roceeds . : . 952

Net asset disposed {see below) - . . ' . {186)

Transaction cosls . ) ' (65)

' Recycling of foreign exchange reserve ) ’ ‘ 52)
"Profit on disposal of subsidiary - . . . . 649

‘Income tax expense on gain on disposal ' : -

- The currant year net cash flow effect of the disposal is analysed as follows: S

. . . £000s
Proceeds - ' _ L : 952
Less proceeds receivable . A : T (520)
Less intercampany balances settled  ° - (31)
Cash disposed . ’ ; ' : (254)
Transaction costs ’ . . —— (85)

" Net disposal proceeds received : ‘ 82

The major classes of assels and liabilities disposed arg as follows:

£000s

Goodwil : Y ' 56

Property, plant and equipment . ' 1

Trade and other receivables . . - ' 607

Gurrent tax assets ’ 7 3

Ccash ) . o : e 254
Trade and other payables ~ . . - . (630)

Curre[;t tax liabililies . : ) . - : A (145)

_ Net assets disposed o S . —.__.::..19;5,:.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued;
Year ended 31 December 2022

16. Dlspnsals (conbnued)

On 22 February 2021, the Group disposed of its 100% mterest in the entities in refation to the Cardiff and Exeter devempment
within the Develop business, for gross consideralion of £12.6m. These entities have not been classified as a discontinued
operalions as they do not represent a major operation or geographical area of operations for the qup The structure of lhe
arrangement was to dispose of the entilies that held-the completed development assels, .

On 16 December 2021; the Group dlsposed of ils 65% interest in the Owners Association Managemeﬁt Business, within the
Operate Business, for a gross consideration of £0.3m. This entity has not been dassified as discontinued operalions as |ldues
not represent a major operatson or geographical area of oparatians for the Group.

Thé gain on disposal is analysed as follows:
Proceeds X
Net assél disposed (see below)
Transaction costs
Gain on disposal
Income tax expense on gai}l on disposal

The prior year net cash flow effect of the disposal is

~analysad as follows:

Proceeds

Less proceads from deferred cansidaration recaivable

_ Less intercarnpany balances settled
Cash disposed
fransaclion cosls )
Adjusted for transaction costs payabie
Net disposal proc;aeds received

The major classes of bssets and liabilities disposed ere

as follows: .
Development work in progress
Trade and ather receivables
Cash .
Trade and olﬁer payables
Short term borrowings
Non-controfling interest

Net assets disposed

Cardift & Exeter-

‘Mace Macro
Student Owners Total -
Accommodation* Association .
Ma_nagement Ca
£000s £0Q0s £000s
12,619 281 12,90G
{5451) (139) {5,580}
" {1,200) (40) _(LQQL
5968 102 . 6,470
Cardiff & Exeter Mace Macr:o
i Student Owners Tatal
Accommodation* Association
Management Co
£000s £000s £000s
12619 281. 12,900
- (135) {138}
- @an (21}
[(2,657) {41} (2,698)
(1,200) ’ [Cl1)) (1,240)
- 21 21
8762 54- -B,B16
£000s £000s £000s
145,976 - 145,978
3170 246 3418
2,657 41 " 2,698
. {52,032) 73) ' (52,105)
(94,322 - {94,322)
- - {75) {75} :
5,451 " 13g 5590

" The legal entities dispased of as part of the Cardiff and Exeter student accomwmodation disposal included the roh'awing
" Graduation Exeler and Cardiff (Jersey) Limited; Graduation Exeter Retail-Management Limited; Graduation Cardiff Retail
Managemen! Limited; Graduation Cardiff Management Limited; Graduation Exeter Management Limited; Mace Developmenls
{Cardif) Limied; Mace Develapmeants (Exeier) Limited: Gradualnan ‘Exeter (Phase 2) Limited
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17.  Joint arrangements

The Group has investments in a number of joint arrangements that are classified as joint vemures or;ount cperatmns depending on the nalure
of the investment, as descrited in the accounting polm:es note 1. . . .

Joini ventures . .

- 3 . N

The following reprasents the tolal results of joint ventures in which Mace has a part share: } €
Dubai Expo 2020 MWJV Limited Hotley Mace Engenharia E . Other joint ventures - Total
T - Servicos Lida and Join! apezations .
2022 2021 2022 2021 . zo22 2om 2022 - 200 2022 - 2021 2022 2021
. kogos E0O0s  * £600s £000s £0003 fO0Cs | £000s  © £000s €000s - EOODs £000s _EDCOs
NMoncurrent assals - - - .o 5 . L 199 79 40 26 . 29 (41
Currani assets 2,454 2,836 2,034 2,174 103,350 130,920 1,451 4,136 4T 300 108,825 143,166
Casch and cash: . y
ivalents - - 107, 506 173 TsR 3an 5211 3,607 144 . 166 .13.4i5 . 1375
Current Hetilities {1,623) {1,601} . D {ma7e5) (88,823} (646 ' (6.738) (384} (3403 {a2380) (99,553)
Cuerent financial ) I . . ) -
. ljokiitias - - i1aE) (2260 - - - - 12,513 -
Nen-current . - : . . .
Pbsiovid - . - .- pam 6984 - SR - @ nsw (euss)
HNor-gureng . : ! - -
Ananciat llabilitles - - ; . - {70,012) - - - - {70,012} )
Tolal a3 1,142 2t 81 {45325) (21,429} 547 1,007 294 4B - (43,326) (18,784)
Revenve 15478 18818 11548 8.077 4967 3,581 " 5,844 3226 3550 2378 41,288 38,181
Expenses (10,634} (i2350) (14,5060 (785  {11.708) {1,283 4,078} 2,781} @779 (2318 (91,702 (26,694}
Depraclation & . . -
amoreetion . - . 18] 8} - - - - - 2 .18 4
Inlerest mxpense . . - - (7.997) ~  (6.945) . - 9 - {1 {7,806) {6,946}
Incame tax . N - ) 6 - o - (11 - w1y (@,
e yeur 1% 4,847 6.569 7 - B8 (14033 {4647 748 465 @9 el {ese) 2,518

Dubai Expo 2020 s a joint venture within the Consult operations formed for the exclusive purpose of acting as Programme Management
Consultant to pravide programme delivery management services for the Expo 2020 event, operating in Dubai. This was postponed due to

. COVID-19, and consequently ran from October 2021. 1o March 2022. Mace has joinl control with a 49% profit share and net asset agreement.
The arrangement is created as a separale vehicle so classified as a joint venture with the equity method of accounting applied.

MWJV Limited Is a Joint venture between the Mace Group and Ward Witilams Associales delivering multi-disciplinary services to the public
sector in the South West. Mace has joint sontrol with a 50% prafit share and net assel agreement. The arrangement is classified as a joml
. venlure, and the equily method of accounting has been applied.

Botley includes the Develop joint venluras Botley Developments, (Holdings) Limited which owns BDC Phase 2 Ltd and The Bolley
Development Company Limited. These are separate legal entities, so the arrangement is classified as a joint venture of which Mace Ltd has
$0% Joint control with afother party and has equal voting rights. The equily method of accounting has heen applied.

- The purpose «of the Botley Development (Holdings) Limited is to undertake the development of the sile in Oxford, The JV operates fromthe

UK and is an entity registered in England and Walas. The Bolley Development Company Limited has raised its own develapment debt finance,
whtch has security over the assets. Botley Development (Holdings) Limited has raised shareholder debt finance from Mace leiled

Mace Engenharia E Servicos Ltdaisa Company incorporaled under Angolan law with a reglslered office in Luanda. It has two shareholders,
Mace — Consulteria e Gestia de Projeclos e Conslnugdo, Lda which halds @ 47% share, and Engiservices Engenharia e Serviges Lda, which
holds a 53% share, This Company embodies an exclusive partnérship agreement between the parties to provide professional engineering’
services under the Mace brand in Angola. tis part of the Consult operations of Mace. Under the Shareholders’ Agreement thére is joint control

" and all forms of decision making require uaanimous agreement between the shareholders. The arrangement Is classified as a Jdint venture,
and the aquity method of accaunting has been applled
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18. ‘Inveslmenls

Group

Cost less provisions

At 1 January 2021

Exchange differences

Additions )

Share of past-acquisition profit after tax
‘Dividends received.

At 31 December 2021

-Ex'change differences

Share of post-acquisition profit afler tax
Dividends received )

Fair value adiusiment

At 31 December 2022

Joint ventures &

. QOther

Total
. assoclates * Investments
£000s £000s £000s
2,676 10,116 12,792
72 s 72
. 2,882 2,882 .
2,999 - 2,999
(4,406) - {4,406}
1,341 12,993 14,339
(408) N (498)
2675 - 2,625
(2.524) - (2,524)
. (1,684) - (1}684)
944 “41,314 12,258

Additions to other investments related ta additional coniribulions by City Fringe in the investment in Finsbury Tower. The equity was
raised in propostion to the exisling equity subscription, so the Mace share in the invesiment remained atd1%. .

Company Joint ventures & Subsidiaries Total
) associates £000s . "EQO0s
£000s
Cost less provisions .
At1 January 2021 : K SRS _ 7 15,518 15,625
impairmen _ < STm (3.469) {3,476}
AL31 December 2021 Cot ’ o - - 12,048 12,049
Additions” ) . E . - 18,331 18,331
Impairment reversal . . ' ' - - 1,713 1,13
Reclassification to held for sale (note 25 - Co - (1713} - (1,713
, .- 30,380 30,380

At 31 Deneml;er 2022 . -

Addilions to invesimenls in 2022 related to addltionai investment in Mace Gonsult Limited. Mace share In the investment In

- subsidiary remains at 400%. in 2022, the impairment provision for Mace Cost Consultancy Limited has been reversed.
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19. Trade and other receivables
) Group - : . Company
. 2022. . 2021 2022 © 2021
Amounts: falling due after more than ane year:’ . ) £000s - £000s £000s £000s
Pfﬂpayments _ : . T 600 .- 1,499 600 1,199
Arournts fallmg due wrthm one year . ) .
Trade receivables : . o ) 213,868 . 1.67,1‘19 143,029 99,127
Conlract assets ‘ R 136,978 104,817 70,452 . 70,570
Contract receivablas C : 87,320 - 118,600 45,148 . 49,823
Amounts owed by ulll[mat>e parent company A 77,159, 115,?39. © 77159 . 115,743
Amounts owed by immediate pareat company . 43,580 43,638 43,589 43,638
_ Amounts owed by subsi(_:liary}undeﬂakihgs - B c. - .. 123,815 168,833
Amgounts owed by joint \.rentures and associales 1,018 ’ 1,726 . 260 ’ 24
Loans to directors ' ) - ' 138 -, 135 . -
Loan receivable - ' o © 2,500 1,250 2,500 1,250
" Loan interest receivable ' ' 6689 M4 | coe 34
Cash collaeral . : ] o . 1978 - 1,680
Other debtors | ' 50,717 53,446 42,160 49,295
_Other tax and social securlty fecawables ' . 9,361 - . 7,005 9,381 1,1'21.
" Prapayments ' 13,672 10,318 9,821 6,106
C 837,004 623847 . 538,219 607,524

v

Mace Limited Company cuntfacl asséls includes £0.1m of accrued income {2021: £0.1m) relaling to sales to subsidiaries.

Retentions will be collected In the narmal aperating cycle of tha Group and are therefore shawn in. current receivables. £40.0m (2021:
£41.2m) of the refention receivable is due in more than one year and £97.0m (2021: £63.6m) o!the relenmn receivable is due within
ORE year.

The: reason for the increase in contract assets from 2021 to 2022 is mostly due lo growth of project retention balance. The value of
the sales retentlon depends on the stage of the project at the balance sheet dale and the size of the project. .

Debtors past and overdue . ' . Group Company
. : - 2022 2021 . 2022 . 2021
) _ £000s: £000s £000s . E000s
Trade recaivables not past dus ' 169,267 124,606 ’ 100,774 . . 76,553
" Trade receivables pasi due 1-30 days . 26,457 19,087 10,925 ‘8,784
Trade receivables past due 31-60 days 6485 19437 . 833 14,413
Trade r;c'eh)ablés past due over 80 days 15,703 . 8,311 737 894
Gross trade receivables . o ) ) 217,912 171,441 113,329 . 100,644
Less provision for expected credit losses . (4,044) - (4,322) {300} . (1,517}

Trade debtor. ' N - 213,868 167 119 113,029 . .99, 127
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Notes to the fmancla! statements (contlnued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

20.

21.

Development work in progress and loan to joint venture

Woark in progress
Finished developm;nt assets
bevelopment work In progress

Laan to joint venlure.
Provision on loan to joini venture

Development loan 1o joint venture

2022 2021
£000s £000s

- 7,494 §,058
- B,485

7,494 12,543
82,914 85,827
_{28,484) {25,475)
54,430 60,352

Work. in progress En development schemes includes EO.1m of capitaliaed interest during the yéar (2021: £0.6m). £6.5m
development work in progress was expensed 2s cost of sales in the period (2021: £30.4m).

Trade and other payables

Amounts falling due more than one year:

Long term Ingentive plan accrual

Amounts faliing due within 0;1_9 year:

Trade creditors

‘Contracl liabilities

Amounis due o ultimate parent company
Amuunls due ta immediate parem company
Amounts due lo subsidiaries

_Amounts due to joint ventures and.associales *

Rividend payable lo non-confrofling interests
Acctuals ‘
Taxalion and social security pavables

"Post-employment benefit obligation

Qther creditors

Group Company
207 ePreserted 2022 2021
£000s £000s £000s £000s
527 - 527 _
- 116,590 105,253 62,914 66,901
195,085 195,827 126,472 122,759
11,932 2,244 8,954 Too2m
B 1,308 - - 1,308
. - 71,665 L 45,071
130 124 16 A8
3¢1 _ - : , -
298,013 - 301,812 149,777 212,639
71,314 92,609 34,560 55,877
8,167, 9,737 - -
12,560 8,877 2,180 1,345
714,128 717.792 - 456,538 506,069

Contract Gabililies inciudes deferred income and ameunis payabie on construction confracis. Mace Limited Company contract
liabilities includes £3. 2n1 of delerred-m::ume (2021 £0.1m) relating 1o sales to subsidiaries.

Retenllons wili be pa|d in the normal operanng cycle of ihe Group and are |herefore shown in currenl payables

£76m of group revenus recognised in the period was included in lhe contract liability balance al the beginning of the year (2021:

£127m).-

are 1nc.urred

‘Group contract liabifities have increased as a result of mere income being deferred in 2023 in relation to large congtruction projects

which are In early stages Advance payments on these projects are deferred and the income will be recogmsed when further cosls

'Re -presentation 1o recrasstr'y £20.1m repnned as othef creditors in 2021 ta trade creditors.
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21. Trade and other payabies (continued]}

~ Recoenciliation of post—empJoy'ment benefit oingaiion:

Past-employment benefit liability at 1 January 2022
" Disposal of subsidiary
‘Reclassification
Change in assumptians
Service cost '
. Interest cost
Settlameni gain
Liabilty utilised
) Actuarial (gain) loss
* Exchange difference
Post—employment benefil 6bligation at 31 December 2022

Group

) Company '

2022 2021 2022 2021
£000 - £000 £000 £000
9,737 5,844 - -
{158] - - -
. 3,341 -

- 021 - -
2,088 - 1,718 - -
. 259 197 . -
{119) - B .
(3,138) (2,463) - -
{980) o1 g -
1,112 aB - .
8,801 9,737 - -

The reclassuﬁcatmn balance in 2021 represents gratuity provisions in other entitfes in the Gmup. that were previously recogmsed

within accruals.

POSt-BmpltJVmenl benefit obligation remeasuremant:
Liability gain due ta changes in assumptions
Liability experience loss arising dl.iring the year

Tatal actuarial (gain)! loss recognised in ather
_ccrriprehensfve income .

Exchange difference .

Total amount recogmsed In other comprehenswe income in
the year -

' Post-employment benefit obligation future cash flows: .

Expebted benefits paid by the plan far the next financial year

-consult:

.Amount, timing and uncertalﬁty of post-employment
benefit cbligation future cash fiows: . .

Sensitnnly 1 - discount rate plus 0.5% - % difference in posl-
employment benefil obligation

Sensitivity 2 — discounl rate minus 0.5% - % djfference In
pest-employment benefit obligation

- Sensitivity 3 — salary giowth rate plus 0.5% - % difference in
post-emp!oyment bensfit abligation,

Sensmwty 4 —salary growih rate minus 0.5% - % d1ﬂerence
in posl-employmem benefit obligation

Post—employment benefit obligation assumptlons
Dlscount rate ‘

Rate of compensatlon rncrease

Plan duration {years}

(1,075) . . (412) - -
95 503 - .
(880} .9 - -
4,112 88" - -
132 179 .
(1,233) (1.391) - -
{4.3%) (4.6%) - -
4.7% 4.9% - -
4.9% 52% - .
 (4.6%) (4.8%) - -
5.0% 26% - -
4.0% 3.0% - -
9.80 10.12 . -
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21. "Trade and other payables (continued)

Group

. . : . 2022
. T - ’ . £000
QOperate: . .

Amount, timing and uncertainty of post:-employment

benefit obligation future cash flows:

Sensitivity 1 = discount rate plus 0.5% - % difference in posl- " {4.9%)
employment benefit ebligation . - )

Sensitivity 2 — discount rate minus 0.5% - % dlﬁerence in

5.4%
posl-emp!oyment benefit obligation
Sensitivily 3 = salary growth rate plus 0. 5% - % d;fference in . §.2%

2%

post-ermployment benefil obligation
Sensitivily 4 — salary growth rate minus 0.5% - % difference . (5.7%)
in post-employment benefil obligation ) .
Post-employment benefit obligation ass.umptions:
Discount rate v 51%
Rate of compensation increase ' . - 3.0%
pian duration (years) i o : 11.36 -

2021
EQ00

{4.5%)
4.9%

5.0%

| (48%)

2.6%
3.0%

1021

Company
2022 - 2027
. E000 E£000

The assumplions used differ belwean Cansult and Operate as they are based on the slafi profile in these businesses and localions where the
. benefit is paid. The duration of the plan liabilities refates 1o the weighted average timing at which ihe End of Service Hlenefit payments are’
expected to accur. This is a result of the actuarial projections and depends on the profile of the membership data, malnly age, salary and
service, and on the, assumpuon basis adopled, mainly the normal retirement age and tumaver rates.

22. F'rovislons, contingent liabillities and contingent assets

vaislons

Provisions primarily include onerous contracl prnwslons land overage paymen'. and construction liabitilies, The construction ha'mhtles are
principally legal claims and costs, where provision. is made for lhe directors’ best estimate of known legal claims, investigations and legal.

actlons in progress.

Onerous contract provisians

Group Company

£000s ‘£70005

At January 2021 and 1 January 2022 - -

-Addltlonai provisions 3,?75 623

At 31 December 2022 ‘ ‘ 3775 - §23

© Qther provisions , B
Group Company

2022 2021 2022 To202

} £000s £000s £000s .' £000s

At1Jaruary . o . 96,146 84,315 84,852 71,091
Unused amounts released (11,332 (3313 " (10,629) (2,764)

Utilised provisions o (18,541) 9,712) (18,295) . (7,911)

Additional pravisions - ‘ - ) : 27T 24,856 27,623 24,456

Exchange difference’ - ] : . ) (56) - - -

~ At 31 December : R, 83,954 96,146 ‘g3s51 . BA,8h2

Other provisions included land overage payment provision of £6.3m (2021: £6.1m).
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22 Provisions, contingent liahilities and contlngent assets [continued)

Itis anl:cipaled that amounts pravided for will be utilised as follows:

Group - . Company
2022 © P02 2022 . 2021
£000s £000s £000s £000s
Due within-one year . . o .
‘ 9,334 12,483 766 10,506
Due after one year, 88,395 83,663 83,408, 74346
97,729 96,146 34',174 84,852 '

" in refation to the amounts included’in provisions, £33.8m (2021: £34.1m) of expected reimbursement is included within ather debtors in ncle
19.

Contingent abilities

The Company is party to a Group 1|ab:hly arrangement with ils principal bankers providing a nghl of set-off of all Group valznces. Whilst certain
Group companies have overdrawn balances, al 31 Decernber 2022 there was no net Group lndebtedness 10 its bankers and therefore the
direclors consider no contingency arises. ’ '

In additien te honds for construction pro:ects we also have a number of bonds for a variety of other purposes such as project managernenl
assignments internationally and guarantees. .

Provisions are made using the directors' best judgements’ and estimates of known legal claims, investigations and legal actions relating tothe
Graup which are considered more likely than not to result in an outflow of economic benefil, I the directors consider that a claim, investigation

- or aclion relaling to the Group is unlikely to succeed, no provision Is made. !f the direclars cannot make a reliable estimate of potential,
mateijal obligation, no provision js made but details of the claim are disclosed as conlingent liabilities. At 31 December 2022 the Mace Limited
Company and Group had no contingent Ilab[hlles in relation to claims (2021: £nil).

Contingent assetls
The Group had contingent assels of £15. 7m (2021: £15.4m) in relation to daims against third pames for the relmbursemem of costs on
- construction conltracts relating ta 6 ongoing matiers (2021: 6).

_Mace Limited Company had cohtangent assets of £15.8m (2021: £13.4m) In relation to claims agalnst thtrd-pames for the reimbursement of-
costs on construction contracts relaling to 5 ongoing matters {2021: 5). . R

Under 1AS 37 these amounis may only be recegnised when the economic benefit arising from the claims Is vmually certain. It i is probable thal
these arnounts will he recognised in future penods when the unceﬂamly over their recoverahlmy has been removed.

.23, Fmancual liabllities ~

Group- I - Company

‘2022 - 2021 2022 . . 2021
£000s . £000s £000s - £000s

Amounts due wilhm one year.‘

' Derivatives nuldesngnatad as hedging (hstruments: : .
Foreign currency exchange conlracts : ) 7 1511 7 1,51
Acquisition forward liability ' ’

‘ - 692 - -
Acquisition contingent fiabiity ' T 4686 117 - -
' 473 . 2320 7 1,511
Amounts due after more than dne year:
Acquisilion forward iability ‘ - 4,808 - o -
. Acquisition conlingent iabifity : . 181 1_,51ﬁ - -
' 181 . 6,416 - ’ -
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24.:

25.

Lease llabilities & borrowings

- R i .- ‘ ‘ . Group i o Company

2022 . 2024 2022 . 2021
. £000s £000s £000s £000s

Due within one year: o . C T ’ ‘
Bank overdrafl o _ T 42,481 40032 . 61,098 . 22833
Employes benefit trustloan .© - . T 2800 - 2,800 -
Lease liabililies _ 6,132 §,180 - 5252 4474
o ’ ) ’ ) 51,413 45212 . 69,150 27,107

Due within two 1o flve years:

Lease liabilities . E _ . . 19,386 17,777 17,525 © "16,1B5
_ Employee benefit trust loan . R - - 2800 . - 2,800
' 19,386 20,577 17,525 18995

See the section on capital risk management in the financial risk management note 3 for further details of.exter.nal borrowings.
As_sets and liabilities héld for sale- '

Company:

As at 31 December 2022, £1.7m investment in subsk’!i.ar-ies of the; Company were raclassified to held for sale..

The investment in subsidiaries held for sale are Mace inlernational Limited (and ils subsidiaries), Mace Holdings Limiled {and its
subsidiaries), Mace Cost Consultancy Limited, MSecure Limited, and tMace Construci Specialist Services Limiled. The assets are
expecled to be sold within 12 months to Mace Consult Limited and Mace Construct Limited. Mace Consult Limited and Mace Construct
Limited are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group. On 1 January 2023, the Company-disposed of the entities. lnfoa-mahan on the
dispasal is |ncfuded in note 31. )

. Group:

Mace Macro Technical Services LLC enlity is a subsidiary of the Group 1hal was reclassified to held for sale on 15 June 2021 with
the expectalion that this would be sold within 12 manths.
. ! 7 .
- The heid for sale assals and ||abal|hes heid in 2021 relate to an investment in subsidjary that is not a major line of business or
geographical area of operations for the Group and was not acqmred exclusively with the view to resale. It is therefore not classified,
as a discontinued operation. .

On 15 August 2022 lhe Group disposed of Mace Macro Technical Services LLC. Information on lhe dnsposal ls mcluded in the disposal
note 16. . .

Assets of a dlsposal group c!assnried as held for

* sale: C ) 2022 2021

. . . : £000s £000s
Propery, plant and equipment - . o - ’ 1]
Intangible assels ) ) . : ’ - 96
Trade and ather recelvables . . - . 578
Currenl 1ax assels ' ) - 3
Cash at bank T : o ' T v . 254
. - 932

Liabilities nfa disposal group classified as held for

sale: . ‘ : - ) “2022° 2021
. o Co £000s £000s

Trade and other payables - . . : : ’ - © (631)
Cuerent tax liabilties : : L : - - {145)
- - (778) .
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25. - Assgets and liabilities held for sale {(continued)

Statement of comprehensive income: ) ) . . :
Mace Macro Technical Services LLC . . . . .2022 2021

- £000s £000s,
Revenue ' ‘ . - .. 3,675
Cost of sales ' N - o . .- ) {3,099)
Gross profit . . ’ Y - 576
Administrative expenses : ' ’ - ) ’ - (80)
Operating profit - . : - oo ABG
Finance costs _ . . B : - o
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation ' ] 479
Income.tax ) - -
Profit ' . . . - 479
- 26" Share capital and Teserves
Number of Ordinary
’ . .shares’ shares value
Group and Company: ’ - ’ - £000s
Allotied, celled up and fully paid o .
Ordinary shares at 0.01p each’ . 997,281 . 997
. Ordinary A shares at 0.01p each . . ’ ] . 348,000 . 3
AL 31 December 2021 and 022 ) ' © 1,345,281 1,000

The A Ordlnary shares have nha voting rights. If approved in writing hy holders of not less than 80% of the Ordinary shares, a dividend
may be paid on the 'A’ Ordlnary shares

Reserves:
The foreign exchange reserve hokds gains and losses on the re-transiation of subsidiaries denominated foreign currencies.

Retained sarnings movernent relates to the profit and loss result of the year as well as distribution of dividends.
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Mace Limited

" Notes to the financial staternents (continued)
Year ended 3t December 2622 ’

27. . Notes to the cash flow statement

Group reconciliation of operating activities to operating cash fiows

7,479 - [1,504}

, 2022 2021 -
Note £00Cs £000s
Cash flows from operating activities * i ’ o -
Profit before interest ' 43,661 51,383
Adjustments for: N
Profit on disposal of fixed assels 6 5 -
Profit on lease amendments . - (273)
" Depraciation of property, plant and equipment 13 6,955 . 6,396
Amortisation of intangible asséts 14 " 3,160 2,409
Acquisition costs 18 - 205
" -Profit 6n disposal of investmenis 16. (649) (6,070}
Share of net profits of joint ventures 18 . (2,625) " (2,899)
Revaluation ta falr value . 650 - (207}
Movement on provisions 30,837 34,165
income from government grants (14,942} {2,1G0)
Other non-cash movemenis . - (354)
Foreign exchange - retranslation ' 5438 4 164
Cash flows before changes in working c¢apitail ~ ﬂ,atﬂb 86,809
Working capital cha'nges: .
Increase in trade and other receivables {875) ) h16,035)
Decrease in work in progress 5,049 24,421
(Decrease)! increase in trade payables {24,996) 55478 -
Government grants and loan 14,942 144
Decrease in working capital {5,880) (35,992)
Income taxes paid . {12,578) (5,840)
Net finance incomel {costs) , 2,492 {6,424)
Net cash inflows from aperating activities 56,524 38,553
Reconcillation of changes in liabilities arising from financing transactions:’
. Nqn-éash changes
Foreign . 3i
1 January Cash exchange Fair value’ December
2022 flows movement  Additions changes 2022
. £000s - £000s £000s £000s E000s
Employee benefit trust loan i 2,800 - - - - 2,800
Lease liabilities . . : ' 2'2_95? (5.134) 216 7.479 - - 25518
' Uerivatives not designated as hedging ’ : . .
instruments: Foreign curiency exchange- - -
contracts . - 1,511 - - - _{1,504) . 7.
Total liabilities from financing B
activities 27,258 {5,134) - 216 28,325



‘Mace Limited

Notes to the financial statements (contmued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

27,

28

Notes to the cash flow-slatement (continued)

Restricted cash : . .
Restricted cash of £26.5m (2021, "£0.2m) includes £11.1m held within Mace Limited Company joini operat:ons for restricted use,

. including £3.4m of cash held in proiect bank accounts. £14.8m was held for an advance payment bond that was released in 2023,
' Thera are soma other smaller rastricted cash balances amountlng to £0.6m (2021: £0.2m). .

Net cash reconciliation o B . . . ‘ 2022 . 2021

. - _£'000 £000
Shoit term lease liabiities and borrowings . o o (51,413) {45,212)
Leng term lease kiabilkies anid borrowings . o (18,386) T (20,577}
Less: lease liabilities ' ) 25,516 22,957
Cash at bank (excluding restricted cash) .. - ’ ce 159,874 ) 164,888
Net cash ‘ . . 114,681 - 122,056

Share-based payments

As parl of the arrangements constituting the MBO of January 2014, 1,850,000 ordinary shares were issued at par to an Employee

. Benefit Trust conirolied by the ultimate parenl Company. The purpose of the issue was to enable the Group to incenlivise direclors and

eligible amployees by granting them shares’ or aptions over the shares. At 31 December 2022, 1,905,000 (2021: 1,565,889) shares had
been granted. Share based payment charges arising from share opticns and an unrestricted share issue relaling to directors of lhe
Company have been charged to the siatement of comprehensive income and disclosed within directors’ remuneralian in note 9. The
share-based paymenis have been recharged from the ullimate parent Company; in the accounts of which the charges have been
credited against reserves,

Share Option Scheme

The Group's share option scheme was created in 2014 for the, pnmary purpose of providing -incentives to direclors and eligible
employees. Under the scheme, ‘the Board of the ultimate parent Company may grant oplions over shares in the ultimate parent Company
held by the EBT 1o eligible employees, including direclars. In Navember 2014 options were lssued over 170,187 shares to sevan
Individuals. No consideralion was payable on the grant of an oplion. Oplions may be exercised once ceriain conditions have been mat.

The right to exercise expires on the 10th anniversary of the dale of the grant of the aption, A further 40,000 eptions were granted in
2017 1o 2 indwlduals The fair value of the aptions granled was calculated uging the Black Scholes Model and included the fallowing

inpuls:

. 2017 2014
Exercise price £0.78 E1.07
Expected volalility 29.05% . 50.96%
Option life - ’ - Byears : 5 years
Expacted dlvidends 3.47% 8.89%
Risk free lnlerest rale 0.57% 1.32%

The fair value was recognised over the vesling period which was eslimated as 5 years. The chaige in 2022 amounted lo ‘£nil {2021
-£76,977). The share-based paymenls have been techarged from the ultimale parent Company.

_ Set out below are summaries of aptions granted under tha plan:

2022 ' " 2021

Avorage Average
exercise price Number of exercise price Number of share
’ . . " per share option  share options per share option options
As at 1 January o £0.99 ' 139,112 £0.99 AR
Exercised during the year £0.96 {114,075} £1.07 {15,000)
As al 31 December . - - CE4.07 28,037 £089 . 139,132 -
Vested and exercisable as at 31 December £1.07 ) . 28,037 £0.98. . '139,112

Share appraciation rights

It April 2022, the Company issued 145,000 share appreciation rights_of the ulimate parent Gompany to 4 individuals fof Enll
consideralion. The restrictions denoled ihat, until certain conditions were mel, the shares could not be voled or receive a dividend and
would only be settled in cash by the exercise of oplions by lhe Company. The conditions to be fulfilled are considered not prabable in
2022 and no charge has been recognised in 2022, . .

Contributign to parent Company employee benefit scheme :

in 2021, the Company made & contribution to an employee benefit scheme. The employee henefit scheme is consolidaled into the
ultimate parent Company accounts and thus, this contribution has been treated as a distribution lo the ultimate parent Company. Mace
Finance Limited. The contribution to the EBT Is presanted as part ofﬁnancmg cashﬂows in the cashflow statement.
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" Notes to the financial statements {coniinued)
Year ended 31 December 2022 o '

29, Related party transactions

- Group ' - 7 I 2021
S ' : £000s : £000s

Transactions between the Group and its joint venlures:

Trading transactions

- Sales - o ' L o202 - - 8,656
Purchases _ ' . {109) . (128)
Non-trading transactions’ o .

Dividends received . ' ) o 2,524 4,406
Interesi recaivable . - 5072 . 4,883

Balances between the Group and ils joint venlures can be feund in notes 19-210

Lbansto divectors .

Directors overdrawn loan accounts included in receivables {note 19) are loans.awing fram directors which are repayable on exercise’
of their share options. 5455 tax has been provided in respect of these director overdrawn leans. These loans are not interest bearing.

80



Mace Limited .

Notes to the financial statements (cortinued)
Year ended 31 December 2022 :

30, Leases

The Group helds property leases for offices in the UK and Intemationally. The most significant property lease is for the Graup's hiead office in
Moorgale, Landan. The Group elso has short term leases for motor vehicles.

. The Group acled as -Iessm in the period and received rental income for student accommodation and 2 retail unil,

Group . ) Company.
202z 2024 ' 2022 2021
. . ) B} £000s - £000s £000s ' £000s -
_ Income in relation to leasing - o 156 1474 196 T Lng
Group Company
- t2022 2021 . 2022 . 2021
: . ) £000s £000s £000s £000s
Du# within 1 year ' . T 209 ) 187 - . 209 - 166
Due within 2-5years .~ - . © 628 664 628 | 664
Due in more than § years - . 7 - 7
Total S ] 837 BS8 - 837 a7
" Gash flows In rejation to leases;
“Cash inflow in relation to leasas where Mace is the i . :
lessor . 186 1,474 196 ) 209 -
. Cash outflows in relation to leases where Mace is.the S ; -
lessee {5,892) (5,217) ©{4999) (4.052)
Net cash outfiow _ i ' (5,5%6) (3,743) (4.803) (3,843)

The pnnc!pal elemenl of the lease paymenl is ingluded in financing activilies and Lhe mterest componenl is included in operating achvutles inthe
cash ﬂow staternent.

Cther disciosures: :
Analysis of the right-of-ugse assets an the balance sheet is included in the pruperty. plant & eéquipment note 13.

Analysis of lhe lease Yiabilities on the balance sheet is included in the lease Rabilities and borrowmgs note 24 and the related interest charge in the
interest note 8, .

‘The maturily analysis of the lease liabilities is presented in the financial risk management note 3. .
In"addition to [he closing lease liability at the year end, the Group also has commiments for leases that are short term. The expense |ncurred in
relation to these leases is disclosed in the operating profit nate 6.

Commitments and future cash outflows in relation to lease expenses are expected lo be in line with the annual expense d\sciused for the year
ending 31 December 2022, as reported in the operahng profil and EBITDA note 8.

. 31. Post balance sheet events

Grgup rasinicture changes '

On1 January 2023, Mace Limited transferred the following entities to other subsidiaries of the group with total consnderatlon of £14.2 million
and gain on disposal of £12.5m in Company.leval income statemant. The related invesiment balance has been raclassified to agset hald for
sale for the year ended 31 Decerber 2022. There js no accounting impact on the consolidated balance sheet and income staternent.

- Mace Intesnalional lelled {and its subsidiaries); Mace Holdings Limited (ar its subsidiaries), Mace Cosl Consu&tancy Limited and
MSecure Limited were transférred from Mace Limiled Lo Mace Consuit Limiled.

- Mace Construcl Specialisl Services LimHed was transferred from Mace Limited to Mace Construct Limited,

DISPDSG-' of a subsidiary :
On 14 March 2023, the Group d|sposed Bethnal Green Regenerallon lelled for consideration of £0.05m resulllng 1n a galn of dispasal of
£0.05m.

Legacy project provision - Updale .

On 26 June 2023, 2 courtjudgemenl was handed down in raspacl of a lagacy contract for which a :emedlahon provision has been made. The
format hearing has been adjourned, dnd the judgement remains subject to potential appeal. The judge determined several principies that are
positive for Mace and are expecled to result in the value of the year end prcwsmn bemg reduced, Althis stage, itis nol possible to quantify -
the potenha] |mpacl on the year end provision. .
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

32, List of joint ventures, joint operations and assoclate undertakings

The following is a Fst of joint veniures and associale entilies of Group.

Develop .
Company Country of Tax Resldency Voting Nature of business
N . ) regisirationf _righis .
incorporation .
BDC Phase 2 Limited* . : United Kingdom Uniled Kingdom 50. | Develop
Bolley Developments (Holdings) Limited® * | United Kinggom United Kingdom 50 | Develop
Botley DevManCao Limited* United Xingdom . | United Kingdom §0 | Develop
Comrercial Road Development Managemenl Limiled* Unlied Kingdom United Kingdori ‘50 | Develop
. pace Develop Latimer (Stevenage] LLP” ’ United Kingdom - | United Kingdori - 50 | Develop
Mace Develop Latimer (Slevenage) Plot A LLP* .| Uniled Kingdom United Kingdom - 50 | Develop
Mace Develop Latimer (Stevenage) Plot K LLP* ) . United Kingdom ' United Kingdom . B0 | Develop ' . N
Mace Develop Latimer Limited” o United Kingdom UnltedrKInqdam 50 Develﬁp )
MPD Trinity LLP* . ) Uniled Kingdom ' United Kingdom . 33 | Develop
The Boley Devél.upmenl Comp:dny Limiled” . Uniled Kingdom Unite:d Kingdom 50 | Develop
West Way Academic Residential 1 Limited* - Uniled Kingdom ~ ° Ualted Kingdom 50 | Develop
West Way Academic Residential 2 Limited” Uniled Kingdom United Kingdom * 50 | Develop
Wastway Estata Management Limited® . . Uniled Kingdom Uniled Kingdom 56 | Develop
Construct -
Caompany . Country of ’ ‘Tax Res|dency Voling | Nature of business
: . reglstration/ : °| rights :
) Incarporation
New Burlington Devel ts Limited* (el in C ’ i
process) . . . . United Kingdom _ United Kingdom 50 | Canstruct
Constilt
Company i Gountry of o “Tax Resldéncy_ Voting { Nature of business
- reglstration! rights
Incarp { : ]
Mace Avista Py Ltd . ‘Auslralia - - Auslralia 50 .|, Consull
Mace Engenhard E Senicas Lida . | angaia Aagala - 47 | Consult:
MMQSMace Consullancy (Ply) Limiled, : South Africa South Afica 49 | Gonsull
SAMQS Mace (Pty) Umhed : . South Atica Sauth Atica 48 | consult
. cm Detivery Partner Limited® ' " | Uniled Kingdom Uniled Kingdom 25 | Consult
MWLV Limiled United Kingdarm United Kingdam - 50 | Consuit
Mace - Jacobs Consortium . ' Greece . Greece 50 | Consull
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32.List of]oiﬁt ventures, joint operations énd associate undertakings

The following is a list of olherjoint'arrange[nents that the Group participate.

Consult
Unincorporated joint arrangement ) : . Participaticn share Mature of arrangeméant
HE2 Euston ! _ ' } 50% | consul
‘Dubaj Expo 2020 . A . . © A% | consull”
Farascn A ) : . X 50% | Consuk
Schiphol Alrpant (Fier Airside) o ' ] 55% | consutt
A, Integrator ) ‘ — . ] i © 0% eonsull
Highways England FDP ' i ] i} 3% | consull
Peru G2G B " ; " ] 45% | consull
Nerthern Estate (Frogramme, Project and Cosl Managemenl Services la the Corporate 0% | consult
Officers of the House of Commons and the House of Lords) .
Bicentenary Education G2G . I . 50% 1 consun -
W52 Curzon Seat : N
Flatiion - — : ' 50% | consun
Oniario Go Expansion ) o » N 33% | Goasul
Melrolinx Suh;nays Delivery Pariner . - 3% Consult ’
:
Construct: ‘
Unincorporated ]oln-: arrangement ' . l . . Particlpation share Nature of arrangement
Sumner Sireet - Landsec o : . ’ 50% Cunslm:".!

* Companles are registered al head office address in the UK: 155 Moorgate, London, EC2M 6XB
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Notes to the financial statements {continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022 ‘

33. List of subsidiary undertakings

The lallawing is & list of Lhe direcl and indirect subsidiary entities of the Group.

Develop . . .
Country of registration/ | Tax Residency _ | voting Nature of husiness
Company * i Incorporatian’ g rights
Belhnal Green Regenaration Limited* {soid United Kingdom United Kingdom 51 Cevelop
14i03/2023) . - N .
Graduation Student Living Limited” United Kingdom United Kingdom - 100 Qevelop
Greenwich Square Commercial Limiled* United Kingdom ° United Kingdom 160 Develop
Greanwich Square Limited* . ’ Uniled Kingdom Uriited Kingdom 100 | Develop
Wice Dévelop Liied” T United Kingdom United Kingdom 10 | Deveiop
Mace Davelopments (Greenwich) Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Devetop
Mace Developments (Stevenage) Limited® United Kingdom United Kingdam v - 180 Develop
Mace ﬂevelopn:lenls Limiled” . K United Klngdaom United Kingdom L1100 Develap
Mace Estale Solulions Limited™ .  United Kingdom Unitad Kingdom | 150 Develop
Consiruct - ) ) - : .
‘Country of registration/ | Tax Residency ©{ Voting Nature of business
Company Incorparation rights 5 -
Mace Intemational Gonstruclion (Belgium) BY Belgium - Beigium 100 Construcl
Avenue Mamix 23, fith floor . .
1000 Brusseis ~
Belgium - y |
Mace Technology Denmark ApPS Denmark . Cenmark 100 Construct |
Harbour House . )
Sundxrogsgade 21
2100 Copenhagen
-Denmark . -
Mace Technotogy (Ireland) Limited ) Ireland Ireland “400 Construct
Flacr 3, Block 3 - .
Miesian Plaza
Dubitn 2, reland - -
Mace Management Services 8.V. Netherlands - - Netherands : 100 Construct
Zuidplein 116 | . . .
Tower H, Level 14, 1077XV
Amslerdam
Netherfands '
Como Construclion Limited® E United Kingdom - | Uniled Kingdom . 100 Dormant
Como Group Limited* - Uniled Kingdom ‘| United Kingdem 100 Hotding Company
Como Hamas Limited* - . United Kingdom | United Kingdomn .100 Dormant
Whace Consiruct Limiled" [ Ued Kingdom United Kingdom o0 | Constul
Mace Conslruct Spetialist Services Limited* .| United Kingdom © | United Kingdoi 100 Construct
Mace Construclion (international) Limited* United Kingdorm United Kingdom 100 Construet
Mace Facades Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom * 100 Construct
Mage Inleriors Group Limited* . Unitad Kinggom Uniled Kingdom 100 c;:ns:r‘uc:l
Mace Living Limited* -] United Xingdom Uniled Kingdom 100 Caonstruct
Mace MEP Serviz':es Limited* - - United Kingdom . Uniled Kingdom - 100 :Construet
Mace Plus Academies Limited” United Kingdom : Uniled Kinpdom 100 Construct
Mace Flus Group Limited”® ) Urnited Kingdaom United Kingdom | 100 Caonstruct
Mace Pivs Limiied- | Uniied Kingticm United Kingaom 00| Constrl
Mace Tech Limiled* . United Kingdom | United Kingdom 100 Constiuct
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Notes to the financial statements {rantinued) -

Year ended 31 December 2022

" 33. List of subsidiary ﬁnde_l'_taki.ngs {continued}”

Consult

Company ]

Country of registration!
Incosporation

Tax Resldency

Volfng -

rights

Nature of business

Mace Auslralia Proprietaiy Limited
514 02" Level 14, 68 Pilt Street,
Sydney NSW 2000

Australia

Australia

Ausiralia

160

Consull and Cperate -

Mace Consullancy (Canada) Limited ©
c/o ARC Information Services Ine -~ .
3-84 Casllebury Crescenl

Taronio, Ontario M2H W8

Canada

Canada

Canada

Consult

Mace Zagreh d.o.0.
Pelrinjska 42 a
Zagreb 10000
Croalia

Croatia

Croatia

100 |

-Consult

Callomin Property Solufions Limiled
59-61 Acropolis Avenue

3 ficor, Flat 301

Nicosia 2012

Cyprus -

Cyprus -

Cyprus

100

Consuit

Mace Holdings Lirmited ®
5§9-81 Acropolis Avenue
"4 froor, Flat 301y
1 Nicosia 2012

Cyprus

Cyprus

Cypius

100

Consuit - Holding company

Mace Interational Limited ®
£0-81 Acropolis Avenue
Savvides Court 2 lloor
Nicosia 2012

“Cyprus

Cyprus

Dubai

100

Consuit

Mace Egypt for Project Management L.L.C.
10 Al-Obour Buildings i
Salah Salem Road
10 Floor, Apartment 1
Cairo

| Egypt

Egypl

Egypl

100

Consult

Mace Projets Sarl .
.27 Place de la Madeleine
75008 Parls

France

France

France

100

Consult

Mace GmbH
Hamburger Aliee 45
60486 Frankfurt,
Germany

Germany

“Germany

Consuit

Mace Managemenl Service Limited
Kwakkranya Sireet .
Accra 1359 - .

Ghana.

Ghana

Ghana

1ag

Consutt B

_Mazce Limlied
Room 24, Unit B, 8/F
HungMott industrial Building
82 Huag To Read
Kwun Tong
Hong Ko

Hong Xong

Hong Kong

100

Consuit and Operate

Tencore Limited

Unil 507, 5/F Chinachem Plaza
77 Mody Road .
Tsimn Sha Tsui East

Hang ¥Xong

Hong Kong

Tiong Korig

B0 .

Consuil

Tenman (HK) Limited

Unit 507, 5/F Chinachem Plaza
77 Mody Road ’

|l Tsim Sha Tsui East

Hong Kong

Mong Kong

Hong Kong

60

Consutt -

Mace Projact & Cost Managemeﬁl Private
Limited -

Near Sikandarpur Melro Station, Sector 28
Gurgaon

Haryana

122002

Ingla ) .

03A171 & 01A172 Plalina Tower, MG Road -

india -

India

100

Consult

Mace Consultancy (Ireland} Limited -
Floor 3 Black 3,

Mieslan Plaza

Dubln :

lreland

frefand

Ireland -

100

Consuit
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‘33, List of subsidiary undertakings (cpﬁﬁnued)

Cor}sull

Compan

Country of registration/
Incorporation

Tax Residency

Vaoting
rights

Nature of buslness.

Mace Consultancy [Jersey) Limiled
44 Esplanade, S| Helier

Jersey JE4 WG

Jersey

Jersey

100

Consult

Muace Management Services LiLP

78, Bailursynuly Strget V-
Aparimen! 38, Almalinskiy District

050022 Almaty . ..
Kazakhstan

Kazakhstan

Kazakhstan

100

Darmant,

Mace Managemen! Services Lfmﬂed

The Westwood, Sth Floor

Vale Close oft Ring Road Westtands Nairobi
Kenya

Kenya

Kenya

100

Cansult

Mzce YMR lelled Liability Paﬂnershlp
4th Floor, East Wing

Lion Place, Nalrobi

Kenya ~

Kenya

Kenya

B1

Caonsult

Mace Limitada

Alameda Dr, Cavlas d'Assumpcao, no. 263
China Civit Plaza  ~ |

€o andarMe N !

Macav

Macau

Macau

100

“Consult

MaceYMR Ltd

cfo Malca Limited, 11th floor, Tower §
Nexteracom Building

Ebene Cybarcity

Mauritius

Mauritius

Mauritivs -

61

Consult

Mace Management Services, SARL
106, Rue Abderrahman Sehmaoul
Casablarica, 20070

Mairocce

Morocco

Moroccy

100

Consall

Ulremace B.V. .

Zuidplein 118, Tower H, Level 14
ADTIXNV Amsterdam
Netherlands

Nelherlands

Netherlands

100

Domant

Mace Management Services Limiled
248 Amedu Tijani Clese, Victeria Island

Lagos Slate, Nigeria

Nigeria

Nigerla

100

Consult

Mace Intemational LLC
PO Box 686

Muscat Governatarate:
Mutrah, Ruwi

112

Oman

Oman

- B8

Consull

Mace Consuli Pakistan (Private) lelted :
4th Floor, Central Hotel Building

Civii Lines

Mereweather Road

Karachi

Pakisian

Pakistan

Pakistan '

Consult

Mace Consulkiancy (Peru) S.A.C
Avenue Santo Toribio 143

San Isidro .
iima, Peru

Paru

iw

Consuit

Tenman Project Management Inc

Rooms B05-808, B™ Floor The Cne Execulive
QOftfice Building

5 Wast Avenue

Brgy Nayong Kanjuran

Quezon City

Philipplnes

Phllippines

- BO-

Consult

Phllippines
Mace Polska Spolka zoo
Al.Jana Pawla i 29

00-867 Warszawa
Poland

Pojané

Poland

100

Consult

Mace — Consuiloria & Gestac de Pm;eclas )
Consirucao, Lda
_Rua Nova StellaNo 7
2780 — DB7?, Caxias
Portugal

Portugal

Portugal’

100

Consult

Mace Managemenl Services Limited
Umujyi wa Kigali

Gasabo, Kacyinu

Rwanda

Rwanda

Rwanda

100

Consull

Mace Arabia for Engineering Consultancy LLC
The Business Gate, Unil A, Second Flaor
Zone C, Buikding 4

PO Box 12195

Riyadh, 11473

Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabia

Consull
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33. List of subsidiary undertakings {continued)

Consult

Company__ .

Country of registration/
incarperation

Tax Residency

Voting

rights

Nature of business

D

Mace Holdings Limlled

Al Mcusa Centre, Tower 4
Unil 435, Olaya Street
0 Box 9817, Riyadh
12241

Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabla

Saudi Arabia

55.

Consu)l‘ .

Mace Asia Consultancy Ple Lid
80 Reblnson Road
- No, 0200
Singapore
Q68898

Singapcre

Singapore *

100

Consull

Mace Project Solutions (Ply) Limited
Bryanston Place Office Park

st Floor Sguthview Building

198 Bryarision Drive

Bryansion

Gauleng 2129

South Africy

South Africa

Sowth Alrica

48

Consult

. Mace Managemen! Services (Ply) Limited
Flgor 2 Building 1 Waverley Office Park
15 Ferest Road, Bramley

Johannesbirg .

Gauleng 2199

South Africy

South Africa

South Alrica

100

Coﬁsult

| aouth AICE
Mace Managemant Services S.A
Paseo de |3 Castellana
136 Edificia Cuzeo B
Plania 3. 24048
Madrid
Spain :

Spaln’

Spain

i00

Consylt

Managemeni and Excallance Consdlancy
{Qatar) Limited

2nd Floor, Otfica 204

. Building 63, Al Matar Sireel 310

Zone 27, Duha

Qatar

State of Qatar |,

Stale of Qatar

er

Consull

Mace GmbH {closure in process)
cla Urs Schneebeli
Scheikleggstrasse 119

a038

Zurich, Swilzerland

Swilzerfand

Switzerland

100

Congult |

- Mace Management Services AG
tio OBT AG

Sleinengraben 42, 405+, Basel
Swiizerand

Swilzerland

Swilzertand

100

Consull

Mace Syda LLC
“No registered office

Syria

Synia

100

Bormant

Mace Construction. Management and
Consullancy Services Limited

Macka Cad. Yuncer Building, No:28 D.13
Macka, Sigli
Istanbul, Turkey

Turkey

Turkey

00

Congult

- YMR Parnership Uganda
Plol 24b AXjbua Road, Nakasero
Ericson Buliding 3rd Ftocr
Kampala
Uganda

Uganda

Uganda

51

Consult

Mace {New Zealand) Limiied" §

Unlled Klngdam

" United Kingdom

100

Conisult

Mace (Rusgia) Limiled*

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Consult

Mace (Slovakia) Limited”

* {. Unlted Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Consult

Mace Angola Special Prajecls Limited”

United Kingdem

United Kingdom

100

Cansult

Mace Consull Limiied®

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Consult

Mace Consultancy (Asia Pacific) Limited*

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Consult

Mace Consullancy (Europe) Limited™ ®

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Consull

Mace Consullancy (MENA) Limited*

Uniled Kingdom

Unlted Kingdom

100

Congubl
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Mace Limited

Notes to the financial statements {continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

- 33. Lisl of subsidiary undertakings {continued)

Consult - . :
Company Country of reglstration/ Tax Resldency Voting Nature of business
- Incorporation rights 5 .
Mace Cansulancy {Netherdands) Limited* ® United Kingdom . United Kingdam_ 100 Caonsult .
Mace Consuliancy (Pery) Limited* ® United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Consult
Mace Consultancy {Sub-Saharan Africa) Limited* United Kingdom _ Uniled Kingdom 100 consult
Mace Consuifancy (The_.‘\_meﬁcas) Limited* United Kingdam United Kingdom Aag Consult
Mace Gost Gonsultancy Limiled” United Kingdom Uniled Kingdom 100 | Coredit
Mace lnlarnational (UK) Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom’ 100 Consult
Mace |ntarnational Overseas Limiled*® ® Uniled Kingdom United Xingdom 100 Consull
Mace Prajects (South Afnica) Limiled*® United Kingdom United Kingdur_n ) 100 Consull
Mace Sustain Limited” Dnited Kingdom United Kingdom - 100 | Dormant
Msecure Limited* Uniteq Kingdom United Kingdom © 100 Consuit
Mace North America Limited ® USA usa 100 Consult
3500 Lenox Road
Suite 1500
Altanta GA 30326
Unijted Siates of America .
Mace Vietnam Company Limited ® Vietnam Vietnam 100 Consult
Floor 13, BIDV Tower, No. 194, -
Tran Quang Khai Street '
Ly Thai To Ward
Hanai City
Vietnam
Group services . :
Campany Country of registration/ Tax Residency Voling Nature of business
incorporation . ‘rights
Clove Holdings Investments Limited** Gibraltar Gibrallar N/A Holding company of
S employee benelit trst
Mace Group 1.C.S Limited Ireland Iretand 100 Derment
Floor 3, Black 3 . ° N -
Miesian Plaza
Bubtin 2
Ireland
City Fringe Limifted” United Kingdom United Kfpgdum - 100 Holding company
Frontier Finenge PIc {in liguidallon) United Kingdom . Uniled Kingdam 100 Public limited company
i\l!ace Living é‘mlulions Limited Unilad Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Living éututionh
Mace infrasiructure timited United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Damant
Operate .
. Company Country of registration/ Tax Resldency Vating Nature of business
. incorporation : rights -
Mace Macro Brazil Consulioria Em Projetos E Brazil Brazil 100 Opemale .
Construcao Lida - . ) .
1 Alameda Santos 200, Corjunic 82, Sao Paulo,
01418-00, Brazil . .
Mace Macro Chile Spa Chile Chite 100 Operale
Padre Mariano No 272
Office §02-
Pravidencia
Sanliago .
Chile
Mace {Chine) Limiled i Ching -. China 100 Operale
Room CO4,17/F l
2650 North Zhongshan Road
Putuo Oisfrict
Shanghai
China - -
Mace Macro Inlernational Limited ® - Cyprus Dubai 100 QOperate
58-81 Acropolls Avenue !
3" floor, Flal 301 - .
Nicosia 2012 .
Cyprus
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Mace Limited

Notes to the financial statements (contmued) :

Year ended 31 December 2022

33. List of subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Operate

Company

Gountry of registrations
incorporation

.Tax Residency

Voting
rights

Mature of business

Mace Macyo Ingia (FM Solutions) Private Limited
16" Flaor, Byilding 9, Tower A

Regus Price Business Cenlres Privala Limited

OLF Cybercliy, Phase 3

Gurgaon, Haryans

122002 Indig

India

India

100

Operate

Mace Macio (freland) Limited
- Joyce House
2223 Holles Sireet A
Dublin 2 ° )
Ireland

Ireland

lretand

- 100,

Operate’

Mace Macro Intemational Inveslmenis Limited —
Jordan -
720 Lavel 7

Waha Ammoun Buiiding

Gardens Sireel, Amman, 45662

Jordan

Jordan

Jordan

109

_Operal.e

Mace Macro Lukembourg S.4 v. L
45-rue des Scilas -
L 2529 Howald ) -

Luxermbourg

Luxembourg

100

Opemlé

urg

Mace Macra International Limited LLC
Office 201, 2™ Floor

Maktabl #, Al Khuwair

| POBox 111y

1 Muscal 111

Oman

Oman

Oman

70

Oparale

Mace Macra Pakistan (Pvt) Limiled
4th Floof, Ceniral Hotel Bmldmg
Civil Linee

Mereweather Road

Karachl

Pakislan '

Paklstan

Pakislan

100

Ogparate

Mace Macra Saudi Arabia 1 imited

P.Q. Box 14048 Jeddah Kingdom Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabia

- SaudiArabia

50

Operale

Macro Saudi Arabia Limited

PO Box 1001, Amir Sultan Street
Jeddah 21434,

K8A

Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabia

75

Dormant

Macro Qalar LG

Office No.3, 3rd Flcor, Bullding No. 7
Al Hitmi Village

C Ring Roag

Doha, P.O.BOX 31237

Qatar

Slate of Qatar

Siate of Oatar

49

Operate .

Mace Macra Inlernational Invesiments Limiled

Bin Shabib & Associates (BSA) LLC

DIFC Buitding 3, 8th lgor - i :
.P.Q. Box 282, Cubai
Unlted Arab Emirates

UAE

VAE '

100

Operata

“FM24 Limileg®

Unhed Kingdom

-Uniled Kingdom

100

Operale

Mace (Poland) Limiled* ®

United Kingdom

Uniled Kingdom

100

Ope.rale

Mace Macra (Asia Pacific) Limited* ®

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Operala

Mace Macio (The Americas) Limited® ®

United Kingtdom

Uniled Kingdom

100

- Operate

Mace Macra Africa Limited” ®

* Uniled Kingdom

Uniled Kingdom

100

Operale

Mace Macra Europe Limiled* ®

Uniled Kingdorm

Uniled Kingdom’

400

Openate

‘Mace Macra timlted*

Uniled Kingdom

Uniled Kingdom

100 -

Cperate

Mace Operate {MENA) timited*

United Kingdom

Uniled Kingdom

100

Operate

Mace Operate Limilad=

United Kingdom

United Kingdam

1og

QOperale
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Mace Limited

Notes to the financial'statements (continued])
Year ended 31 Decemher 2022

33. List of subsidiary undertakings {continuea) 7

Compan]as ara registered al head office address in the UK; 155 Moorgalte, London, EC2ZM 6X8

* Clove Invesiments Holdings Limited Is an indirect & t of the Company. Il Is 2 direct investment of the Mace Limited Employee
Benefit Trusl. The shareholder of Clove Invesiment Holdings Limited Is a numinee shareholder and acts on insirucions glven lo Iher by Mace Limlled
© Companies with ane.or more international dfapch reg|slralmn5

The Company has’ guaranleed the liabllities of the following, subsidiaries exemp! from audit under section 479A of the
. Compames Act 2006 The cnmpany names and regustered numbers (CRN) are below:

City Fringe anlted . C Mace Developments (Greenwich) Limiled
{CRN: 11479883} . (CRN: 6987720} .
ComarConstruclion tlmsled . . . . Mace Developmenls (Stevenage) Limited
{CRN: 4843980) ' (CRN: 11734465) .
Coma Group Limiled . . ' © Magce Developments L|rmled
{CRN: 4643572) , . .- {CRN: 11630828)
Como Homes Limiled . - - Mace Eslate Solutions Llrnl{ed
(CAN: 488¢852) . ) : _(CRN: 12738503)
FM 24 Limited ' : Mace Facades Limiled
{CRN; 3773320) ) — . . (CRM: 11806325) .
Gragualicn Student Living Limiled : . _ Mace [nteriors Group Limited
(CRN: 7773718) . {CRN: 04643576) -
Greenwich Square Cammerciat Limited <L Mace Infernationat (UK} Umited
(CRN: 8136122) - L {CRN: 11638975)
Gregnwich Square Limiled Mage Infrastruglure Limited
[CRN: 08220808) . . . . (CRN: 14482714)
Mace (New Zealand) Limiled . Mace Inlernational Overseas Limited
(CRN: 8653353) . . {CRN: 7463876
Mace (Poland) Limited - ) . . Mace Living Limiled
{CRN: 8120932) . . (GRN: 5156448}
Mace: (Russia) Limiled . : . Mace Living Solutions Limited
(CRN: 8127292) . i . - {CHN: 12060238)
Mace (Slovakig) Limited . - : Mace Macro {Asia Pacific) anned
(CRN: §950843) . . (GRN: 7407865)
Mace Angala Speclal Projects Limited - : - Mace Macro (The Americas) L:mnled
{CRN: 10675311} {CRN: 8210338}
Mace Construct Speclalist Services Limiled . Maca Macro Africa Limited
{CRN: 5726148) Tl {CRN: 10448074)
Mace Conslruction (Internahonal) Limited . s ’ Mace Macro Europe Limited
{CRN: 11640220) . (CRN: 8897547) :
Mace Consultancy (Asia Pacmc) leiled . . Mace Macro Limited
{CRN: 11488706) - (CRN: 11639977}
- Mace Consultancy (Europe) Limited . . - Mace MEP Services Limlied
(CRN: 11804881) ° . . (CRN: 13545668)
Mace Consuitancy (MENA) Limited Mate Operate (MENA) Limited
(CRN: 11841059) : (CRN: 13708787} -
Mace Cansultancy (Nemerfands) Lrnﬂ«i . i Mace Plus Academies Limited
{CRN: 10827128) - : (CRN: 5897947)
Mace Consullancy IPeru) Limited L . Mace Plus Growp L:miled
. (CRN: 11938013) (CRN; 5340265)
* Mace Cansultancy {Sub-Saharan Alfrica) Limited . © Mace Plus Limited
{CRN: 13331920) i -, (CRN: 5282952) .
Mace C llancy (The Americas) Limiled - - Mace Projecis (Soulh Afnca) Limited
{CRN: 10674751) . : {CRN:.09623284) .
Mace Cost ConsuMtaney Limltad . Mace Sustain Limited :
(CRN; §032803) . - ' (GRN: 5979485)
. Mace Develop Limited . Mace Tech Limited
(CRN: 3471118) . - .(CRN: 11677474}
. - . Msecure Limited

{CRN: 5072221)

34. ‘Ultimate parent under!akmg and controumg parly
The Company is a-wholly owned subsidiary of the Mace Group and iis ultimale parent 1$ Mace Flnance Limited. Both companles are
incqrparated in England and Wales. The resulls of the Company are mcluded in the’ con‘salrdated accaunts of Mace Finance Limited,
copies of which are available !rom Companias House.
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